
 

TOWN OF PAONIA 

214 GRAND AVENUE 

REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING AGENDA 

TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 24, 2024 6:30 PM 

ZOOM LINK: HTTPS://US02WEB.ZOOM.US/J/84313235772  
 

 

 

Public Participation: Must raise hand and be recognized by the Mayor, come to the podium and state your 

name and the street on which you live. Time limit is 3 minutes, one time per item. Direct all comments to the 

Mayor. No responses will be made by staff or Board during the meeting. No derogatory or demeaning 

statements or public displays. Please be respectful. 

 

Roll Call 

 

Approval of Agenda 

 

Announcements 
Appreciations - Trustee Swartz 

 

Public Comment 
Any topic not included under Actions & Presentations; 3-minute time limit. 

 

Consent Agenda 
August 20, 2024 Special Meeting Minutes 

August 27, 2024 Regular Meeting Minutes 

September 10, 2024 Regular Meeting Minutes 

September 17, 2024 Special Meeting Minutes 

 

SEP 2024-13 The Learning Council 

SEP 2024-14 Paonia Players 

Disbursements 

Staff Reports 
 

Departmental Scorecard 

Actions & Presentations 
Public comments must be related to the agenda item, 3-minute time limit. 

 

Agenda Item #1 - Board Appointment to Vacant Trustee Seat 

 

Agenda Item #2: Consideration of Approval of Letter of Support for the Wilder Bunch - Ben Graves 

 

Agenda Item #3 - Presentation of the FY-2023 Audit by Hinkle PC - Jim Hinkle 

 

Agenda Item #4 Elsewhere Studios Donation Request through The Learning Council 

 

Agenda Item #5: Consideration of Approval of Water Tank Land Purchase 

 

1

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84313235772


 

Mayor & Trustee Reports 

 

Public Safety Committee Report- 

- Consideration of Approval of Directing Staff to Draft a New OHV Ordinance. 

Adjournment 
  

2



 

AS ADOPTED BY: 

TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO 

RESOLUTION NO. 2017-10 – Amended May 22, 2018 

 

I. RULES OF PROCEDURE 

 

Section 1.  Schedule of Meetings.  Regular Board of Trustees meetings shall be held on the second and fourth Tuesdays of each 

month, except on legal holidays, or as re-scheduled or amended and posted on the agenda prior to the scheduled meeting. 

 

Section 2.  Officiating Officer.  The meetings of the Board of Trustees shall be conducted by the Mayor or, in the Mayor’s 

absence, the Mayor Pro-Tem.  The Town Clerk or a designee of the Board shall record the minutes of the meetings. 

 

Section 3.  Time of Meetings.  Regular meetings of the Board of Trustees shall begin at 6:30 p.m. or as scheduled and posted on 

the agenda. Board Members shall be called to order by the Mayor.  The meetings shall open with the presiding officer leading 

the Board in the Pledge of Allegiance.  The Town Clerk shall then proceed to call the roll, note the absences and announce 

whether a quorum is present.  Regular Meetings are scheduled for three hours, and shall be adjourned at 9:30 p.m., unless a 

majority of the Board votes in the affirmative to extend the meeting, by a specific amount of time.  

 

Section 4. Schedule of Business.  If a quorum is present, the Board of Trustees shall proceed with the business before it, which 

shall be conducted in the following manner.  Note that all provided times are estimated:  

 

 (a) Roll Call - (5 minutes) 

 (b) Approval of Agenda - (5 minutes) 

 (c) Announcements (5 minutes) 

 (d) Recognition of Visitors and Guests (10 minutes) 

 (e) Consent Agenda including Approval of Prior Meeting Minutes (10 minutes) 

 (f) Mayor’s Report (10 minutes) 

 (g) Staff Reports: (15 minutes) 

  (1) Town Administrator’s Report 

  (2) Public Works Reports  

  (3) Police Report 

  (4) Treasurer Report 

      

 (h) Unfinished Business (45 minutes) 

 (i) New Business (45 minutes) 

 (j) Disbursements (15 minutes) 

 (k) Committee Reports (15 minutes) 

 (l) Adjournment 

 

  * This schedule of business is subject to change and amendment. 

  

Section 5. Priority and Order of Business. Questions relative to the priority of business and order shall be decided by the Mayor 

without debate, subject in all cases to an appeal to the Board of Trustees.  

 

Section 6.  Conduct of Board Members.   Town Board Members shall treat other Board Members and the public in a civil and 

polite manner and shall comply with the Standards of Conduct for Elected Officials of the Town.  Board Members shall address 

Town Staff and the Mayor by his/her title, other Board Members by the title of Trustee or the appropriate honorific (i.e.: Mr., 

Mrs. or Ms.), and members of the public by the appropriate honorific.  Subject to the Mayor’s discretion, Board Members shall 

be limited to speaking two times when debating an item on the agenda.  Making a motion, asking a question or making a 

suggestion are not counted as speaking in a debate.  

 

Section 7. Presentations to the Board.  Items on the agenda presented by individuals, businesses or other organizations shall be 

given up to 5 minutes to make a presentation.  On certain issues, presenters may be given more time, as determined by the 

Mayor and Town Staff.  After the presentation, Trustees shall be given the opportunity to ask questions. 

 

Section 8. Public Comment.  After discussion of an agenda item by the Board of Trustees has concluded, the Mayor shall open 

the floor for comment from members of the public, who shall be allowed the opportunity to comment or ask questions on the 

agenda item.  Each member of the public wishing to address the Town Board shall be recognized by the presiding officer before 

speaking.  Members of the public shall speak from the podium, stating their name, the address of their residence and any group 

they are representing prior to making comment or asking a question.  Comments shall be directed to the Mayor or presiding 

officer, not to an individual Trustee or Town employee.  Comments or questions should be confined to the agenda item or issue(s) 

under discussion.  The speaker should offer factual information and refrain from obscene language and personal attacks. 

 

3



 

Section 9.  Unacceptable Behavior. Disruptive behavior shall result in expulsion from the meeting.   

 

Section 10.  Posting of Rules of Procedure for Paonia Board of Trustees Meetings. These rules of procedure shall be provided in 

the Town Hall meeting room for each Board of Trustees meeting so that all attendees know how the meeting will be conducted. 

 

II. CONSENT AGENDA 

 

Section 1. Use of Consent Agenda. The Mayor, working with Town Staff, shall place items on the Consent Agenda. By using a 

Consent Agenda, the Board has consented to the consideration of certain items as a group under one motion. Should a Consent 

Agenda be used at a meeting, an appropriate amount of discussion time will be allowed to review any item upon request.  

Section 2. General Guidelines. Items for consent are those which usually do not require discussion or explanation prior to action 

by the Board, are non-controversial and/or similar in content, or are those items which have already been discussed or explained 

and do not require further discussion or explanation. Such agenda items may include ministerial tasks such as, but not limited 

to, approval of previous meeting minutes, approval of staff reports, addressing routine correspondence, approval of liquor 

licenses renewals and approval or extension of other Town licenses. Minor changes in the minutes such as non-material Scribner 

errors may be made without removing the minutes from the Consent Agenda.  Should any Trustee feel there is a material error 

in the minutes, they should request the minutes be removed from the Consent Agenda for Board discussion. 

Section 3. Removal of Item from Consent Agenda. One or more items may be removed from the Consent Agenda by a timely 

request of any Trustee. A request is timely if made prior to the vote on the Consent Agenda. The request does not require a 

second or a vote by the Board. An item removed from the Consent Agenda will then be discussed and acted on separately either 

immediately following the consideration of the Consent Agenda or placed later on the agenda, at the discretion of the Board.  

 

III.  EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

Section 1.  An executive session may only be called at a regular or special Board meeting where official action may be taken by 

the Board, not at a work session of the Board.  To convene an executive session, the Board shall announce to the public in the 

open meeting the topic to be discussed in the executive session, including specific citation to the statute authorizing the Board 

to meet in an executive session and identifying the particular matter to be discussed “in as much detail as possible without 

compromising the purpose for which the executive session is authorized.” In the event the Board plans to discuss more than 

one of the authorized topics in the executive session, each should be announced, cited and described. Following the 

announcement of the intent to convene an executive session, a motion must then be made and seconded.  In order to go into 

executive session, there must be the affirmative vote of two thirds (2/3) of Members of the Board. 

 

Section 2.  During executive session, minutes or notes of the deliberations should not be taken. Since meeting minutes are subject 

to inspection under the Colorado Open Records Act, the keeping of minutes would defeat the private nature of executive 

session. In addition, the deliberations carried out during executive session should not be discussed outside of that session or 

with individuals not participating in the session.  The contexts of an executive session are to remain confidential unless a 

majority of the Trustees vote to disclose the contents of the executive session. 

 

Section 3.  Once the deliberations have taken place in executive session, the Board should reconvene in regular session to take 

any formal action decided upon during the executive session.  If you have questions regarding the wording of the motion or 

whether any other information should be disclosed on the record, it is essential for you to consult with the Town Attorney on 

these matters. 

 

 

IV. SUBJECT TO AMENDMENT 

 

Section 1. Deviations.  The Board may deviate from the procedures set forth in this Resolution, if, in its sole discretion, such 

deviation is necessary under the circumstances. 

Section 2.  Amendment.   The Board may amend these Rules of Procedures Policy from time to time. 

4



 

  

AUGUST 20, 2024 SPECIAL TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 1 

 

Minutes 
Special Town Board Meeting 

Town of Paonia, Colorado 
August 20, 2024 

  
 
RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
 
Mayor Smith calls the meeting to order at 6:30PM 

Roll Call 
PRESENT 

Mayor Paige Smith 

Mayor Pro-Tem John Valentine 

Trustee Rick Stelter 

Trustee Lucy Hunter 

Trustee Kathy Swartz (Arrives after Roll Call) 

 

ABSENT 

Trustee Walter Czech 

 

Approval of Agenda 
 

Trustee Hunter makes a motion, seconded by Trustee Stelter, to accept the agenda. 

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

 

Actions & Presentations 
 

Executive Session for a conference with the Water Attorney, Sherry Coloia for the purpose of 

receiving legal advice on specific legal questions under C.R.S. Section 24-6-402(4)(b) regarding 

the Town's Code Revision and water regulations. 

 

Mayor Pro-Tem Valentine makes a motion. seconded by Trustee Stelter, to enter into Executive 

Session for a conference with the Water Attorney, Sherry Coloia, for the purposes of receiving 

legal advice on specific legal questions under C.R.S. Section 24-6-402(4)b) regarding the Town's 

Code Revision and water regulations. 

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

 

Executive Session starts at 6:01 pm 

 

Executive Session ends at 7:11pm 

5



 

  

AUGUST 20, 2024 SPECIAL TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 2 

 

Participants in the Executive Session include Mayor Smith, Mayor Pro-Tem Valentine, Trustee 

Stelter, Trustee Swartz, Trustee Hunter, Administrator Wynn, Leslie Klusmire and Sherry 

Coloia. 

 

No concerns were noted. 

 

Discussion and Guidance for the Code Rewrite with Leslie Klusmire, Sustainable Solutions 

 

Discussion includes council/manager form of government, liability, statutory job descriptions vs 

today, franchise removal from Code, resolution vs ordinance, definitions, Supreme Court defines 

variance, waiver, moratorium, ZBoA and Planning Commission rolled into one, sequencing, 

Tree Board reports to the Board, Ethics for Board in the Code, cleaning up funds in the Code, 

sanitation enterprise fund, enterprise- doesn't need voter approval to get loans, nuisances, natural 

yards rules, owner of record, water and sewer utilities rewritten, tap enforcement, out of town 

user code, annexation with water rights, Chapter 16: Land Use Regulation, Formula business 

regulations - not allowed, need design standards instead, Dark Skies regulations, Process for 

adoption, best practices for update/ maintenance. 

 

 

Update on Comprehensive (Master) Plan and Timeline 

 

Adjournment 
 

The meeting adjourns at 8:16PM. 

 
 
_______________________________                              ______________________________ 
Samira M Vetter, Town Clerk                         Paige Smith, Mayor  

6



 

  

AUGUST 27, 2024 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 1 

 

Minutes 
Regular Town Board Meeting 

Town of Paonia, Colorado 
August 27, 2024 

  
 
RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
 
Public Participation: Must raise hand and be recognized by the Mayor, come to the podium and 

state your name and the street on which you live. Time limit is 3 minutes, one time per item. 

Direct all comments to the Mayor. No responses will be made by staff or Board during the 

meeting. No derogatory or demeaning statements or public displays. Please be respectful. 

 

Mayor Smith calls the meeting to order at 6:30 PM. 

 

Roll Call 
 

PRESENT 

Mayor Paige Smith 

Mayor Pro-Tem Valentine 

Trustee Rick Stelter 

Trustee Kathy Swartz 

Trustee Walter Czech (Zoom) 

Trustee Lucy Hunter 

 

Approval of Agenda 
 

Trustee Hunter makes a motion, seconded by Trustee Stelter, to approve the agenda with the 

minutes removed from the Consent Agenda. 

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

 

Announcements 
 

Appreciations - Trustee Swartz 

 

Public Comment 
Any topic not included under Actions & Presentations; 3-minute time limit. 

 

Consent Agenda 
 

Trustee Stelter makes a motion, seconded by Trustee Hunter, to approve the Consent Agenda. 

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

 

7



 

  

AUGUST 27, 2024 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 2 

 

Staff Reports 
 

Departmental Scorecard 

 

Actions & Presentations 
Public comments must be related to the agenda item, 3-minute time limit. 

 

Agenda Item #1 Services Update Presentation - Jenni Neil, Manager of HopeWest for Delta 

County 

 

Agenda Item #2 Consideration of Western Slope Conservation Center's Letter of Support for the 

Gunnison Outdoor Resources Protection Act 

 

Trustee Hunter makes a motion, seconded by Trustee Stelter, to approve Western Slope 

Conservation Center's letter of support for the Gunnison Outdoor Resources Protection Act. 

 

Voting Aye: Mayor Pro-Tem Valentine, Trustee Stelter, Trustee Czech, Trustee Hunter 

 

Recused: Trustee Swartz 

 

Agenda Item #3 Consideration of Letter of Support and Partial Funding for the Western Slope 

Conservation Center for the Wildfire Ready Watersheds 

 

Trustee Hunter makes a motion, seconded by Trustee Stelter to approve a Letter of Support for 

the Wildfire Ready Action Plan and commit the Town to participating with any requirements of 

the grant through the Colorado Water Conservation Board and funding up to $5000. 

 

Voting Aye: Mayor Pro-Tem Valentine, Trustee Stelter, Trustee Czech, Trustee Hunter 

 

Recused: Trustee Swartz 

 

Agenda Item #4 Consideration of the Town Administrator's Resignation Letter 

 

Trustee Stelter makes a motion, seconded by Trustee Hunter, to reject Town Administrator 

Wynn's letter of resignation. 

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

 

Agenda Item #5 Resolution 2024-12 Declaring a Vacancy on the Board of Trustees 

 

Public Comment- 
 

B. Brunner: comments against 

 

M. Bachran: comments in favor 

8



 

  

AUGUST 27, 2024 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 3 

 

S. Watson: comments about which process used 

 

L. Howe: comments in favor 

 

Trustee Stelter makes a motion, seconded by Trustee Hunter to approve Resolution 2024-12 

declaring a vacancy on the Board of Trustees. 

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

 

Agenda Item #6 Mayoral Appointment of a Trustee to the Planning Commission 

 

Trustee Hunter is appointed to the Planning Commission in the interim. 

 

Agenda Item #7 Public Hearing on Special Use Review for The Learning Council's 'The Hearth' 

to be used as a Commercial Recreational Space.  

 

Trustee Hunter recuses herself since the applicants are clients and leaves the room. 

 

Public Hearing opens at 7:14PM 

 

Clerk Vetter verifies that proper notice has been given. 

 

Public Comment: 

 

No public comment is given 

 

Public Hearing closes at 7:21PM 

 

Trustee Swartz makes a motion, seconded by Trustee Stelter to approve SRV 2024-03 since they 

received a favorable recommendation from the Planning Commission and special use does not 

adversely affect the life, health, safety and welfare of the existing core commercial area, that the 

special use substantially conforms to the Comprehensive Plan and that the proposed use meets 

the review criteria and performance standards as required, with the4 following condition: that the 

Learning Council enters into an agreement with the Town or other potential private parking lots 

for any required off-street parking.  

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

 

Agenda Item #8 PH- Hunter- 325 Grand Ave 

 

Trustee Hunter recuses herself from this hearing. 

 

Trustee Swartz is conflicted about recusing due to living 3 houses away but after receiving 

advice from the Town Attorney, she invokes the exemption in order to maintain a quorum. 

 

Public Hearing opens 7:28PM 

9



 

  

AUGUST 27, 2024 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 4 

 

Clerk Vetter verifies that proper notification was made. 

 

Public Comment 
 

Charles Stuart - comments in favor 

 

David Marek- comments in favor 

 

Marsha Brezonick- comments in favor 

 

Public Hearing closes at 8:16PM 

 

Trustee Swartz makes a motion, seconded by Trustee Czech, to approve SRV 2024-04 because it 

does not adversely affect the public health, safety and welfare of the existing Core Commercial 

area, that the Special Use substantially conforms to the Comprehensive (Master) Plan, and that 

the proposed use meets the review criteria and performance standards as required. 

 

Voting Yea: Trustee Swartz, Trustee Czech 

 

Voting Nay: Mayor Smith, Mayor Pro-Tem Valentine, Trustee Stelter 

 

Recused: Trustee Hunter 

 

Trustee Stelter makes a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro-Tem Valentine, to deny SRV 2024-04 

because the Special Use doesn’t meet the criteria and performance standards required for 

considering a Special Use Review. 

 

Aye: Mayor Pro-Tem Valentine, Trustee Stelter, Trustee Czech 

 

Nay: Trustee Swartz 

 

The motion carries. 

 

Trustee Stelter makes a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro-Tem Valentine, to take a five-minute 

recess. 

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

 

Agenda Item #9 SEP 2024-13- The Learning Council- 2nd Annual Picklefest at Apple Valley 

Park 

 

Trustee Stelter makes a motion, seconded by Trustee Hunter, to approve SEP 2024-13 except for 

the Special Event Liquor License. 

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

 

10



 

  

AUGUST 27, 2024 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 5 

 

Agenda Item #10 SEP 2024-12 Colorado Grand 

 

Trustee Stelter recuses himself from voting on this agenda item. 

 

Trustee Hunter makes a motions, seconded by Mayor Pro-Tem Valentine, to approve SEP 2024-

12. 

 

Voting Aye: Mayor Pro-Tem Valentine, Trustee Czech, Trustee Swartz and Trustee Hunter. 

 

The motion carries. 

 

Agenda Item #11 Consideration of CIP Phase I - Waterline Design Amendment Change Order 

#1 

 

Trustee Stelter makes a motion, seconded by Trustee Hunter to approve Water Capital 

Improvement Plan Phase One Waterline Design Amendment Change Order #1 

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

 

Agenda Item #12 Consideration of Change Order #3 for the 5th & Grand Realignment (Safe 

Pathways for Paonia) Project 

 

Trustee Hunter makes a motion, Seconded by Trustee Stelter, to approve Change Order #3 for 

the 5th and Grand Realignment Project Design for $14,000 for a total not to exceed contract 

price of $197,734. 

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

 

Agenda Item #13 Consideration of Geotechnical Engineering for NFVA  

 

Trustee Swartz makes a motion, seconded by Trustee Hunter, to approve directing the Town 

Administrator to engage with the County's consultant to begin Geotechnical Engineering for the 

airport apron rehabilitation project for an amount not to exceed $34,500 and dependent upon the 

County approving $11,500. 

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

 

Agenda Item #14 Discuss a grants administrator position 

 

Trustee Swartz makes a motion, seconded by Trustee Hunter to approve a grants administrator 

position, not to exceed $10,000 at $50 per hour for grant writing and administration. 

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

 

Agenda Item #15 Consideration of Approval of the Intergovernmental Agreement with Delta 

County for the November Election 

11



 

  

AUGUST 27, 2024 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 6 

 

Trustee Stelter makes a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro-Tem Valentine, to approve the 

Intergovernmental Agreement with Delta County for the November Election. 

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

 

Agenda Item #16 Consideration of Task Order for Wastewater (Sewer) Collections System 

Project Needs Assessment with RESPEC 

 

Trustee Stelter makes a motion, seconded by Trustee Swartz, to approve a new task order with 

RESPEC to produce a Project Needs Assessment Report for the Sewer System in an amount not 

to exceed $40,000. 

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

 

Agenda Item #17 Consideration of Purchasing a Graco LineLazer V3900 HP Paint Striper 

 

Trustee Swartz makes a motion, seconded by Trustee Hunter, to approve the purchase of a Graco 

LineLazer V3900 HP Paint Striper with a not to exceed price of $14,000. 

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

 

Mayor Pro-Tem Valentine makes a motion, seconded by Trustee Stelter, to extend the meeting 

by 20 minutes to 9:50PM. 

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

 

Agenda Item #18 Consideration of Purchasing a UTV/Side by Side 

 

Trustee Stelter makes a motion, seconded by Trustee Hunter to approve the purchase two 

UTV/Side by Sides, not to exceed the budgeted $40,000. 

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

 

Agenda Item #19 Consideration of Requesting and Extension from DOLA for EIAF A0232 

Grant for Comprehensive (Master) Plan Update 

 

Trustee Swartz makes a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro-Tem Valentine to direct staff to request 

an extension from DOLA for EIAF A0232 Grant for the Comprehensive (Master) Plan Update, 

with a Plan adoption date of February 28, 2025. 

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

 

Mayor & Trustee Reports 

 

 

12



 

  

AUGUST 27, 2024 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 7 

 

Adjournment 
 

The meeting adjourns at 9:34 PM. 

 
 
_______________________________                              ______________________________ 
Samira M Vetter, Town Clerk                         Paige Smith, Mayor  

13



 

  

SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 1 

 

Minutes 
Regular Town Board Meeting 

Town of Paonia, Colorado 
September 10, 2024 

  
 
RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
 
Public Participation: Must raise hand and be recognized by the Mayor, come to the podium and 

state your name and the street on which you live. Time limit is 3 minutes, one time per item. 

Direct all comments to the Mayor. No responses will be made by staff or Board during the 

meeting. No derogatory or demeaning statements or public displays. Please be respectful. 

 

Mayor Smith calls the meeting to order at 6:30PM. 

 

Roll Call 
PRESENT 

Mayor Paige Smith 

Mayor Pro-Tem John Valentine (Zoom) 

Trustee Rick Stelter 

Trustee Kathy Swartz 

Trustee Walter Czech 

Trustee Lucy Hunter 

 

Approval of Agenda 
 

Trustee Hunter makes a motion, seconded by Trustee Swartz to remove the minutes from the 

consent agenda. 

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

 

Trustee Hunter makes a motion, seconded by Trustee Stelter, to approve the agenda. 

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

 

Announcements 
Trustee Swartz reads appreciations that she received from Arbol Market. 

 

Public Comment 
Any topic not included under Actions & Presentations; 3-minute time limit. 

 

J. Holvoet: Comments on water taps 

 

J. Schwartz: Comments parking lease. 

 

M. Neiremberger: comments on Constitution. 

14



 

  

SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 2 

 

S. Stahley: comments on speed limits. 

 

 

Consent Agenda 
Trustee Stelter makes a motion, seconded by Trustee Hunter, to approve the Consent Agenda. 

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

 

Staff Reports 
 

Chief Laiminger provides highlights for the police dept. 

 

Town Administrator Wynn goes over the Audit Transmittal Letter and MD&A with the Board of 

Trustees. 

Actions & Presentations 
Public comments must be related to the agenda item, 3-minute time limit. 

 

Agenda Item #1: Consideration of the Board of Trustee's Directing the Public Safety Committee 

to Investigate ORVs within Town of Paonia 

 

Public Comment: 
 

M. Durlin: Comments against. 

 

M. Neirumberger: comments for. 

 

Trustee Stelter makes a motion, seconded by Trustee Swartz to direct the Public Safety 

Committee to investigate the use of ORV's within the Town of Paonia town limits. 

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

 

Agenda Item #2: Consideration of Pro/Con Statements for Ballot Issue - Sidewalk Fees 

 

Public Comment 
 

S. Watson: comments on the sidewalk fee. 

 

Trustee Hunter makes a motion, seconded by Trustee Stelter to direct staff to make Pro/Con 

statements and schedule a special meeting for September 17 at 6:30PM. 

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

 

15



 

  

SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 REGULAR TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 3 

 

Agenda Item #3: Consideration of Directing the Town Attorney Drafting Resolution or 

Ordinance for Trustee Email Addresses and Use of Town Owned Devices for Trustees 

and/or Citizen Commissioner/ZBoA members 

 

Trustee Swartz makes a motion, seconded by Trustee Stelter to direct the Town Attorney 

and the Town Administrator to create a Resolution requiring all Trustees and citizen 

committee members to use Town-issued email addresses.  

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

 

Trustee Hunter makes a motion, seconded by Trustee Stelter to instruct Town Staff and 

Town attorney to include a policy stating that the Town does not provide electronic 

devices for Trustees, Planning Commission, Zoning Board of Adjustment or Tree Board 

members. 

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

 

Agenda Item #4: Banner Fee (and Ordinance?) and $500 deposit for street closures added 

to Fee Resolution 21-2023 

 

Trustee Hunter makes a motion, seconded by Trustee Swartz to direct staff to draft an 

ordinance regarding banner permits. 

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

 

Trustee Hunter makes a motion, seconded by Trustee Stelter to revise the fee schedule 

Resolution to include street closure deposit. 

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

 

Mayor & Trustee Reports 

 

Adjournment 
 

The meeting adjourns at 8:25 PM. 

 
 
_______________________________                              ______________________________ 
Samira M Vetter, Town Clerk                         Paige Smith, Mayor  

16



 

  

SEPTEMBER 17, 2024 SPECIAL TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 1 

 

Minutes 
Special Town Board Meeting 

Town of Paonia, Colorado 
September 17, 2024 

  
 
RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
 
Mayor Smith calls the meeting to order at 6:30 pm 
 

Roll Call 
PRESENT 

Mayor Paige Smith 

Mayor Pro-Tem John Valentine 

Trustee Rick Stelter 

Trustee Kathy Swartz 

Trustee Walter Czech 

Trustee Lucy Hunter 

 

Approval of Agenda 
Trustee Hunter makes a motion, seconded by Trustee Stelter, to approve the agenda. 

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

Actions & Presentations 
 

Agenda Item #1 Resolution 2024-13 Endorsing WaterSMART Planning and Project Design 

Grant 

 

Town Administrator Wynn gives background on the need for the resolution. 

 

Trustee Swartz makes a motion, seconded by Trustee Hunter, to approve Resolution 2024-13 

Endorsing WaterSMART Planning and Project Design Grant. 

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

 

Agenda Item #2 Ordinance 2024-03 Establishing a Finance Purchasing & Procurement Policy 

 

Town Administrator Stefen Wynn provides background on the Ordinance. 

 

Trustee Hunter makes a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro-Tem Valentine, to adopt Ordinance 

2024-03 Establishing a Finance Purchasing & Procurement Policy. 

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

17



 

  

SEPTEMBER 17, 2024 SPECIAL TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 2 

 

Agenda Item #3 Resolution 2024-14 Adopting a Purchasing and Procurement Policy Manual 

 

Trustee Czech makes a motion, seconded by Trustee Stelter, to approve Resolution 2024-14 

Adopting a Purchasing and Procurement Policy Manual.  

 

The motion carries unanimously. 

 

Adjournment 
 

The meeting adjourns at 6:46 PM 

 
 
_______________________________                              ______________________________ 
Samira M Vetter, Town Clerk                         Paige Smith, Mayor  

18



TOWN OF PAONIA 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES MEETING 
STAFF REPORT 

AGENDA ITEM: 

SUBMITTED BY: 

DATE: 

BACKGROUND: 

BUDGET: 

RECOMMENDATION: 

ATTACHMENT: 

Special Event Permit for The Learning Council and 2nd Annual Picklefest.

Samira Vetter, Town Clerk

September 24, 2024

The Special Event Liquor License has now been noticed. All fees and 
legal requirements have been met.

To approve SEP 2024-13 Special Event Liquor License

Special Event Liquor License for Picklefest.

Liquor Fees $50.00 

19



Town of Paonia 
Park/Event Registration Application 

This.form is intended.for events over JOO people using public property. The Town of 
Paonia encourages the use of its parks for the pleasure of its citi::,ens, and reminds 

applicants to consider impacts on neighbors living adjacent to these public areas so 
we may all continue to enjoy our parks! 

Please contact the Town office should there be any questions in filling out this form. 
The Town office is open.from 8:00a to 4:30p Monday through Friday. 

Thank you~ 

Organization: � I. -'1.C• , Y\ I� CoM r,·/
Mailing Address: 10. Y:iox__ t.1-liit 1?0001q,,, (o �lv/Z<:i

Telephone Number: (33:o) 1--til.-"3 l 6 L/

Event Manager (if different than Applicant): _____________ _ 

Event Manager Telephone: ___________________ _ 

Event Manager E-Mail: {!_u f/,,,e2<:eQfl tta a•,/ (a{,!¾

Please describe the event: 
--------------------

r 

1)idvrf .�1Lue i's c,_p11i£JrJ1.la1L1t1a� fool u ttv&tS, c brUf sZMJ/4, l-
a !JL-JJ CUlbks-f , EventfDate(s): ___________ Event Hours: ________ _ 

Event Date(s): Oc\ \j� Z.07)-\ Event Hours: +a.\M -- -=,....�\oo

Event Date(s): ___________ Event Hours: ________ _ 

Event Date(s): ___________ Event Hours: ________ _ 

Event_Application 

20



Which park do you want to use?

[ ] Town Park - 700 Fourth Street
[ ] Green space including shelters and gazebo 
[ ] Football Field area

|X] Apple Valley Park - 45 Pan American Avenue
Poulos Park - 221 Grand Avenue (no commercial activity allowed)

Will there be alcohol?

[ ] No
Yes. but we are not selling it.

An On-Premise Liquor Application is required.
[/] Yes, and we would like to sell it.

[X We are a non-profit and submitted From DR-8439 Application for a 
Special Event Permit and any associated forms required. 

[ ] On an attached piece of paper is the Alcohol Mitigation Plan.

Will there be vendors?

[ ]
M

No
Yes
[ ]

M

A list of vendors is being provided to the Town for tax compliance. 
We have contacted the Department of Revenue to work out how taxes 
will be submitted for the event; either electronically or manually. 
Vendors will be notified that tax compliance will be monitored. 
Chalk or tape are permitted to define vendor boundaries on the grass.

Are you having a parade? Do you need a street closed?

X No

[ ] Yes. Attached is the street closure request form noting the day, hours and 
route information.

Do you have any special requests? (ie - gate openings at certain times?)

X No

[ ] Yes

Event Application

21



Pricing:

[ 1 Half Day (6 Hours or less) $ 100.00/day
Includes: 3 dumpsters and up to 5 vendors 
Date Submitted Amount

w Full Day (6+ Hours until 10:00p) $ 175.00/day
Includes: 3 dumpsters and up to 10 vendors
Date Submitted Amount ns .oo

[ ] Multi-Day Rate (3+ consecutive days) $ 150.00/day
Includes: 3 dumpsters and up to 10 vendors 
Date Submitted Amount

[ ] Additional Vendors (More than 10) $ 5.00/ea
Date Submitted Amount

Trash: The Town will provide 3 dumpsters. If the event requires more, 
it is the responsibility of the applicant to contract with a local agency for 
additional services. Compostable ware is strongly encouraged from all
vendors and event managers. Styrofoam not permitted.
Date Submitted Amount

[ ] Any additional fees submitted (street closure, liquor licensing, etc)’.
Type: $

$
$
$

Date Submitted Amount

Recycling: Should the event provide recycling, 
a $50 credit shall be applied.

$ G'O

TOTAL FEES SUBMITTED $

AU fees must be submitted no less than thirty (30) days before the
first date of the event.

Event_Application

22



Other items submitted for consideration: (On an attached piece(s) of paper)

M
H

H-

Communication Contacts
Liability Insurance
($1,000,000 minimum AND the Town of Paonia needs to be listed as an additional insured)
Medical Plan (ie - How do you plan on addressing a person who is injured at the event?) 
Parking Plan (ie-Staff versus Visitor parking)
Safety Plan (ie - How would you deal with a natural emergency or a tree limb falling?) 
Security Plan (ie - Vendor security, controlling alcohol, etc)

Promotion:

The Town is willing to promote your event by posting submitted material on the Town 
website, the Town of Paonia Facebook page, via e-mail to people who are on the 
Town’s subscribed list, and/or a poster placed in the Town Hall entryway.

Any material to be promoted must be submitted no less than thirty (30) days before 
the first day of the event. Material shall only be promoted once for each avenue noted 
above.

The undersigned agrees to restore the park to pre-event condition, 
safety standards will be observed at all times, no glass will be brought 
into the park and all fees submitted are non-refundable, even if the 

event is canceled.

Signaturez^x>?-;;?'',

Signed and submitted this ■2&A... _day of 

Printed Name: (I Cl cLt/l

No less than one week before the event, a meeting must be scheduled with the 
Public Works Director, Parks Maintenance, Town Clerk and the Police Chief, 
or designees to finalize all plans and coordinate last minute items. 
Date of Pre-Event Meeting: 

Application is deemed complete and is accepted. Employee Initials

Application requires Board of Trustee Approval.
Hearing Date:

C omments:

EventApplication

23



The Learning Council
education, creativity, & life skills

PO Box 1744 Paonia, CO 81428 970-433-5852

Parking Plan for Pickle Fest 2024

Participants can park in the park’s lot, along the street on Pan American and in the parking 
lot of the US Forest Service, which will be empty on the weekend. We have permission from 
USFS.

At the entrance to the parking lot will be a volunteer who can direct overflow parking. We 
also share parking areas with registrants to the athletic event and via social media 
beforehand.

We are encouraging walking, bicycling and carpooling for locals through social media and a 
prize drawing for those who leave their automobile at home.

24



Ahe jfoiming. C^ncil
education, creativity & life skills

www.TheLeamingCouncil.org
970.433.5852 PO Box 1744 Paonia, CO 81428

Security Plan For Pickle Fest 2024

Vendors will be responsible for the security of their booths. North Fork Recreation will be 
responsible for its booth and sign in area for the athletic event.

There will be a volunteer team for the setup and breakdown of the event. Members of this team 
will be present throughout the day to provide links to public security, monitor safe behavior, 
direct parking, enforce regulations and oversee the event. Team lead for event management for 
Pickle Fest is Calla Rose Ostrander

Food and vendor booths will be set up between 8-1 Oam the day of and taken down by 8:30pm

25

http://www.TheLeamingCouncil.org


cJhe j&rning. Council
education, creativity & life skills

www.TheLeamingCouncil.org
970.433.5852 PO Box 1744 Paonia, CO 81428

The 2024 Pickle Fest will be held Oct 19th 2024

The Health Contact for this event is Alicia Michelsen. She can be reached by phone or text at 
970-433-5852 or by email at Alicia@thelearningcouncil.org. The North Fork Recreation District 
will provide medical attention to the athletic area.

Alicia is certified in CPR and Emergency First Aid. She will be the first point of contact if a 
medical emergency occurs. We will also utilize local resources such as the North Fork 
Ambulance and Paonia Police if necessary. We will have a comprehensive first aid kit at the 
event.

If a person is injured at this event and it is safe to move them, we will move the person to a 
centrally located place away from the activity, where medical professionals can assist the 
person until an ambulance arrives.

We will have communication with the Health and Safety team through cell phones. If necessary, 
we will utilize West Elk Clinic for minor medical problems and triage.

We are planning for the safety of our participants and strongly feel that an ounce of prevention is 
worth a pound of cure, so we will be doing our best to provide a safe environment at Apple 
Valley Park. We will be sure to include clear pathways to move people through and access for 
emergency vehicles. We plan to space vendors 12 feet apart from each other to ensure clear 
pathways.

We will host a meeting for our volunteer safety team prior to Pickle Fest and the safety team will 
remain in contact and accessible throughout the event.

26

http://www.TheLeamingCouncil.org
mailto:Alicia%40thelearningcouncil.org


DR 8439 (09/19/19) . .... , rs ■ ■ r- x
COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE AppIlCatlOn TOT 3 SpOCIdl EVefltS
Liquor Enforcement Division .
(303)205-2300 Permit
In order to qualify for a Special Events Permit, You Must Be a Qualifying Organization Per 44-5-102 C.R.S. 
and One of the Following (See back for details.)

□ Social □ Athletic [Xj Philanthropic Institution

O Fraternal O Chartered Branch, Lodge or Chapter D Political Candidate

O Patriotic □ National Organization or Society □ Municipality Owned Arts Facilities

D Political □ Religious Institution

Departmental Use Only

-O
.. JUL

LIAB Type of Special Event Applicant is Applying for:

2110 [X' Malt, Vinous And Spirituous Liquor $25.00 Per Day

2170 | | Fermented Malt Beverage $10.00 Per Day

DO NOT WRITE IN THIS SPACE
Liquor Permit Number

1. Name of Applicant Organization or Political Candidate 
oat

State Sales Tax Number (Required) 
^035^)5) -OcoO

2. M'ailing Address of OrganiaStibn'or Political Candidate 
(include street, city/town anoJIP)

Th C Coc 1

P etc w 4 . C O

3. Address of Place to Have Special Event 
(include street, city/town and ZIP)

^CLOtAACL ) CO 3

4. Authorized Representative of Qualifying Organization or Political Candidate
Mi Ca a LAl 

Date of Birth Phone Number

Auth’oriZe’d Representative's Mailing Address (if different than address provided in Question 2.) ' ' '

5. Event Manager . .
. idtn c-U— V\r ,C<?o/lwa-1 OsVvctirvatM

Date of Birth
4121/73

Phone Number

Event Manager Home Address (Street, City, StaTe, ZIP) Email Address of Event Manager

6. Has Applicant Organization or Political Candidate been
Issued a Special Event Permit this Calendar Year?

1 No K Yes How many days’  ZjD (jtu hfruerj

7. Is the premises for which your event is to be held'eiirrently licensed under the 
Colorado Liquor or Beer codes?

No | Yes License Number

8. Does the Applicant Have Possession or Written Permission for the Use of The Premises to be Licensed? O Yes 1 No

List Below the Exact Date(s) for Which Application is Being Made for Permit
Date Oc+ »i 62^
Hours FromT's*5^- fi-m. 

To 7" f m.

Date

Hours From ,m.

To m.

Date

Hours From m.

To m.

Date

Hours From m.

To m.

Date

Hours From m.

To m.
Date

Hours-^From m.

To m.

Date

Hours From ,m.

To m.

Date

Hours From ,m.

To .m.

Date

Hours From .m.

To m.

Date

Hours From m.

To m.
Date

Hours From m.

To m.

Date

Hours From ,m.

To ,m.

Date

Hours From ,m.

To m.

Date

Hours From m.

To m.

Date

Hours From m.

To m

Oath of Applicant
1 declare under penalty of perjury in the second degree that 1 have read the foregoing application and all attachments thereto, and 
that all information therein is true, correct, and complete to the best of my knowledge.

Signature (

> Ku -------
Title _ _

Cc.O
Date

'/A fey
Report and Approval of Local Licensing Authority (City or County)

The foregoing application has been examined and the premises, business conducted and character of the applicant is satisfactory, 
and we do report that such permit, if granted, will comply with the provisions of Title 44, Article 5, C.R.S., as amended.

THEREFORE, THIS APPLICATION IS APPROVED.
Local Licensing Authority (City or County) [~|

□ County

Telephone Number of City/County Clerk

Signature Title Date

DO NOT WRITE IN THIS SPACE - FOR DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE USE ONLY
Liability Information

License Account Number Liability Date State Total

$-750 (999)
(Instructions on Reverse Side)

27



DR 8439 (09/19/19)

Application Information and Checklist

The following supporting documents must be attached to this application for a permit to be issued:

Appropriate fee.
IS. Diagram of the area to be licensed (not larger that 8 1/2" X 11" reflecting bars, walls, partitions, ingress, egress 

and dimensions. Note: If the event is to be held outside, please submit evidence of intended control, i.e., 
fencing, ropes, barriers, etc.

'X, Copy of deed, lease, or written permission of owner for use of the premises.
□ Certificate of good corporate standing (NONPROFIT) issued by Secretary of State within last two years; or 
D If not incorporated, a NONPROFIT charter; or

LU If a political Candidate, attach copies of reports and statements that were filed with the Secretary of State.

—I Application must first be submitted to the Local Licensing Authority (city or county) at least thirty (30) days prior 
to the event.

□ Public notice of the proposed event and procedure for protesting issuance of the permit shall be conspicuously 
posted at the proposed location for at least (10) days before approval of the permit by Local Licensing Authority. 
(44-5-106 C.R.S.)

□ State Licensing Authority must be notified of approved applications by Local Licensing Authorities within ten 
(10) days of approval.

D Check payable to the Colorado Department Of Revenue

Qualifications for Special Events Permit

(44-5-102 C.R.S.)
A Special Event Permit issued under this article may be issued to an organization, whether or not presently licensed 
under Articles 4 and 3 of this title, which has been incorporated under the laws of this state for the purpose of a so
cial, fraternal, patriotic, political or athletic nature, and not for pecuniary gain or which is a regularly chartered branch, 
lodge or chapter of a national organization or society organized for such purposes and being non profit in nature, or 
which is a regularly established religious or philanthropic institution, and to any political candidate who has filed the 
necessary reports and statements with the Secretary of State pursuant to Article 45 of Title 1, C.R.S. A Special Event 
permit may be issued to any municipality owning arts facilities at which productions or performances of an artistic or 
cultural nature are presented for use at such facilities.

28



7/9/24,2:10 PM Google Maps

Imagery ©2024 Maxar Technologies, Map data ©2024 Google 50 ft

https://www.googlc.eom/maps/@38.8707745,-107.5861644,151 m/data=!3m I! I e3?entry=ttu 1/1

29

https://www.googlc.eom/maps/%4038.8707745%2C-107.5861644%2C151


7/9/24,2:10 PM

https://www.google.eom/maps/@38.8707745,-107.5861644.151 m/data=!3m I! 1 e3?entry=ttu

Google Maps

Imagery ©2024 Maxar Technologies, Map data ©2024 Google 50 ft

1/1

30

https://www.google.eom/maps/%4038.8707745%2C-107.5861644.151


31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



TOWN OF PAONIA
DEPARTMENTAL SCORE CARD

ISSUE STATUS ESTIMATED COST INITIAL PROJECT DATE CURRENT STATUS DATE DATE COMPLETED

CDOT Revitalizing Main Streets Grant, "Safe Pathways for 
Paonia," 3-Points InX Grand, 4th & 5th

SGM CO #1 Forthcoming adding scope of work for GeoTech Eng. 
Svcs., and MOT plan to design set & Striping Plan, and Adding 
Add'l. meetings to Project Admin. as req. by CDOT. (Odisea didn't 
inlcude in original design). CO #1 approved at the 8.22.23 Board 
Meeting, CO #1 was executed and submitted to SGM on 8.28.23. 
CDOT approved RMS Grant, R/W acquired from School Board and 
design is being finalized for construction. CDOT & SGM informed 
the Town that construction is likely in Spring 2025 and the 
estimated probable cost of construction is $2.5MM. Meeting held 
with affected property owners in July 2024. FOR Meeting with 
CDOT held on 8/7/2024, cost now $2.9MM

7.14.23 8.23.2024

Policy Reviews: Purchasing, Internal Controls, and Personnel, 
Credit Card Policy

These processes and policies will be a product to be worked on 
during 2024. Purchasing, Internal Controls estimated completion 
5/30/2024; Personnel estimated completion 12/30/2024. Credit 
Card policy is ready for 7.23.2024 agenda. Purchasing Policy with 
Internal Controls complete in Purchasing Manual ready for Board 
Consideration on 9/10/2024. Personnel Policy review to take 
place in December. Purchasing, credit card and related financial 
policies have been adopted and completed. Next month personnel 
policy updates will have its own line item

7.17.23 8.23.2024 9.17.2024

Ordinance for Consecutive Systems (Water 
Companies)/Agreements with Water Companies

At a minimum an agreement with water companies that describes 
expectations from the town, expecations from the water 
companies/subdivisions, indemnifcation, and insurance 
requirements should be considered to reduce liability to the 
town. Further discussion with the Water Attorney is necessary. 
Standardized IGA with Water Companies with clauses for 
mainetnance and increasing bulk water rates for non-
compliance/if Water Company chooses to have the town 
complete maintenance. Town Attorney working on Draft 
Agreement for Hidden Valley water company. Multiple Water 
Companies have requested formalized agreements with the 
Town. Hidden Valley has replied that they do not want to enter 
into a new agreement with the Town but would rather add a 
supplement to the agreement with the Town taking on additional 
responsibilities for meter reading and billing without fixing or 
repairing their system. Being Considered with Code Revision 
from Sustainable Futures. Collaborative Approach to Consecutive 
Systems TBD September - December

7.11.23 8.23.2024

Code Re-Write

If funded by DOLA grant, then an RFP will need to be issued to 
meet the competitive bid requirement. Scheduled a phone call 
with a separate consulting firm to get a budget figure on price for 
DOLA grant for 8.28.23, once budget price received, will submit to 
DOLA for their consideration. Received Council Approval for 
$25,000 Match from DOLA Admin Grant on 9.14.23. Submission of 
Grant on 9.15.23. Resubmitted Grant information to DOLA on 
11.22.23. RFQ will be live in 2024 after grant funding is awarded 
and approved. RFP will be made live on 2.5.24 RFP Consultant 
selection/decision being made on 4.23.2024. Work has begun on 
code rewrite, sustainable futures selected as consultant. Special 
Meeting held on 8/20/2024 for feedback from Trustees on Code 
Rewrite. Need to ask for extension on the project from DOLA.

7.11.23 8.23.2024

TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S OFFICE

Page 1

44



TOWN OF PAONIA
DEPARTMENTAL SCORE CARD

ISSUE STATUS ESTIMATED COST INITIAL PROJECT DATE CURRENT STATUS DATE DATE COMPLETED

  

Chase ink Credit Account

Submitted a letter to Chase Card Services to get control of the 
online banking account for the Chase ink Credit Card. Would like 
to see if any cashback rewards have been earned, and if so, where 
are they. Continue to get control of Chase Bank Credit Cards - will 
need to travel to Telluride and visit Chase Banker in person. Form 
has been signed by former finance director and signed by myself 
and sent to Chase Bank for final approval. Awaiting Chase Banks 
response. Chase Bank denied the change of ownership and 
awaiting for further action. 

7.28.23 7.19.2024

Special Event Process and Applications
Improve the process and include the recent ordinance for street 
closures in the application process. This also includes the process 
for park reservations. Expected completion date: 12/31/2024

8.1.23 4.23.2024

Add Community Development Module to Caselle

Board of Trustees approved a new module with Caselle for 
Community Development to track all permits issued by the town. 
Final step is building forms such as certificate of occupancy, event 
permits, etc. On the last step for setting this up, permit templates. 

7.1.24 9.20.2024

Consider Adding Purchase Order module with Caselle

With the adoption of a Purchasing Manual in September, the new 
process will include a three-way match requirement for purchase 
orders. Current purchase orders are tracked on a spreadsheet, 
but with the module they'll be tracked in Caselle. 
Requisitions/Purchase Order package has been purchased and is 
in initial setup. 

8.1.2024 9.20.2024

Meter Updates in Caselle 
Working with Public Works department to check meter ids, 
endpoints in Caselle and change as many as possible to radio 
read. 

5.27.24 7.17.24

Documenting Accounting and Utility Processes 
Recording processes for water meter read input, utility billing, 
red tags, disbursment approval, printing checks for approved 
disbursments and other departmental tasks. 

7.1.24 7.17.24

Caselle Budget Tools for Department Heads

Working on setting up budget review and creation tools for 
department heads within Caselle Connect Online. Once set up 
Department Heads will be able to access and view their current 
budget, funds and line items specific to their department from 
their town devices.  As of 8/1/2024, this is live and Department 
Heads are able to see their budget/actuals as items are booked to 
the GL. 

7.16.24 8.23.2024

ClearGov Intergration with Caselle Both platforms have been in use for some time but have not been 
intergrated. 

7.17.24 7.17.24

FINANCE DEPARTMENT

Page 2

45



TOWN OF PAONIA
DEPARTMENTAL SCORE CARD

ISSUE STATUS ESTIMATED COST INITIAL PROJECT DATE CURRENT STATUS DATE DATE COMPLETED

  

Equipment Surplus Followed up on this item so Surplus can be looked at 7.19.23 1.30.24

Records Management System Development and 
Implementation

Subscribed to NAGARA (National Association of Government 
Archives & Records) for training and best practices of developing 
records management

$285/year for 3 user accounts 1.29.24

Records and vault reorganization, retention compliance Actively going through, starting new organization process and 
logging- goes slow due to time constraints Staff Time 8.15.23 1.30.24

Point & Pay/ Caselle Integration

Completed soft launch for testing on 7.8.2024.  Verification of post-
back vs. account credits vs. bank deposit reconciliation all 
balanced.   Re-Activated online payments 7.29.2024 after 
successfully being used almost 30 days of payments with various 
individuals’ online payments.  All reconciliation since 7.8.2024 is 
good per Michelle Duran of Prof. Mgmt. Solutions…reported 
8.9.2024.   Point & Pay issues all addressed and resolved. 

Point and Pay Absorbed Costs + 
Staff Time

2.15.23 08.09.24 08.09.24

New SQL & Access Databases

Databases: Dog Tags (in progress - completed SQL db build, active 
web pages for listing & adding new tags completed.), Tickets 
(planning stage - tables build in SQL db), Payment Arrangements 
(planning stage).

Staff Time 01.01.2024 08.09.2024

Create checklists for Clerk Duties

Create checklists, for all permits, licensing, agenda, board 
meeting, record retention, new hires etc for consistancy and 
thoroughness. Updating as we go concurrent with the training for 
new Deputy Clerk - Ongoing

Staff Time 7.19.23 1.29.24

MuniDocs clean- up & catch up Still in process as time permits, This has also become the landing 
place for Board Committee Agenda's and minutes

9.14.23 03.20.24

Process new Retail Marijuana license

License conditionally approved by Board pending Tax Bond, sign 
design compliance and final building permit approval. 
Administrator and Clerk have worked with RMJ license holders 
on bond and sign process and Clerk has sent letter of conditional 
approval to the MED.

Revenue $5000.00 11.15.23 03.22.24

Minor Subdivision 1.23.24 @ 6:30 pm Approved with Conditions 11.22.23 1.23.24

CIRSA Audit Coordinating with Dept Heads to fix deficiencies Staff time 5.9.24 6.4.24

CLERK'S DEPARTMENT

Page 3

46



TOWN OF PAONIA
DEPARTMENTAL SCORE CARD

ISSUE STATUS ESTIMATED COST INITIAL PROJECT DATE CURRENT STATUS DATE DATE COMPLETED

  

Fiona's Bartique Liquor License
State approval recieved. Local license cleared to be issued as soon 
as final building inspection is complete and Clerk gets to walk 
through.

Revenue 5.22.24 7.30.24

ADA Transition Plan

Discussed at Department Head Meeting, will need to begin to 
evaluate crossings throughout intersections in Town. Will add 

this to fulcrum and add notes in GIS about intersections in 
compliance and intersections that need to be brought into 

compliance with ADA standards. Working with Town 
Administrator to accomplish a true plan. Need to know if current 
sidewalk ramps are grandfathered in? So far one street crosssing 

and one alleyway are not compliant

8.1.23 7.29.24

Replacing brick on Archway at Town Hall Job in progress 8.1.23 8.21.24

Add cornering mirror at Pan American and Rio Grande Initial mirror blew down in wind storm. Need to re-order a larger 
mirror 8.8.23 7.29.24

Working on lead service line inventory 

Collecting and analyzing historical records.  25% complete.Had a 
meetign with a vendor that specializes in the new L&C 

regulations. They can help with testing and software to report to 
the state

11/6/2023 7.29.24

Mays water availability.
Conveyance agreement with Bone Mesa for raw water 

coming off of Gelwick through the Town’s pipe to the splitter 
box at Mays

7.17.2024

Construction standard update

Need to update construction standards for utilility,road, 
street,and sidewalks.  Respec is going to update construction 
standards. Regular scheduled meetings with Jordan, Derek, 

Cory and Nicki with Repec to go page by page through 
standards to correct and update. ~85% through the 
standards packet. Currently working on Wastewater 

standards

2/2/2024 8.21.24

Finish NorthWest corner of skatepark. Looking at options to finish the unfinished portion of the 
skatepark.

7.17.2024

Equipment and contract bids
Public works is currently seeking quotes for pavement 
milling (Samuel Wade Bridge contracted), asphalt rollers, jet 
vac combos, and a generator/welder unit, and Paint Striper 
(may utilize safe routes to parks grant for purchase) and SxS

8.21.24

PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT

Page 4

47



TOWN OF PAONIA
DEPARTMENTAL SCORE CARD

ISSUE STATUS ESTIMATED COST INITIAL PROJECT DATE CURRENT STATUS DATE DATE COMPLETED

  

Roof repair - Town Hall

Randy with Quality Cool Roofing Solutions inspected the job 
on 7/29/24. Elite Commercial Roofing will inspect the job on 
8/2/24. Innovative Roofing was contacted as well with no 
response. Elite is the only contractor that sent a quote. It will 
be discussed int he 8/27/24 public meeting

7.29.24 8.21.24

F-150 Recall Received offical recall letter for the 2014 F-150 recalls for 
Output Speed Sensor. An unintended downshift into 1st gear. 7/1/2024 7.29.24

Apple Valley Plumbing Needs to be cameraed to see the extent of damage under the 
concrete flooring

7.29.24

Purchase and install Signs (speed and stop).
Signs ordered and will be installed once we receive them.  
Signs recieved and in process of being installed.  Half of the 
stop signs have been delivered. 

1.4.2024 8.21.24

Page 5

48



TOWN OF PAONIA
DEPARTMENTAL SCORE CARD

ISSUE STATUS ESTIMATED COST INITIAL PROJECT DATE CURRENT STATUS DATE DATE COMPLETED

  
CDPHE Free Assistance Program for Lead Service Lince 
Replacement

Applied today for the program with Cory and Stefen as PoC. Will 
evaluate this program in FY-2024.  Sunrise Engineering has been 
helping us through this process.

8.1.23 11.24.23

Replace meters at Burges & Lamborn Mesa Water Companies

Burges Vault in process of repair and Lamborn Mesa meter 
replacement will begin soon. Final cost for completing these 
projects need to be submitted to the Town Administrator and 
Finance for appropriate accounts receivable. 

8.3.23 11.24.23

Mays Meetering. Raw Water at the Mays Springs is being metered. Data is being 
sent to Brian Mitchem. This is before the split to Bone Mesa. 

Mays Cleanup / Spring site Cleanup

Clearing trees and brush at Mays along the springs so that 
tree roots don’t get into the pipes.  Wrightwater will need 
specific areas on the springs cleared and cleaned up.  
Awaiting drawings for their needs.

Lead and Copper samples / Survey Bi-annual

Finding and addressing water loss issues and low pressure 
events We have had 5 waterline repairs in the month of May.

Wrightwater Engineering / Hydrogeological
Wrightwater initial site visit to the springs.  Spent 3 days on the 
mountain gathering data. Currently discussing if brush clearing 
can be done before the winter season. 

8.21.24

Utility Fee Study

Water and Sewer Rates need to be reviewed. 20-year cash flow 
analysis for water and upcoming restrictions on NPDES permit 
for wastewater necessitate increases in the rates for utilities. 
Proposed Rate increases on the Board agenda for December 12, 
2023. 

7.14.23 11.24.23

NPDES Contact Update

Stefen needs to be added as the Executive/Administrative contact 
for the NPDES Permit. All Correspondence regarding NPDES 
Permit needs to go to Town Hall Attention: Stefen Wynn, Town 
Administrator. Follow-up needed to make sure that this is 
properly completed. 

8.1.23 11.24.23

Aerator at the lagoon for pond 1 failed.  Replacement ordered Replacement ordered and installed. The anchor line was replaced. 
However, when the line broke the electrical cable pulled out of 
the box and needs to be inspected by a professional

8.21.24

WASTEWATER DEPARTMENT

WATER DEPARTMENT

Page 6

49



TOWN OF PAONIA
DEPARTMENTAL SCORE CARD

ISSUE STATUS ESTIMATED COST INITIAL PROJECT DATE CURRENT STATUS DATE DATE COMPLETED

  

Compiling possible municipal code additions, subtractions, and 
combinations to adress shortfalls in current muni code

The department is looking at approximately five (5) code 
updates/ replacements/new codes to be added by the end of the 

year. 
5/1/2023 3/1/2024 In Progress

Reactivation of Bicylce Patrol Unit Equipment is being priced and sourced. Policies are being 
reviewed, 

Donated/Repurposed Eqpt/ 
<$500 8/1/2024 8/22/2024 In Progress

Reviewing possible municipal code fee/fine updates to adress 
shortfalls in current muni code

Reaching out to other like sized or surroundiung municiaplities to 
compile fee and fine amounts. UNK 4/1/2023 3/1/2024 In Progress

Police Service Tech office space Work continues to replace one exterior hallway door and a 
service door for the new service tech office. $1,500 2/1/2024 7/15/2024 In Progress

Left hand turns into parking spaces on Grand Avenue
Possible solutions are being researched to include high viz 

signage, directionally adjusted signs, painting/striping, foot/bike 
patrol enforcement options.

UNK 4/1/2024 7/15/2024 In Progress

Patrol Car Lettering Patrol cars are scheduled for decal updates the week of August 
26th. <$1000 7/30/2024 8/22/2024 In Progress

ESS Security Training Department Staff are continuing to take the ESS trainings and 
work towards the 630 Point minimum point threshold Patrol Function 5/1/2023 7/15/2024 Continuous

Implementation of Spillman FLEX Working with DCSO on acquiring database access for two officers. $25,121.24 3/1/2023 7/15/2024 In Progress

Employee appraisal/review Packets are completed and beeing reviewed by Admin staff. Admin/patrol function 1/1/2024 7/15/2024 In Progress

Code Enforcement for weeds/junk//trash Letters are being sent via mail and some are being in-person via 
uniformed officer. Patrol Ofiicer hourly rates 5/1/2024 7/15/2024 Continuous

Water Department Water Line Verification

Water Line under InX may need replaced if it's steel or iron. Cost 
will be internal labor to replace it, and needs coordinated with 
final contractor - WD to verify pipe under roadway. Verified that 
the pipe was replaced with plastic, but the fire hydrant that it 
connects to is almost 40 years old and time to be replaced  It will 

7.17.23 11.24.23

Construction Timeline Construction is estimated to begin in Late-Spring - Mid-Summer 
of FY-2024. $1,032,000.00 7.17.23 11.24.23

CDOT Revitalizing Main Streets Grant, "Safe Pathways for Paonia," 3-Points InX Grand, 4th & 5th

POLICE DEPARTMENT

Page 7

50



TOWN OF PAONIA
DEPARTMENTAL SCORE CARD

ISSUE STATUS ESTIMATED COST INITIAL PROJECT DATE CURRENT STATUS DATE DATE COMPLETED

  

Grant for $25,000 Colorado River Water Conservation District 
Grant Contract, COI and W-9 sent and received 7.20.23 11.24.23

Grant from Roundtable $25,000 awarded to Paonia for completing the Hydrogeological 
Study 7.20.23 11.24.23

CWCB Grant Awarded $147,973 towards the Hydrogeological Study 7.20.23 11.24.23

RFP Available on Bidnet RFP for completing the study is live on bidnet and consultants 
have been direct solicited. 11.1.23 11.24.23

Housing Needs Assessment
Final HNA and Housing Action Plan has been accepted by the Plan 
Commission and Board of Trustees and will be included in the 
DRAFT of the Master (Comprehensive) Plan.

5.1.23 11.24.23

DOLA IHOP Reimbursement

3rd Quarter FY-23 reimbursement request submitted and 
$32,348.25 will be sent to the Town from DOLA. 4th Quarter FY-
23 reimbursement will be submitted and the final reimbursement 
amount will be requested. 

7.1.23 11.24.23

HOUSING NEEDS ASSESSMENT

Hydrogeological Study

Page 8

51



TOWN OF PAONIA
DEPARTMENTAL SCORE CARD

ISSUE STATUS ESTIMATED COST INITIAL PROJECT DATE CURRENT STATUS DATE DATE COMPLETED

  

Met with Phoenix Rising Resources On 1.5.2024, met with Phoenix Rising Resources Principal to go 
over expectations and a timeline to finish the project. 

5.1.23 1.19.24

Timeline

1/17 PC Meeting with Status Update; 1/22 Survey Questions from 
Consultant for Publication; 1/23 Status Update for BoT; 2/2 Staff 
Meeting with Consultant; 2/27 Status Update for BoT; 2/28 FLUM 
Meeting PH at PC; 3/1 Staff Meeting with Consultant; 3/13 Draft 
Element Presentation PH at PC Meeting for Infrastructure; 3/26 
Status Update for BoT; 3/29 Staff Meeting with Conultant; 4/3 
Draft Element Presentation PH at PC for Transportation, 
Governance & Community Participation; 4/23 Status Update for 
BoT; 4/26 Staff Meeting with Consultant; 5/1 Draft Element 
Presentation PH at PC for Growth Framework, Economic 
Development, Parks, Recreation & Trails; 5/28 Status Update for 
BoT; 6/5 Final Presentation PH for Adoption at PC; 6/18 PH Final 
Adoption by BoT

$52,395.00 1.19.23 1.19.23

DOLA Planning Grant Reimbursement for work already completed will be submitted 
during week of 11.27.23 5.1.23 11.24.23

Proposed Alignment

Meeting held on 7.24.23 regarding Existing water line alignment 
& GIS Data Accuracy. Proposed algnment options to consider, 
avoid easements by placing the water line is road R/Ws. AC line 
feeding old water plant, Evaluate PRV needs. Main Line 
improvements are being realigned so that they follow existing 
rights of way along roadways in areas that they are possible to be 
relocated. 

7.24.23 11.24.23

Easement Acquisition

May need to plan for two lines, potable and raw water, Town 
representative to negotiate easements (Town Administrator) 
once they're located. Land acquisition amounts have changed and 
are being finalized, if necessary at all. Nicki called County Clerk. 
No records of official easements. 

8.1.23 11.24.23

Items Needed from Town Staff

As builts for PVC Loop; Exhibit of consecutive systems; photos of 
PRV 7; 8 & 9 (Jordan provided on 7/25 to Respec); Inventory 
meters to be replaced along the alignment. All items needed from 
Town Staff have been provided, including the 20-year cash flow 
analysis for the Project Needs Assessment. 

7.25.23 11.24.23

File for EIAF Tier II Grant

On 7.27.23, a grant application was filed for EIAF Tier II with 
project number 09721. DOLA Staff accepted the application for 
consideration on 8.3.23. Town was awarded $965,000 for Tank 
Relining. 

 $                                     965,000.00 7.27.23 11.24.23

Project Needs Assessment 

Has been completed and submitted to CDPHE for consideration. 
Staff, consultants and Mayor Bachran completed various pieces of 
the PNA, and this is a monumental step towards project funding 
for DWSRF. 

3.1.23 11.24.23

PHASE I - WATER IMPROVEMENTS

MASTER PLAN

Page 9

52



TOWN OF PAONIA
DEPARTMENTAL SCORE CARD

ISSUE STATUS ESTIMATED COST INITIAL PROJECT DATE CURRENT STATUS DATE DATE COMPLETED

  SRF Loan Application SRF Loan Application is being considered for FY - 2024 and is 
budgeted for approximately $7.3MM 3.1.23 11.24.23

American leak detection survey,Jeremiah working on it O rd , dry gulch, and lone cabin east loop still need surveyed.                    4.1.23 12.12.23

Page 10

53



54



55



TOWN OF PAONIA 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES MEETING 
STAFF REPORT 

AGENDA ITEM: 

SUBMITTED BY: 

DATE: 

BACKGROUND: 

BUDGET: 

RECOMMENDATION: 

ATTACHMENT: 

Agenda Item: Consideration of Appointing an Interested Applicant to 
the Vacant Seat on the Board of Trustees

Samira Vetter, Town Clerk

September 24, 2024
The process the Board has used in the past is:

• The sitting Board agree on 2 or 3 questions for all applicants to
answer.

• Each Trustee casts one vote on a piece of paper that also
includes their own name.

• The Town Clerk collects the votes and reads them out loud,
including whose vote it is.

• The Applicant with the most votes gets appointed, the Mayor
voting in a tie.

N/A

Board of Trustees applications and Letters of Interest for the Vacant Seat.

56



Dear Mayor Smith and Town of Paonia Trustees-

I am writing to request a letter of support for Nature Connection’s Wilder Bunch
application to the CPW non-motorized trail maintenance and stewardship grant
program. This is our teen crew that maintains the Paonia River Park and will soon be
maintaining trails on Jumbo Mountain.

The CPW grant program is one of the only state funds directly administered to
non-profits, trail advocacy groups and municipal governments to maintain hiking,
biking and other non-motorized trails. Since 2020, Nature Connection has been
successful in this highly competitive grant program. The grant committee scores us
really highly because we have demonstrated success in two major goal areas:

1) Provide new trail development and preventative maintenance on
hiking/biking/accessible trails that directly impact the lives of children, families
and seniors in Delta County

2) Provide job-readiness skills and outdoor industry career development for
teens from diverse backgrounds in Delta County

In 2024 CPW has funded us at approx. $75k/year which covers 10-12 weeks of youth
salaries (10 students x 30hrs/week) and full time supervisor salary ~$25k + benefits.
The CPW grant funds can only be used on salaries and contracted work (env. surveys,
excavator rental.) For 2025, we plan to work up to 2 weeks in the Paonia River Park
and an additional 2 weeks on Jumbo Mountain trails. Both of these trail areas provide
recreational amenities to residents of the Town and have ample public support in
recent Recreation and Master Planning efforts. This crew can be utilized on any
non-motorized recreation trail and we would coordinate with Public Works on
assisting with maintenance or construction of other walking paths in Apple Valley or
Town Park as needed.

Part of this grant requires a cash match from each municipality. I believe another
reason we have been successful in this highly competitive program is because we
have cash contributions from our municipal partners.

We are coming up on the grant deadline for 2025 funding (Oct. 1st.) We are looking
again for support from the Town of Paonia. This crew is the only paid maintenance
on the Paonia River Park, which includes properties owned by the Town, school
district andWSCC. Since 2020, each municipality (City of Delta, NF Rec, Delta County,
Town of Paonia) has contributed between $2500-$5000/ year. The school district
though our GOCO grant contributes my salary and benefits (.25 FTE as project

Our mission is to break down the barriers to getting outside for youth and families in our community

Visit us: www.thenatureconnection.net
397 Miners Way Hotchkiss, CO 81419 (970) 872 –5910

57

http://www.thenatureconnection.net


manager) and the district covers all of our administrative overhead including liability
insurance for all workers, vehicles, and programs.

With the support funding each municipality we purchase tools, fuel, construction
supplies (gravel, wood, etc,) and transportation for students to/from the job site.

Attached is a sample letter of support and some photos from 2024. We like to show
in our letter of support the cash or in-kind commitments, however if budgeting is
happening at a later date- we can include in the letter that the cash contribution is
TBD. I would like to have a support letter from the Town by Oct. 1st.

Thank you for your support,

Ben Graves

and the Wilder Bunch Crew

Our mission is to break down the barriers to getting outside for youth and families in our community

Visit us: www.thenatureconnection.net
397 Miners Way Hotchkiss, CO 81419 (970) 872 –5910

58

http://www.thenatureconnection.net


DATE 

 

Trails Grant Committee 

Colorado Parks and Wildlife: State Trails Program 

13787 S. Hwy 85 

Littleton, CO 80125 

 

To Whom It May Concern, 

 

On behalf of the Town of Paonia we are proud to submit this letter to Colorado Parks and Wildlife in 

support of the Nature Connection’s Wilder Bunch Stewardship Crew. Paonia is located at the heart of the 

North Fork Valley. Surrounding the town are unlimited opportunities for outdoor recreation - from world 

class hunting and fishing to mountain biking on Jumbo Mountain and cross country skiing on the Grand 

Mesa. Unfortunately, our town has few accessible trails or beginner-friendly recreation opportunities 

located close to town and our schools.  

 

To address the growing need for accessible recreation in our community, our town has supported the 

Nature Connection and the Western Slope Conservation Center (WSSC), in expanding and maintaining  

the Paonia River Park Trail System along the North Fork of the Gunnison. This ADA accessible soft-

surface trail crosses WSCC, Town and Paonia K8 School property and provides the only public access to 

the river in Paonia. Enhancing and maintaining this valuable trail project has received ample public 

support in multiple master plans including the Paonia in Motion Recreation Plan and the Delta County 

Trails and Recreation Master Plan. The Wilder Bunch Crew has been essential in the initial construction, 

expansion and maintenance since 2018. In 2023, historic flooding eroded almost 1000 ft of river bank on 

Town property. The Wilder Bunch, with support from our Town, WSCC volunteers and donations from 

the community was able to repair and reroute the trail.  

 

Recently, our local BLM office approved an ambitious Travel Management Plan for Jumbo Mountain, 

which is accessible from many neighborhoods in Paonia. This plan calls for major reroutes of “social 

trails” in order to make them accessible to beginners, seniors and children as well as more sustainable for 

wildlife and the erodible soils. While not directly within Town limits, the Jumbo Mountain trails are 

extremely important to the quality of life of Paonia residents and economic diversity of our community. 

One of our parks, Apple Valley Park, has been designated by the BLM as the official public trailhead and 

we are planning with partner organizations how to manage the influx of new recreationalists and increase 

use by Town residents.  

 

The Town of Paonia does not have any dedicated trail maintenance or recreation staff and our Public 

Works department is overburdened with maintaining our aging water, sewer and street infrastructure. It is 

our hope that this grant will not only help us provide safe and accessible trails, but also ease the burden so 

our Town staff can continue to focus on the many parks, fields and playgrounds that our community 

depends on for wellness and recreation. 

 

We are confident in The Nature Connection’s ability to manage this grant. As a show of our commitment, 

the Town of Paonia will provide a cash contribution (TBD) toward trail crew supplies and/or materials. 

 

Thank you for supporting our community! 

 

Sincerely, 

59



60



Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Table of Contents 

December 31, 2023 

Fiscal Year - 2023 Audit Transmittal Letter...............................................................................3

Independent Auditor’s Required Communication Letter.......................................... 11
Independent Auditor’s Report ..............................................................................................16 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis ...........................................................................20 

Basic Financial Statements 

Government-wide Financial Statements 
Statement of Net Position ........................................................................................................36 
Statement of Activities ............................................................................................................. 37 

Governmental Funds 
 Balance Sheet ........................................................................................................................38 

Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds 
to the Statement of Net Position ........................................................................................40 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance ..................................39 
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in 

Fund Balance of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities ...............................41 

Proprietary Fund 
Statement of Net Position ...................................................................................................... 42 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position ......................................... 43 
Statement of Cash Flows ....................................................................................................... 44 

Notes to Financial Statements .................................................................................................... 45 

Required Supplementary Information 

Budgetary Comparison Schedules 

 General Fund ......................................................................................................................... 70 
Sales Tax Capital Improvement Fund ................................................................................... 71 
Conservation Trust Fund ....................................................................................................... 72 

 Street Fund ............................................................................................................................ 73 

Notes to Required Supplementary Information ........................................................................... 74 

Supplementary Information 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
 Balance sheet ........................................................................................................................ 76 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance ................................. 77 

Budgetary Comparison Schedules 
 Sidewalk Fund ....................................................................................................................... 78 
 Water Fund ............................................................................................................................ 79 
 Sewer Fund ........................................................................................................................... 81 
 Trash Fund ............................................................................................................................ 82 

(Continued) 

1

Organizational Chart ................................................................................................................. 9 
List of Elected and  Appointed Officials...................................................................................... 10

61



Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Table of Contents 

December 31, 2023 
(Continued) 

Compliance Section 

State Compliance 

Local Highway Finance Report ................................................................................................... 84 

2

62



Town of Paonia
Of�ice of the Town Administrator 

214 Grand Ave. 
Paonia, CO 81428 

O: (970) 527-4101 
F: (970) 527-4102 

9/10/2024 

To the Mayor, Board of Trustees, and the Residents of the Town of Paonia: 

The statutes of the State of Colorado require local governments to publish the results of their annual audit 
and a comprehensive report of �inancial statements. The report must conform to generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP), and the accounting requirements established by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB). The Town of Paonia must have its �inancial statements audited by a 
�irm of licensed certi�ied public accountants. The Town hired Hinkle & Company, P.C. in 2023 to complete 
the FY-2022 Audit through FY-2026.  

The Town’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair public presentation of its �inancial 
statements, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted within the United States, and for 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal controls that are relevant to such presentations, 
free from material misstatements due to fraud and error. The Town utilizes the assistance of a third-party 
accounting �irm throughout the year to ensure accuracy in �inancial statements and to assist with internal 
controls functions.  

Pursuant to these requirements, we hereby issue the annual comprehensive �inancial report of the Town of 
Paonia, Colorado for the �iscal year ended December 31, 2023.  

The Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) is presented in six sections: 

1. The Independent Auditor’s Report, which includes general information about the audit as
provided by the Town’s independent licensed certi�ied public accountants, Hinkle and Company,
P.C. The 2023 independent audit resulted in an unquali�ied audit opinion, with no �indings or
recommendations.

2. The Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A), which includes an analysis of the
Town’s �inancial performance for both governmental activities and business-type activities
(enterprise funds such as water, wastewater, and trash). The MD&A also includes discussions
on compliance, risks such as long-term debt, and investments in capital assets such as
infrastructure, buildings, and equipment. Management has established a comprehensive
internal-control system that is meant to protect both the Town’s assets from loss, theft, or
misuse, which provides a foundation for making the representations in this report. This section
should be read in conjunction with this Transmittal Letter.

3. The Basic Financial Statements include the report from the Town’s external, independent
auditors, and the basic �inancial statements. These documents include the government-wide

3

63



�inancial statements comprised of the Statement of Net Position, the Statement of Activities, and 
the accompanying notes to the �inancial statements. This section also includes the fund �inancial 
statements including the governmental funds �inancial statements, the proprietary funds 
�inancial statements, and the combined individual funds �inancial statements for the nonmajor 
governmental and proprietary funds and the internal service funds.  

4. The Required Supplementary Information includes Required supplementary information,
other than the MD&A, which is comprised of the General Fund budget to the actual schedule and 
information about the Town’s de�ined bene�it retirement plans. This section also includes
information about Special Revenue Funds like the Sales Tax Improvement Fund, Conservation
Trust Fund, and the Street Fund.

5. The Supplementary Information includes information about nonmajor governmental funds,
which includes Statements of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance. The
section also includes Budgetary Comparison Schedules for the Sidewalk fund, and the water,
sewer, and trash funds.

6. The Compliance Section contains a report summarizing the Town’s Local Highway Finance
Report.

This report consists of management’s representations concerning the �inances of the Town of Paonia, 
Colorado. Consequently, management retains full responsibility for the completeness and reliability of all 
information presented in this report. To provide a reasonable basis for making these representations, 
management has established and continues to improve a comprehensive internal control framework that 
is designed to both protect the Town’s assets from loss, theft, or misuse and to compile suf�icient reliable 
information for the preparation of the Town of Paonia’s �inancial statements in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Management has designed the Town of Paonia’s internal controls 
framework to provide reasonable, rather than absolute assurance that the �inancial statements will be free 
from material misstatement. As management, we assert, to the best of our knowledge and belief, that this 
�inancial report is complete and reliable in all material respects.  

The Town of Paonia’s �inancial statements have been audited by Hinkle and Company, PC, a �irm of licensed 
certi�ied public accountants. The goal of the independent audit was to provide reasonable assurance that 
the �inancial statements for the �iscal year ended December 31, 2023, are free of material misstatement 
presented in accordance with United States GAAP and accounting requirements established by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). The audit involved examining, on a test-basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the �inancial statements, assessing the accounting principles 
used and signi�icant estimates made by management and evaluating the overall �inancial statement 
presentation.  

The independent auditor gave an unmodi�ied and unquali�ied opinion, with no �indings or 
recommendations for correction for the Town’s �iscal year 2023 �inancial statements. As a result, we can 
provide reasonable assurance that the �inancial information contained in this report is complete, reliable, 
and accurate. The independent auditor’s report was presented before this transmittal letter, and stated, “in 
our opinion, the �inancial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective 
�inancial position of the business-type activities and each major fund of the Town as of December 31, 2023, 
and the respective changes in �inancial position and cash �lows for the year then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.”  

4

64



PROFILE OF THE TOWN OF PAONIA, COLORADO 

Introduction 

The Town of Paonia was organized under the 1877 laws of the State of Colorado and is located in Delta 
County. Paonia was incorporated, on July 21, 1902, by Delta County Court Order, following a successful 
election for incorporation held on July 14, 1902, in which 100 people voted for incorporation and 1 person 
voted against incorporation.   

The Town of Paonia is a statutory town and is limited to exercising governing powers that are granted by 
the State of Colorado and are subject to provisions and limitations imposed by the state. As of the 2020 
decennial census, the population for the Town of Paonia was 1,447.  

In 1902, Paonia was �irst incorporated as a Mayor – Council form of Government with a Board of Trustees 
serving as the “Council” and legislative body. The Mayor and Trustees are elected to staggered four-year 
terms. The Mayor and Board of Trustees passed Ordinance 2014-09, establishing the position of Town 
Administrator and enumerated the duties, and powers of the position to include all executive and 
administrative functions for the proper management of the Town.  

The Town Board provides strategic leadership, goal setting and policy-making authority, and appoints the 
Town Administrator who serves as the Chief Executive Of�icer of the administrative branch and is 
responsible for the day-to-day management operations of the Town, and for providing �inancial and 
technical support to ensure equitable, ef�icient, and effective implementation of government services to our 
Residents. 

Services Provided 

The Town provides a full range of public services, including a Police Department, Municipal Utilities (water, 
wastewater, and trash), Infrastructure (drainage, streets, public buildings, airport, and sidewalks), and 
Cultural and Recreational programs (parks and recreation activities). The Town oversees land-use, 
infrastructure, and permitting for development, facility maintenance, and provides a forum for community 
discussion through bi-monthly Board meetings that are open to the general public.  

Other governmental services are provided through various agencies and special districts that includes �ire 
protection through the Paonia Volunteer Fire Department (Delta County FPD#2); North Fork EMS; the 
North Fork Pool, Parks, and Recreation District; the Paonia Public Library, a branch of�ice of the Delta County 
Library District; and two Cemetery Districts. 

Inclusion of a Component Unit 

Management includes component units in the reporting entity in conformance with GAAP. The �inancial 
statements include all funds that make up the legal entity of the primary government, namely the Town, as 
well as organizations for which the Town is �inancially responsible. The Town also participates in a joint 
venture with Delta County. The Paonia Municipal Airport is jointly owned by the Town of Paonia and Delta 
County and operates under an intergovernmental agreement signed by both parties.  

Summary of Budget Process 

The annual budget serves as the foundation for the Town’s �inancial planning and control. All departments 
of the Town are required to submit requests to the Town Administrator and Treasurer in August of each 
year for the following year’s budget. The Town Administrator then uses those requests to develop the 
proposed budget, typically presented to the Board of Trustees in September/October. The Board of Trustees 
is required to hold a public hearing prior to the �inal adoption of the budget. Pursuant to Colorado Revised 

5

65



Statutes, the Board of Trustees shall adopt a �inal budget in a timely manner prior to the start of the ensuring 
budget/�iscal year. Annual appropriations must also be adopted.  

The appropriation resolutions are prepared and adopted by fund. The Town Administrator and Treasurer 
may make transfers of appropriations within a department or fund. Transfers of appropriations between 
funds and additional appropriations require additional approval from the Board of Trustees and is 
completed through the budget amendment procedures as established by Colorado Statutes. 

Budget-to-actual comparisons are provided in this report for each individual fund for which an 
appropriated annual budget has been adopted. For the General Fund, this comparison is presented on page 
42 of the Financial Statements of this report and is included in the Required Supplementary Information 
section. For all other budgeted funds, these comparisons are presented in the Supplementary Information 
subsection, which starts on page 44.  

Factors Affecting Financial Condition 

The information presented in the �inancial statements is best understood when it is considered from a 
broader perspective of the environment within which the Town of Paonia operates.  

Local Economy: The events of the year 2020 had a signi�icant lingering in�luence on the costs of goods and 
services within Delta County and Paonia.  The impact from 2020 caused an increase to the costs of goods 
and services that is expected to become the new normal. Prior to the year 2020, Paonia was still recovering 
from the closure of several mines, which it relied on for mineral leasing revenue and for high paying jobs. 
Paonia has been quali�ied by the State of Colorado as a Disadvantaged Community, which allows for priority 
access to supplemental funding such as grants and low-interest loans.  

In�lation of prices for goods and services is another challenging and lasting impact of the global pandemic 
with a direct impact on the local, regional, and national economies. Increases in interest rates have led to a 
positive increase in investments that the Town has with ColoTrust, but also an increase in the cost of normal 
goods and services required for day-to-day operations.  

In 2019, the Town experienced a catastrophic water loss that began on February 14, 2019. The Town could 
not service any of its Residents or out of town water customers. As a result, a referendum vote was passed 
on January 7, 2020, that instituted a water moratorium on the sale of new water taps into the system (Water 
Moratorium). The water loss exposed neglected infrastructure in most of the Town’s utility services, most 
of which is well over its useful life. The Town began heavily investing in its infrastructure in FY-2023 and 
will continue to do so over the next decade.  

The water moratorium has effectively stopped any growth of new residential or commercial developments 
within the Town and has placed a constraint on the local economy. To effectively budget and plan for debt-
funding improvements to the water infrastructure, rates will have to increase. The Board of Trustees 
recognized that rate increases were necessary to qualify for State-Revolving Fund Loans and implemented 
a 5-year step plan to increase water rates beginning in FY-2024. It is expected that once conditions of the 
moratorium are met, and the Town grasps the capacity of its natural resources for sustainable development, 
these limiting factors may be reduced.  

The Town is a major cultural destination due to its inclusion in state programs for viticulture and creative 
districts. During Summer months, the Town enjoys a signi�icant increase in tourism due to events sponsored 
by the North Fork Valley Creative Coalition such as Pickin’ in the Park and the Mountain Harvest Festival. 
Paonia also hosts several other festivals, including: the Paonia Cherry Days Festival, Top ‘O the Rockies, 
BMW Rally, and the Colorado Grand, car tour.  

6

66



Financial Information 

The General Fund unrestricted balance increased $155,701 in 2023, but the Business-Type (Utility 
Enterprise) Activities unrestricted balance decreased $112,672, which is indicative of investment in 
infrastructure. The Business-Type Activities saw an increase of $593,000 in Capital Assets, mostly due to 
investment in the Wastewater (Sewer) Collections system.  

Internal Control: The Town’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining an internal 
control structure designed to ensure that the assets of the Town are protected from loss, theft, or misuse 
and to ensure that adequate accounting data are compiled to allow for the preparation of �inancial 
statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles for local governments as 
prescribed by  the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB), the Financial Accounting Standards 
Board (FASB) and the American Institute of Certi�ied Public Accountants (AICPA). The internal control 
structure is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance that these objectives are met. The 
concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that the cost of a control should not exceed the bene�its likely 
to be derived and the valuation of costs and bene�its requires estimates and judgments by management.  

The Town utilizes a �inancial accounting system that includes a system of internal accounting controls. Such 
controls have been designed and are continually being reevaluated to provide reasonable, but not absolute 
assurance.  

Budgeting Control: The Town also maintains budgetary controls. The objective of these budgetary controls 
is to ensure compliance with legal provisions embodied in the annual appropriated budget as approved by 
the Board of Trustees. Activities of all funds are included in the annual appropriated budget. The level of 
budgetary control, the level at which expenditures cannot legally exceed the appropriated amount, is 
established at the fund level. However, budgetary accounting is maintained on a line-item basis.  

Long-Term Financial Planning: To continue the Town’s historic investment in capital assets, the Town 
recognized that the cost of doing business has also increased. At the close of 2023, the Board of Trustees 
adopted Resolution 2022-14 increasing the basic rate of the Trash Utility. The Town also passed Resolution 
2023-20 increasing the water rates and charges for all users for the next �ive years. The Board of Trustees 
also increased wastewater/sewer rates through Ordinance 2023-07 in anticipation of future discharge 
limitations and to begin building reserves for planned collections and treatment systems improvements. 
The Town will continue to evaluate the cost of improvements to its enterprise activities and will review 
rates annually to ensure that capital needs are �inanced.  

Debt Management: The ratio of net general bonded debt to assess valuation and the amount of general 
bonded debt per capita are useful indicators of the Town’s debt position to municipal management, 
Residents, and investors. Although the Town has debt related to refunding revenue bonds in the wastewater 
utility, the Town does not have any general obligation debt outstanding and has not pledged the use of all 
available resources for long-term debt.  

Major Initiatives: The Town continues to work toward �inancial sustainability. In 2023, as well as in the 
2022 budget, major initiatives are set forth to take the Town into the future. Infrastructure maintenance, 
improvement and replacement is a priority for the Town, and building fund balance in all funds remains a 
top priority. Recognizing the value of Town employees continues to be an important aspect of the budgeting 
process, and Trustees have decided to invest in staff. The Town also continues to prioritize customer service 
and Resident engagement.  

Other Information 

Independent Audit: The Town receives an annual audit of the “books”, accounts, �inancial records, and 
transactions of all administrative departments of the Town by an independent certi�ied public accountancy 
�irm, selected by the Board of Trustees. This requirement has been complied with and the independent 
auditors’ report by Hinkle & Company, P.C., has been included in this report.  

7

67



Acknowledgements: Preparing this report could not have been accomplished without the dedication of 
employees in Town Hall. Each staff member in the Administration Department, and the staff of our 
bookkeeping consultant has my earnest appreciation for the contributions made in the preparation of this 
report. I would also like to express my appreciation to Hinkle and Company, P.C., the �irm that serves as our 
external auditors. We would also like to thank the members of the Board of Trustees, the Board of Trustees 
Finance Committee, whose efforts are integral to ensuring adequate internal controls, and the Residents of 
the Town of Paonia for their interest and support in planning and conducting the �inancial operations of the 
Town in a responsible, transparent, and continuously improving manner.  Without the team effort, these 
�inancial statements and this report may not have ever been completed.   

In Public Service, 

Stefen A.B. Wynn, M.P.A. 
ICMA-CM 
Paonia Town Administrator/Treasurer 

8

68



9

69



Town of Paonia, Colorado 
List of Elected and Appointed Of�icials 

As of December 31, 2023 

Elected Of�icials – Board of Trustees 

Mary Bachran  Mayor 
Dave Knutson  Mayor Pro-Tem 
Rick Stelter  Trustee 
John Valentine  Trustee 
Paige Smith  Trustee 
Morgan MacInnis Trustee 
Kathy Swartz  Trustee 

Board Appointed Of�icials 

Stefen Wynn Town Administrator/Treasurer 
Samira Vetter Town Clerk 
Nick Cotton – Baez Town Attorney 
Julie Huffman  Municipal Judge 

Department Directors 

Cory Heiniger  Public Works Director 
Matt Laiminger Paonia Police Chief 

10

70



Honorable Mayor and Members of the Board of Trustees 
Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Paonia, Colorado 

We have audited the financial statements of the Town of Paonia, Colorado (the Town) 
as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023 and have issued our report thereon 
dated August 21, 2024.  Professional standards require that we provide you with the 
following information related to our audit. 

Our Responsibility under Generally Accepted Auditing Standards 
As communicated in our engagement letter dated May 30, 2024, our responsibility, as 
described by professional standards, is to form and express opinions about whether 
the financial statements prepared by management with your oversight are fairly 
presented, in all material respects, in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America.  Our audit of the financial statements does 
not relieve you or management of your respective responsibilities. 

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our 
audit to obtain reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit of financial statements 
includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for 
designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control 
over financial reporting.  Accordingly, as part of our audit, we considered the Town’s 
internal control over financial reporting and compliance solely for the purpose of 
designing our audit procedures, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the internal control or on compliance.  

We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that 
are, in our professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the 
financial reporting process.  However, we are not required to design procedures 
specifically to identify such matters.  

We applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information 
(RSI).  However, we did not audit the RSI and do not express an opinion or provide 
any assurance on the RSI.  With respect to the supplementary information 
accompanying the financial statements, we performed procedures to determine that 
the information complies with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America, the method of preparing the information has not changed from the 
prior year, and the information is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of 
the financial statements. 

Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence 
The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, and our firm have complied 
with all relevant ethical requirements regarding independence. 

Denver Office:
750 W. Hampden Avenue, 
Suite 400 
Englewood, 
Colorado 80110
TEL: 303.796.1000
FAX: 303.796.1001
www.HinkleCPAs.com

Office Locations:
Colorado Springs, CO
Denver, CO
Frisco, CO
Tulsa, OK

11

71



Honorable Mayor and Members of the Board of Trustees 
Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Page 2 

Significant Accounting Policies 
Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies.  A summary 
of the significant accounting policies adopted by the Town is included in Note 1 to the financial 
statements.  No new accounting policies were adopted, and the application of existing policies was 
not changed during the year, except as discussed in the following paragraph.  No matters have come 
to our attention that would require us, under professional standards, to inform you about (1) the 
methods used to account for significant unusual transactions and (2) the effect of significant 
accounting policies in controversial or emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative 
guidance or consensus. 

Accounting Estimates 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and 
are based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and 
assumptions about future events.  Those judgments are normally based on knowledge and 
experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events.  Certain accounting 
estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements and 
because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly from those 
expected.  We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the significant estimates 
in determining that they are reasonable in relation to the financial statements as a whole.  

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 
For purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to accumulate all known and 
likely misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and 
communicate them to the appropriate level of management.  Further, professional standards require 
us to also communicate the effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the 
relevant classes of transactions, account balances or disclosures, and the financial statements as a 
whole and each applicable opinion unit.  We did not have any uncorrected adjustments.  

In addition, professional standards require us to communicate to you all material, corrected 
misstatements that were brought to the attention of management as a result of our audit procedures. 
The attached schedule summarizes the financial statement adjustments we identified as a result of 
our audit procedures, were brought to the attention of, and corrected by, management. 

Disagreements with Management 
For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or 
auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial 
statements or the auditor’s report.  We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose 
during the course of our audit. 

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 
We encountered no difficulties dealing with management during the audit process. 

Representations Requested from Management 
We have requested certain written representations from management, which are included in the 
attached letter dated August 21, 2024. 

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and 
accounting matters, similar to obtaining a second opinion on certain situations.  If a consultation 

12

72



Honorable Mayor and Members of the Board of Trustees 
Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Page 3 
 
 

 

involves the application of an accounting principle to the Town’s financial statements or a 
determination of the type of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our 
professional standards require the consulting accountant to contact us to determine that the 
consultant has all the relevant facts.  To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other 
accountants.  
 
Other Audit Issues 
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and 
auditing standards, with management each year prior to retention as the Town’s auditors.  However, 
these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and the responses 
were not a condition to our retention. 
 
Conclusion 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Honorable Mayor and Members of 
the Board of Trustees and management of the Town of Paonia, Colorado and is not intended to be, 
and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties.  
 
 
 
Englewood, Colorado 
August 21, 2024 
 
 
 

13

73



Client: PAO5010 - Paonia, Town of
Engagement: AUD 2023 - Town of Paonia, Colorado
Period Ending: 12/31/2023
Trial Balance: 02-01 - Government Fund Trial Balance
Workpaper: 04-01 - AJEs
Fund Level: All
Index: All

Account Description Debit Credit

0161-60 CIP 81,787.00
0164-70 COLLECT SYSTEM 754,167.00
59-90-60 DEPRECIATION 298,677.00
59-90-70 DEPRECIATION 124,652.00
59-90-80 DEPRECIATION 18,207.00
0173-60 ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION 298,677.00
0173-70 ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION 124,652.00
0173-80 ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION 18,207.00
50-20-60 LEGAL, ENGINEERING & PROF SVCS 81,787.00
51-22-70 REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 754,167.00
0172-80 EQUIPMENT
0280-80 FUND BALANCE

Total 1,277,490.00 1,277,490.00

50-16-60 OPERATING SUPPLIES 10,599.00
51-16-70 OPERATING SUPPLIES 1,453.00
0150-70 INVENTORY OF SUPPLIES 1,453.00
0152-60 INVENTORY OF SUPPLIES 10,599.00

Total 12,052.00 12,052.00

0172-80 EQUIPMENT
0280-80 FUND BALANCE

Total 0.00 0.00

0100-22 CASH IN COMBINED CASH FUND 538,000.00
45-99-10 TRANSFERS 192,000.00
70-99-50 Transfers 346,000.00
0100-10 CASH IN COMBINED CASH FUND 192,000.00
0100-50 CASH IN COMBINED CASH FUND 346,000.00
45-99-22 TRANSFERS 192,000.00
45-99-22 TRANSFERS 346,000.00

Total 1,076,000.00 1,076,000.00

0186-01 PARK, LAND & STRUCTURES 37,752.00
46-22-01 Capitalized Expenses 37,752.00

Total 37,752.00 37,752.00

To record addition of FA in Governmental funds (PBC)

Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 103
To post immaterial PBC as a PPA for 2022 F250 vehicle placed in service.(PBC)

Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 104
to record transfer as PBC (PBC)

Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 105

Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 101
Record Biz asset activity

Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 102
To adjust inventory

Adjusting Journal Entries

1 of 2

14

74



60-04-01 COMPENSATED ABSENCES 4.00
0280-01 FUND BALANCE 4.00

Total 4.00 4.00

Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 106
To adjust for rounding

2 of 2

15

75



Town of Paonia, Colorado 

Financial Statements 
with Independent Auditor’s Report 

December 31, 2023 

16

76



Independent Auditor’s Report 

Honorable Mayor and Members of the Board of Trustees 
Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Paonia, Colorado 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinions 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental 
activities, business-type activities and each major fund of the Town of Paonia, 
Colorado (the Town) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023, and the 
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the basic 
financial statements of the Town, as listed in the table of contents.  

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, 
business-type activities and each major fund of the Town as of December 31, 
2023, and the respective changes in financial position and cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America.  

Basis for Opinions 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial 
audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States.  Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report.  We are required to be independent of the Town 
and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant 
ethical requirements relating to our audit.  We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
The Town’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation 
of these financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.  

Denver Office:
750 W. Hampden Avenue, 
Suite 400 
Englewood, 
Colorado 80110
TEL: 303.796.1000
FAX: 303.796.1001
www.HinkleCPAs.com

Office Locations:
Colorado Springs, CO
Denver, CO
Frisco, CO
Tulsa, OK

17

77



Honorable Mayor and Members of the Board of Trustees 
Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Page 2 
 
 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinions.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not 
absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
GAAS and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists.  The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  Misstatements are considered material if 
there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the 
judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.  
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we:  
 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 
audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.  
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town’s internal control.  Accordingly, no 
such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the 
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Town’s ability to continue as a going 
concern for a reasonable period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal 
control-related matters that we identified during the audit. 

18

78



Honorable Mayor and Members of the Board of Trustees 
Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Page 3 

Other Matters 
Required Supplementary Information 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the required 
supplementary information listed in the table of contents be presented to supplement the basic 
financial statements.  Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is 
required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential 
part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, 
economic, or historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to the information in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which 
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and 
comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the 
basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic 
financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information 
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion 
or provide any assurance. 

Other Information 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the Town’s basic financial statements.  The supplementary information and 
the local highway finance report listed in the table of contents are presented for purposes of 
additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.  Such information 
is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.  The information 
has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling the 
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic 
financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional 
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America.  In our opinion, the information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the 
basic financial statements as a whole. 

Englewood, Colorado 
August 21, 2024

19

79



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited) Town of Paonia, Colorado 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
As management of the Town of Paonia, we offer readers of the Town of Paonia’s Financial Statements this 
narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities and performance of the Town of Paonia for 
Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2023. The Town’s financial performance is discussed and analyzed within 
the context of the accompanying financial statements and disclosures following this section. We 
encourage readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with additional information 
provided in the financial statements.  

Financial Highlights 

 The Town’s assets and deferred outflows of resources exceeded its liabilities and deferred 
inflows of resources by $16,877,664 (net position) for the fiscal year reported. 

 Total net position is comprised of the following: 

(1) Net investment in capital assets of $11,625,096 include property, plant(s), equipment, and 
infrastructure such as roads, bridges, sidewalks, distribution and collections systems, and
similar items, net accumulated depreciation, and reduced for outstanding debt related to
the purchase of construction of capital assets.

(2) Net position of $796,616 are restricted by constraints imposed from outside the Town
such as debt covenants, grantors, laws, or regulations.

(3) Unrestricted, unreserved net position of $4,455,952 represents the portion available to
maintain the Town’s continuing obligations to Residents and creditors.

 The Town’s governmental funds, comprised of the General Fund, Sales Tax Capital Improvement 
Fund, and Non-Major Funds, reported total ending fund balance of $2,804,139 this year. This 
compares to the prior year ending fund balance of $2,471,248 showing an increase of $332,891 
during the current year.  

 At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balance for the General Fund was $909,507 
or 51% of total General Fund expenditures and other financing uses; unassigned fund balance for 
the Sales Tax Capital Improvement Fund was $90,084 or 298% of total Sales Tax Capital 
Improvement Fund expenditures and other financing uses; and the unassigned fund balance for 
Non-Major Funds was $1,054,556 or 527% of total Non-Major Funds expenditures and other 
financing uses.   

The above financial highlights are explained in more detail in the “financial analysis” section of this 
document.  

Overview of the Financial Statements 

This Management Discussion and Analysis document introduces the Town’s basic financial statements. 
The basic financial statements include: (1) government-wide financial statements, (2) fund financial 
statements, and (3) notes to the basic financial statements. The Town also includes in this report  

20

80



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited)  Town of Paonia, Colorado 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023 

 

 
 

 

additional information to supplement the basic financial statements. Comparative data is presented 
where available.  

Government-wide Financial Statements 

The Town’s annual report includes two government-wide financial statements. These statements provide 
both long-term and short-term information about the Town’s overall financial status. Financial reporting 
at this level uses a perspective like that found in the private sector with its basis in accrual accounting and 
elimination of reclassification of activities between funds.  

The first of these government-wide statements is the Statement of Net Position. This is the government-
wide statement of position presenting information that includes all the Town’s assets and deferred 
outflows of resources and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, with the difference reported as net 
position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the 
financial position of the Town is improving or deteriorating. Evaluation of the overall health of the Town 
would extend to other nonfinancial factors such as diversification of the taxpayer base or the condition of 
the Town’s infrastructure, in addition to the financial information provided in this report.  

The second government-wide statement is the Statement of Activities, which reports how the Town’s net 
position changed during the current fiscal year. All current year revenues and expenses are included 
regardless of when cash is received or paid. An important purpose of the design of the statement of 
activities is to show the financial reliance of the Town’s distinct activities or functions on revenues 
provided by the Town’s taxpayers. Both government-wide financial statements distinguish governmental 
activities of the Town that are principally supported by sales tax and from business-type activities that 
are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges. 
Governmental activities include general government, public safety, public works, parks and recreation, 
and community services (building & zoning). Business-type activities include the water and sewer 
systems, and solid waste.  

The government-wide financial statements are presented on pages 4 through 5 of the Financial 
Statements included with this report.  

Fund Financial Statements 

A fund is an accountability unit used to maintain control over resources segregated for specific activities 
or objectives. The Town uses funds to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related laws and 
regulations. Within the basic financial statements, fund financial statements focus on the Town’s most 
significant funds rather than the Town as a whole. Major funds are separately reported while all others 
are combined into a single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for nonmajor funds is provided 
in the form of combining statements in a later section of this report.  

The Town has two kinds of funds:  

Governmental Funds are reported in the fund financial statements and encompass the same functions 
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, the focus is 
very different with fund statements providing a distinctive view of the Town’s governmental funds. These 
statements report short-term fiscal accountability focusing on the use of spendable resources and 
balances of spendable resources available at the end of the year. They are useful in evaluating annual  

21

81



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited)  Town of Paonia, Colorado 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023 

 

 
 

 

financing requirements of governmental programs and the commitment of spendable resources for the 
near-term.  

Since the government-wide focus includes the long-range view, comparisons between these two 
perspectives may provide insight into the long-range impact of short-range financing decisions. Both the  

governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund operating statement provide a 
reconciliation to assist in understanding the differences between these two perspectives.  

The basic governmental fund financial statements are presented on pages 6 through 9 of the Financial 
Statements included with this report. Individual fund information for nonmajor governmental funds is 
found in combining statements in the supplementary section of this report.  

Proprietary Funds are reported in the fund financial statements and generally report services for which 
the Town charges a fee. The town maintains one type of proprietary fund. Enterprise Funds are used to 
report the same functions presented in business-type activities in the government-wide financial 
statements. The Town uses enterprise funds for its water and sewer systems, and sanitation (trash).  

The basic enterprise fund financial statements are presented on pages 10 through 13 of the Financial 
Statements included with this report. There are no nonmajor enterprise funds, but if there were, 
individual fund information for nonmajor enterprise funds are found in the combining statements of the 
supplementary section of this report.  

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

The accompanying notes to the financial statements provide information essential to a full understanding 
of the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the financial statements begin on 
page 13 of the Financial Statements included with this report. 

Required Supplementary Information 

In addition to the basic financial statements, this report also presents certain required supplementary 
information (RSI) on the Town’s budgetary comparison schedule for the general fund; Schedule of 
Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance for the Sales Tax Capital Improvement Fund; 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance for the Conservation Trust Fund; and 
the Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance for the Street Capital Improvement 
Fund. These statements and schedules demonstrate compliance with the Town’s adopted and final 
revised budget. The required supplementary information is on pages 37 to 41 of the Financial Statements 
included with this report.  

Supplementary Information 

As discussed, the Town reports major funds in the basic financial statements. Combining and individual 
statements and schedules for nonmajor funds can be found in the supplementary section of the Financial 
Statements included with this report beginning on page 42 and ending on page 48.  

 

22

82



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited) Town of Paonia, Colorado 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023 

Government-wide Financial Analysis 

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial 
position. The Town’s assets and deferred outflows of resources at fiscal year-end 2023 exceeded liabilities 

and deferred inflows of resources by $16,877,664, a 3.26% increase over fiscal year-end 2022.  The 
following table on the next page provides a summary of the Town’s net position. 

By far the largest portion of the Town’s net position, 69%, reflects its investment in capital assets, 
including infrastructure, less any related debt used to acquire those assets that are still outstanding. The 
Town of Paonia uses these capital assets to provide services to Residents; consequently, these assets are 
not available for future spending. Although the Town of Paonia’s investment in its capital assets is 
reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the funds needed to pay the annual debt service must 

Assets:

Current and other assets
Capital assets

Total assets

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Related to Pensions

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources

Liabilities: 

Other Liabilities
Long-term Liabilities 

Total Liabilities

Deferred inflows of resources
Property taxes
Deferred inflows of resources
Related to pensions deferred inflows

Total deferred inflows of resources

Net Position:
Net investments

in capital assets
Restricted
Unresetricted

Total net position

73,573           

3,356,167$   
3,029,174     

6,385,341     

3,160,323$   
3,192,071     

6,352,394     

70,002           

2,979,802     
113,420         

2,707,497     

5,800,719$   

-                  
79,980           

239,947         

418,248         

159,967         

410,266         
7,982              

413,615         

146,513         

395,648         
17,967           

3,116,199     
113,371         

2,551,796     

5,781,366$   

-                  
80,902           

227,415         

5,938,099$   
12,163,997   14,931,278   

Total

2023 2022

Business-Type Activities

2023 2022

14,857,546   

-                  

Statement of Net Position

2,693,549$   2,777,776$   6,049,716$   

70,002           73,573           

Governmental Activities

2023 2022

-                  

261,898         
3,518,703     

3,780,601     

-                  -                  

268,111         

11,076,945$ 

11,739,207   

14,516,983   

-                  

8,645,294     
683,196         

1,748,455     

-                  
-                  
-                  

10,561,962$ 

15,193,171   

21,242,887   

73,573           

73,573           

8,052,297     
648,538         

1,861,127     

-                  
-                  
-                  
-                  

3,694,766     

3,962,877     

16,877,664$ 

-                  
79,980           

239,947         

4,198,849     

159,967         

20,869,377   

70,002           

11,625,096   
796,616         

4,455,952     

672,164         
3,526,685     

663,759         
3,712,733     

4,376,492     

70,002           

16,343,328$ 

11,168,496   
761,909         

4,412,923     

146,513         
-                  

80,902           
227,415         

23

83



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited)  Town of Paonia, Colorado 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023 

 

 
 

 

be provided from other sources (service fees, utility rate increases, etc.), since the capital assets 
themselves cannot be used to pay the debt.  

At the end of the current fiscal year, the Town of Paonia is able to report positive balances in the 
government as a whole, as well as for both its governmental activities and business-type activities.  

All activities and functions of the Town showed positive growth. Net position increased $19,353 for 
governmental activities, and for business-type activities the net position increased $514,983. The Town’s 
overall financial position improved during fiscal year 2023.  

The following table provides a summary of the Town’s changes in net position:  

 

 

Revenues:
Program:

Charges for services
Operating Grants
Capital Grants

General:
Taxes
Other

Total revenues

Program Expenses:
General Government
Public Safety
Public Works
Culture and Recreation
Water Operations
Sewer Operations
Trash

Total Expenses

Excess 

Transfers

Change in Net Position

Beginning Net Position

Ending Net Position

1,077,484     
409,659         
278,871         

1,123,494     
582,910         
302,265         

1,077,484     
409,659         
278,871         

-                  
-                  
-                  

861,951         
492,596         
154,487         

861,951         
492,596         
154,487         

507,341         
300,175         
164,329         

1,123,494     
582,910         
302,265         

157,083         
-                  

234,482         
-                  

246,084         120,769         27,479           34,888           280,972         148,248         

49,866           
-                  

137,798         
-                  

184,616         
-                  

5,800,719     5,781,366     11,076,945   10,561,962   16,877,664   16,343,328   

5,781,366     4,985,086     10,561,962   10,198,914   16,343,328   15,184,000   

19,353           796,280         514,983         363,048         534,336         1,159,328     

-                  (35,997)          -                  35,997           -                  -                  

19,353           832,277         514,983         327,051         534,336         1,159,328     

2,115,548     1,314,983     2,008,669     1,766,014     4,124,217     3,080,997     

606,514         343,138         -                  -                  606,514         343,138         
507,341         
300,175         
164,329         

-                  
-                  
-                  

-                  
-                  
-                  

-                  
-                  
-                  

2,134,901     2,147,260     2,523,652     2,093,065     4,658,553     4,240,325     

1,639,806     1,783,051     -                  -                  1,639,806     1,783,051     

2,580,692$   2,074,544$   
19,285           

-                  

229,726$       193,574$       2,350,966$   1,880,970$   

Summary of Changes in Net Position
Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

24

84



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited) Town of Paonia, Colorado
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023 

GOVERNMENTAL REVENUES

The Town is heavily reliant on ad valorem (property), sales, use, and occupational taxes to support 
governmental operations. Town sales and use taxes account for 77% of the revenues for governmental 
activities. This is a decrease of 7.5% over fiscal year 2022 and may be the result of certain economic 
factors that affected the Western Slope of Colorado such as the closure of Highway 133 due to washout. 

In fiscal year 2023, the Town saw a decrease in tourism over 2022 with access to major annual tourism 
events significantly hampered by highway closures, and in turn caused less sales tax revenue to be 
generated. However, because of the Town’s healthy financial position, management has been able to earn 
$165,348 in interest earnings to support governmental activities related to the Federal Reserve raising 
interest rates in 2022. This is an increase of 545% over the interest income for governmental activities in 
fiscal year 2022, which was $25,604. Management for the Town also invested and earned interest in its 
business-type activities and earned $34,746 at fiscal year-end 2023, which is an increase of 208% over 
year end for fiscal year 2022, which was $11,264.   

The total interest earnings between governmental activities and business-type activities of $200,094 is 
an increase of $163,226 from the interest earnings of fiscal year 2022, which was $36,868. Program 
revenues covered 11% of governmental operating expenses in 2023, which is a 27% decrease of charges 
for services (program revenues) from 2022, which was 15%. This means that the Town relied more 
heavily on taxes and other revenues to cover the expenses of providing primary government services in 
fiscal year 2023 than it did in fiscal year 2022. The government’s taxpayers and the Town’s other general 
revenues funded the balance of the governmental activities such as services offered from public safety 
and parks and recreation. As a result, the general economy and local businesses have a major impact on 
the Town’s revenue streams. Program revenues for fiscal year 2022 covered 4.55% more of governmental 
operating expenses than that of fiscal year 2021. 

The graph below shows governmental revenues by source: 

25

85



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited)  Town of Paonia, Colorado 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023 

 

 
 

 

GOVERNMENTAL FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES 

Public safety comprises 40.7% of the Town’s total expenses, which is an increase from 2022. The increase 
to Public Safety spending is due to the department being fully staffed. Culture (Parks) and Recreation 
make up 7.3% of the Town’s total governmental activities expenses. General Government, comprised of 
Administration, Clerk, Building, Finance and Community Development functions, make up 28.7% of the 
Town’s total governmental activities expenses.  Public Works make up 23.3% of the Town’s total 
governmental activities expenses. While most expense categories were similar to fiscal year 2022, Public 
Safety, General Government and Public Works all changed significantly, due to being fully staffed through 
most of the fiscal year.  

The overall increase in expenses was 61% over the prior fiscal year. In 2023, the efforts to return to and 
improve regular operations along with staffing changes, including payouts for terminations, hiring 
additional staff, and paying for consultancies for various functions are likely causes of the increase. 

The following table presents the cost of each of the Town’s programs, including the net costs (e.g. total 
cost less revenues generated by the activities). The net costs show the financial burden that was placed 
on the Town’s taxpayers by each of these functions. Page 9 of the financial statements describes the 
Town’s Statement of Activities for fiscal year 2023, and should be read to understand this section.  

 

 

The Culture and Recreation function has the best cost recovery of 43.8%, due mostly to utilizing the 
Conservation Trust Fund for improvements, repairs and maintenance of the robust parks and trail 
network that the Town enjoys. The General Government function has the second-best cost recovery at 
21% as shown in the chart on the next page as well as visualized in the graph below it. Permit fees and 
application fees are set to recover most of the expenses associated with community development, building 
and licensing services. The Town received operating grants to help reduce the cost of providing services 
for both Public Works and Public Safety in fiscal year 2023. While these program revenues can vary in 
any given year, the corresponding acquisition of assets does not appear as a program expense. For that 
reason, program revenues can fluctuate dramatically from year to year depending on the amount of 
capital grants and contributions received.  

General Government
Public Safety
Public Works
Culture and Recreation

Total

Governmental Activities

Total Cost 
of Services

Percentage 
of Total

Net Cost     
of Services

Percentage 
of Total

2,115,548$   100.0% 1,866,537$   100.0%

154,487         7.3% 86,787           4.6%

606,514$       28.7% 476,789$       25.5%

492,596         23.3% 452,886         24.3%
861,951         40.7% 850,075         45.5%

26

86



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited) Town of Paonia, Colorado
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023 

General Government
Public Safety
Public Works
Culture and Recreation

Total (2,105,548)$ 249,011$      (1,856,537)$ 11.8%

(154,487)      67,700          (86,787)         43.8%
(482,596)      39,710          (442,886)      8.2%
(861,951)      11,876          (850,075)      1.4%
(606,514)$    129,725$      (476,789)$    21.4%

 Program 
Revenues 

 Total Cost 
of Services 

 Net Cost     
of Services 

 Percent 
Recovered 

Governmental Activities                                                                    
Cost Recovery

27

87



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited) Town of Paonia, Colorado
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

BUSINESS – TYPE ACTIVITIES

For the year ending December 31, 2023, the Town reported all enterprise funds as major funds. Business-
type activities increased the Town’s net position by $514,983. Key elements of business-type (enterprise) 
activities net position are as follows: 

The operating revenues for all the enterprise funds were 20% greater than fiscal year 2023, due to 
Resolution 2022-15 raising water rates, Resolution 2022-14 raising garbage rates, and Ordinance 2022-
08 raising Wastewater Rates. Operating expenses for all enterprise funds were 15% more than in fiscal 
year 2022. Within the total business-type activities of the Town, these activities reported an operating 
income of $566,169 compared to an operating income of $400,197 for the prior year. Non-operating 
expenses decreased by $3,378 over fiscal year 2022. Capital contributions for 2023 were $100. Capital 
contributions include tap fees, developer contributions of capital assets, and capital grants. 

The graph below shows that the business-type activities rely on fees to pay operating costs. This is stark 
in contrast to the governmental activities. 

The water utility accounts for approximately 51% of operating revenues and 56% of operating expenses. 
This utility reported a net increase in net position of $146,173. The water utility had an operating income 
of $199,905 and $100 in capital contributions. The water utility had a 1% decrease in revenues and an 
increase of 3.5% in operating expenses, which is attributed to higher expenditures on professional 
services such as design engineering for the First Phase of the Water Capital Improvement Plan. 

28

88



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited) Town of Paonia, Colorado
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

For the sewer utility fund, operating expenses increased 51% over the prior year. Operating revenues saw
an increase of 64% over the prior year. Net operating income for 2023 was $343,126 in comparison to 
$178,370 in 2022. 

Trash made up 13% of operating revenues for all enterprise funds compared to 16% of operating 
expenses. Net operating income for 2023 was $23,138, which is a redirection from 2022 when the fund 
experienced a loss of operating income ($29,334). The ending net position of $279,599 brings the Trash 
Fund to a better ending position than both 2022 and 2021. This fund has corrected course and is 
experiencing an increase in net position that brings it closer to ending position for the end of fiscal year 
2020. 

The graph below shows the relative size of the funds that make up the Enterprise Funds (Business-Type 
Activities): 

Financial Analysis of the Town’s Funds

Governmental Funds

As mentioned earlier, governmental funds are reported in the fund statements with a focus on short-term, 
inflow and outflow of spendable resources. This information is useful in assessing resources available at 
the end of the year in comparison with upcoming financial requirements. Governmental funds reported 
ending fund balances of $2,804,139. Approximately, $749,992 of the year-end total governmental fund 
balance is restricted, committed, or assigned fund balance.

29

89



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited) Town of Paonia, Colorado 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023 

The total ending fund balances of governmental funds show an increase of $332,891 over the prior year. 
This increase is primarily the result of transfers from the General Fund and the Sales Tax and Capital 
Improvement Fund into the Non-Major Funds. The transfers are most likely due to projects that were not 
completed during the year and are expected to be complete in fiscal year 2024.   

Major Governmental Funds 

The General Fund:  

The General Fund is the Town’s primary operating fund and the largest source of day-to-day service 
delivery. The General Fund’s fund balance decreased by $252,800 after two years of increases, $463,510 
in fiscal year 2022, and $417,214 in fiscal year 2021. The decrease in the General Fund’s fund balance is 
primarily due to several unplanned expenditures including hiring an interim administrator consulting 
firm, hiring a new administrator, hiring a third-party bookkeeper, and accrued time payouts for 
terminations.  

Total revenues for 2023 were $1,709,015 an increase of $50,525 or 3% over 2022. All tax revenues 
decreased in 2023 compared to 2022. Due to the Town’s healthy financial position and the Federal 
Reserve raising interest rates in late 2022, the Town’s investments saw a significant increase in 
investment income. The remaining revenue sources were comparable with the prior year.  

Expenditures for 2023 were $1,769,815, an increase of 48% over fiscal year 2022. This reflects an effort 
to hire key management employees and fully-staff departments within the Town, as well as hiring third-
party consultancies to assist with financial management and interim management.  

General government expenditures increased 87% overall when compared to the previous year. Again, this 
was due to the hiring of third-party consultants for both financial bookkeeping and interim management. 

Total public safety actual expenditures saw a 26% increase in spending over the previous year. This is 
primarily due to the efforts of management to provide new equipment that promotes officer safety and 
hiring more employees to become fully staffed.  

Public works expenditures increased 47% as compared to fiscal year 2022, and Culture and Recreation 
expenditures increased 22% over 2022. These increases in expenditures are largely due to hiring efforts 
and investing in tools and equipment necessary for Public Works to perform their functions.  

The general fund transferred $192,000 to non-major funds, and the Sales Tax Capital Improvement Fund 
transferred $346,000 to Non-Major Funds. This amount varies based on available resources in any given 
year and Town staff’s capacity to administer additional projects.  

The Proprietary Funds 

The proprietary fund statements share the same focus as the government-wide statements, reporting 
both short-term and long-term information about financial status.  

30

90



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited)  Town of Paonia, Colorado 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023 

 

 
 

 

Budgetary Highlights 

The General Fund – The Fiscal Year 2023 Budget had one amendment, Resolution 2023-18. The 
amendment increased the appropriation in the General Fund by $200,000 due to lower than anticipated 
revenue, and within the Wastewater/Sewer Fund by $1,200,000 due to unexpected, emergency repairs.  
The final fiscal year 2023 budget included $2,035,213 in expected revenues, the actual revenues for fiscal 
year 2023 were $1,709,015 for a negative variance of $326,198.  

Investment earnings increased significantly from original estimates because of higher than anticipated 
interest rates and the increase in revenues resulting in more funds to invest.  

The final general fund budget for expenditures had a favorable variance of $105,252, due to amending the 
general fund budget and pulling cash from reserves to make up the deficit from lost sales tax revenue.  

Capital Assets and Debt Administration 

Capital Assets 

The Town’s net investments in capital assets, for governmental and business-type activities as of 
December 31, 2023, depreciated to $2,979,802 (governmental activities) which is 4% less than in 2022, 
and increased to $8,645,294 (business-type activities) which is 7% more than 2022.  

 

The following table provides a summary of capital asset activity: 

 

Non-Depreciable Assets:
Land and Water Rights
Improvements/CIP

Total Non-Depreciable

Depreciable Assets:
Buildings
Improvements (not buildings)
Infrastructure
Equipment
Distribution Systems
Collection Systems
Vehicles and Equipment
Treatment Plant
Software

Total Depreciable Assets

Less accumulated depreciation

Percentage Depreciated

Total Capital Assets, Net

4,187,566            
1,679,685            

535,816                
12,175,799          

22,514                   

4,187,566            
925,517                
535,816                

12,175,799          
-                          

4,187,566            
1,679,685            

535,816                
12,175,799          

4,187,566            
925,517                
535,816                

12,175,799          
-                          22,514                   

-                          
-                          
-                          
-                          
-                          

-                          
-                          
-                          
-                          
-                          

3,029,174.00$   3,192,071.00$   12,163,997.00$ 11,747,063.00$ 15,193,171.00$ 14,939,134.00$ 

49% 40% 40% 47% 41% 46%

(2,701,885)          (2,501,236)          (7,353,327)          (6,911,792)          (10,055,212)        (9,413,028)          

5,484,578            5,446,826            18,601,380          17,824,698          24,085,958          23,271,524          

1,042,874            1,042,874            -                          -                          1,042,874            1,042,874            
3,152,517            3,152,517            -                          -                          3,152,517            3,152,517            

585,541                547,789                -                          -                          585,541                547,789                
703,646                703,646                -                          -                          703,646                703,646                

246,481                246,481                915,944                834,157                1,162,425            1,080,638            

246,481$             246,481$             834,157$             834,157$             1,080,638$          1,080,638$          
-                          -                          81,787                   -                          81,787                   -                          

Capital Assets
Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

31

91



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited)  Town of Paonia, Colorado 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023 

 

 
 

 
On December 31, 2023, the depreciable capital assets for governmental activities were 49% depreciated. 
This is 9% higher than in fiscal year 2022 and is due to lack of investment in existing buildings such as 
Town Hall and the Public Works Annex. This comparison indicates that the Town needs to invest in repairs 
and improvements to existing facilities or invest in new buildings to stay at a comparable rate to 
depreciation. Experiencing multiple years of depreciation outpacing investment in assets is a negative 
indicator and will need to be corrected.  
 
With the Town’s business-type activities, 40% of the depreciable capital assets were depreciated on 
December 31, 2023, comparable to 47% on December 31, 2022. This is a positive indicator that the Town 
is investing in its business-type activities and that investment is outpacing depreciation. However, most 
of the improvements were related to emergency repairs to the town’s Wastewater Collections system, and 
ought to be planned instead of waiting until critical failure.  
 
Overall, the Town’s capital assets are depreciated at 41%, which is less than 2022 and demonstrates the 
Town’s continuing investment in capital.  
 
Long-term Debt 
 
At the end of fiscal year 2023, the Town only had long-term debt transactions for the governmental 
activities related to compensated absences. Compensated absences made up $25,736 of the Town’s total 
long-term debt. Compensated absences are listed as long-term debt since they are recorded only when 
payment is due, and they were accrued in 2023, but will be paid out in a subsequent year (usually up to 
the discretion of the employee that accrued them). The Town currently has no General Obligation debt 
which allows the Town to use its tax revenues for providing services and programs to its Residents rather 
than unconditionally pledging it to pay interest and principal on debt.  
 
Business activities and the enterprise funds encompass the debt for the Town of Paonia and includes the 
Sewer Plant, the One-Million Gallon Water Plant (Clock Plant), the Two-Million Gallon Water Plant 
(Lamborn Plant), and the improvements to the water distribution system.  
 
The following table provides a summary of long-term debt activity.  
 

 
 
 
See note 5 for additional information about the Town’s long-term debt. 
 
 

% 
Change

CWRPDA Loan -16%
WPA Loan -8%
2020 Revenue Refunding Bonds -5%
Lease Financing Equipment New Debt
Compensated Absences 18%

Total -6%

-                 -                 -                 22,514          -                 22,514           

17,967         21,814         4,120,582    4,383,214   4,138,549    4,405,028    

17,967         21,814         7,769             -                 25,736           21,814          

2,063,868   1,903,310    2,063,868    
-                 -                 2,058,600    2,167,100   2,058,600    

152,246$     -$              -$              128,389$     152,246$    128,389$     

2,167,100    
-                 -                 1,903,310    

Outstanding Borrowings

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

32

92



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited) Town of Paonia, Colorado 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023 

Economic Conditions and Next Year’s Budget 

Financially, 2023 showed decreases over previous years. Sales and Use, and occupational taxes, which are 
economic indicators for tourism and spending, decreased by 7.5% over fiscal year 2022. The loss of sales 
and use tax is most likely due to Highway 133 being closed during the peak of tourism season which 
reduced the amount of traffic through Town.  

The Town is a certified Creative District for the state of Colorado and has developed into a regional 
tourism destination. The Town hosts music and festivals in its largest park that brings many people from 
around the state to visit. The Town benefits from optimal growing conditions for organic farms and is 
recognized as a viticultural destination by the state. Maintaining these certifications and designations is 
paramount to continuing to grow the Town’s economy. Industry in Town changed significantly during the 
early 2000’s due to coal mine closures, and the Town successfully utilized the North Fork Valley to 
reinvent its industry for organic farming and winemaking.  

A serious issue facing residents in Paonia is the lack of affordable housing options, which is exacerbated 
by a lack of year-round jobs due to the seasonally dependent industries of the Town. The Town also 
enacted a water moratorium in 2020 with certain criteria that must be met in order lift it. The moratorium 
has limited growth and is a contributing factor for the lack of affordable housing. The 2024 budget was 
prepared with these conditions in mind, while continuing to fund services for residents and visitors alike. 

Contacting the Town’s Financial Management 

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Town’s finances and fiscal health, 
compliance with finance-related laws and regulations, and demonstrate the Town’s commitment to public 
accountability and transparency. If you have questions about this report or would like to request 
additional information, please contact the Town Administrator and Treasurer, 214 Grand Avenue, Paonia, 
CO 81428.  

33

93



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited) Town of Paonia, Colorado 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023 

34

94



Basic Financial Statements 

35

95



Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,347,613 $ 1,531,648     $ 3,879,261     

Cash and cash equivalents - restricted 631,028 683,196 1,314,224     

Property Taxes Receivable 159,967 - 159,967

Accounts Receivable, net 159,952 360,475 520,427

Due from other governments 57,607 - 57,607

Inventories - 118,230 118,230

Capital Assets, not being depreciated 246,481        915,944 1,162,425     
Capital Assets, net of accumulated depreciation 2,782,693 11,248,053 14,030,746   

Total Assets 6,385,341     14,857,546   21,242,887   

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Deferred Outflows Due to Pensions 73,573 - 73,573

Liabilities

Accounts Payable 42,188          27,048 69,236          

Accrued Payroll Liabilities 29,873 21,620 51,493          

Accrued interest payable - 28,614 28,614          

Unearned Revenue 320,000 184,616 504,616        

Net Pension Liability 18,205 - 18,205

Noncurrent Liabilities

Due Within One Year 798 216,804 217,602

Due in More Than One Year 7,184 3,301,899     3,309,083     

Total Liabilities 418,248        3,780,601     4,198,849     

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Deferred Inflows Due to Pensions 79,980 - 79,980

Unavailable Revenue - Property Taxes 159,967 - 159,967

Total Deferred inflows of resources 239,947        - 239,947

Net Position

Net Investment in Capital Assets 2,979,802     8,645,294     11,625,096   

Restricted for:

Emergencies (TABOR) 53,228          - 53,228

Debt Service - 683,196 683,196

Streets Improvements 60,192          - 60,192

Unrestricted, unreserved 2,707,497 1,748,455 4,455,952

Total Net Position $ 5,800,719 $ 11,076,945 $ 16,877,664

Activities Activities Total

Governmental Business-Type

Town of Paonia, Colorado
Statement of Net Position

December 31, 2023

Primary Government

See Notes to the Financial Statements.

36

96



Primary Government
Governmental Activities
General Government $ 606,514     $ 129,725 $ - $ (476,789)       $ - $ (476,789)       
Public Safety 861,951 3,631 8,245 (850,075)       - (850,075)
Public Works 492,596     28,670 11,040 (452,886)       - (452,886)
Culture and Recreation 154,487     67,700 - (86,787) - (86,787)

Total Governmental Activities 2,115,548  229,726    19,285      (1,866,537)    - (1,866,537)

Business-Type Activities
Water Operations 1,123,494  1,269,525 - - 146,031        146,031        
Sewer Operations 582,910     756,038    137,798    - 310,926 310,926        
Trash Water 302,265     325,403    - - 23,138 23,138          

Total Business-Type Activities 2,008,669  2,350,966 137,798    - 480,095 480,095        

Total Primary Government $ 4,124,217 $ 2,580,692 $ 157,083 (1,866,537) 480,095 (1,386,442)

General Revenues
Taxes

Property 172,050 - 172,050
Specific ownership 24,006 - 24,006
General sales 1,233,964 - 1,233,964
Franchise 110,218 - 110,218
Occupancy 97,330 - 97,330
Other 2,238 - 2,238

Investment Income 165,348        34,746          200,094
Capital Contributions - Tap Fees - 100 100
Proceeds from the Sale of Assets - 42 42
Misc. 80,736 - 80,736

Total General Revenues and Transfers 1,885,890     34,888          1,920,778     

Change in Net Position 19,353          514,983        534,336        

Net Position, Beginning of year 5,781,366 10,561,962 16,343,328

Net Position, End of year $ 5,800,719 $ 11,076,945 $ 16,877,664

Town of Paonia, Colorado
Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Net (Expense) Revenue and Change in Net Position

Governmental
Activities

Business-Type
Activities

Operating Primary Government

Total

Program Revenues

Functions/Programs Expenses Services
Charges for Grants and

Contributions

See Notes to the Financial Statements.

37

97



Sales Tax 

Capital

Fund
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Unrestricted $ 795,169 $ 500,524 $ 1,051,920 $ 2,347,613     

Restricted 631,028 - - 631,028        

Accounts receivable 157,316 - - 157,316        

Taxes receivable - - 2,636 2,636            

Property taxes receivable 159,967 - - 159,967        

Due from other governments - 57,607 57,607          

Total Assets $ 1,743,480 $ 558,131 $ 1,054,556 $ 3,356,167

Liabilities

Accounts Payable $ 42,188 $ - $ - $ 42,188          

Accrued payroll 29,873 - - 29,873          

Unearned Revenue 320,000 - - 320,000        

Total Liabilities 392,061       - - 392,061        

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Property Taxes 159,967 - - 159,967        

Fund Balance

Restricted for:

Emergencies (TABOR) 53,228         - - 53,228          

Airport Capital Improvements - 60,192 - 60,192

Committed

Bridge reserve 228,717       - - 228,717

Capital Acquisition - 407,855 - 407,855

Unassigned 909,507       90,084 1,054,556 2,054,147

Total Fund Balance 1,191,452    558,131    1,054,556 2,804,139     

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows
of Resources, and Fund Balance $ 1,743,480    $ 558,131    $ 1,054,556 $ 3,356,167     

Total

Governmental Funds

General  Improvement 

FundsFund

Town of Paonia, Colorado
Balance Sheet

December 31, 2023

Major Funds

Non-Major

See Notes to the Financial Statements.

38

98



Sales Tax

Capital

Fund

Revenues

Taxes $ 1,269,394 $ 270,043 $ 100,369        $ 1,639,806     

Licenses and Permits 48,285 - 32,726 81,011          

Intergovernmental 142,037 15,087 - 157,124

Investment Income 165,337 - - 165,337

Fines and Forfeitures 10,876 - - 10,876          

Miscellaneous 73,086 7,650 10 80,746          

Total Revenues 1,709,015     292,780        133,105        2,134,900     

Expenditures

Current

General Government 591,474 - - 591,474        

Public Safety 676,742 - - 676,742        

Public Works 296,187 - - 296,187        

Culture and Recreation 167,662 - 2,000 169,662        

Capital Outlay 37,750 30,194 - 67,944

Total Expenditures 1,769,815     30,194          2,000            1,802,009     

Excess Revenues Over

      (UNDER) EXPENDITURES(Under) Expenditures (60,800)         262,586        131,105        332,891        

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfers Out (192,000)       (346,000)       538,000 -

Other Financing Sources (Uses) (192,000)       (346,000)       538,000        -

Net Change in Fund Balance (252,800)       (83,414)         669,105        332,891        

Fund Balance, Beginning of year 1,444,252 641,545 385,451        2,471,248     

Fund Balance, End of year $ 1,191,452     $ 558,131        $ 1,054,556     $ 2,804,139     

Fund

Improvement

Town of Paonia, Colorado
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Non-Major

Funds Total

Major Funds

General

See Notes to the Financial Statements.

39

99



Amounts Reported for Governmental Activities in the Statement of Net Position are Different Because:

Total Fund Balance of Governmental Funds $ 2,804,139   

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not current financial

resources and, therefore, are not reported in governmental funds. 3,029,174

Pension assets and deferred outflows are not current, therefore, are not reported in governmental funds:

Net Pension Asset (Liability) (18,205)       

Deferred Outflows, Pensions 73,573        

Deferred Inflows, Pensions (79,980)       

Long-term liabilities and related items are not due and payable in the current year and, therefore,
are not reported in governmental funds.

Accrued compensated absences (7,982)

Total Net Position of Governmental Activities $ 5,800,719   

Town of Paonia, Colorado
Reconciliation of Balance Sheet of the Governmental Funds

December 31, 2023
to the Statement of Net Position

See Notes to the Financial Statements.

40

100



Amounts Reported for Governmental Activities in the Statement of Activities are Different Because:

Net Change in Fund Balance of Governmental Funds $ 332,891           

Capital outlays to purchase or construct capital assets are reported in governmental funds as

expenditures.  However, for governmental activities those costs are capitalized in the statement

of net position and are allocated over their estimated useful lives as annual depreciation expense

in the statement of activities.  

Capital outlays 37,752

Depreciation expense (200,649)          

Revenues received after the period of availability are recognized as deferred revenue

in the funds statements, but as revenues in the Statement of Activities 2,215

FPPA Pension liabilities reported in governmental funds as expenditures when contributions are made.

However, for governmental activities those costs are reflected as liabilities when incurred.

Compensated Absences 7,770

Net Pension Asset (Liability) (165,119)          

Deferred Outflows, Pensions 3,571

Deferred Inflows, Pensions 922

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities $ 19,353

Town of Paonia, Colorado
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in

Fund Balance of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

See Notes to the Financial Statements.

41

101



Current Assets

Cash and Investments $ 1,212,543 $ 168,908 $ 150,197 $ 1,531,648   

Restricted Cash and investments - 683,196 - 683,196

Accounts Receivable 124,083 206,944 29,448 360,475

Leased Asset - Software 22,514 - - 22,514        

Inventory 107,313 10,917 - 118,230

Total Current Assets 1,466,453   1,069,965   179,645      2,716,063   

Noncurrent Assets

Capital Assets, Not being depreciated 351,564 564,380 - 915,944

Capital Assets,

Net of accumulated depreciation 6,861,702 4,279,622 106,729 11,248,053

Total Noncurrent Assets 7,213,266   4,844,002   106,729      12,163,997

Total Assets 8,679,719   5,913,967   286,374      14,880,060

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable 18,758 4,827 3,463 27,048        

Accrued interest payable 17,364 11,250 - 28,614

Accrued Liabilities 9,487 9,502 2,631 21,620

Unearned grant revenues 184,616 - - 184,616      

Lease Liability 22,514 - - 22,514        

Current Portion of Noncurrent Liabilities 161,382      55,354 68 216,804      

Total Current Liabilities 414,121      80,933        6,162          501,216      

Noncurrent Liabilities

Notes and bonds payable 1,812,691 1,488,595 613 3,301,899   

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 1,812,691   1,488,595   613 3,301,899   

Total Liabilities 2,226,812   1,569,528   6,775          3,803,115   

Net Position

Net Investment in Capital Assets 5,239,193   3,300,053   106,048      8,645,294   

Restricted for Debt Service - 114,575 - 114,575

Restricted for Maintenance - 568,621 - 568,621

Unrestricted 1,213,714 361,190 173,551 1,748,455

Total Net Position $ 6,452,907   $ 4,344,439   $ 279,599      $ 11,076,945

Town of Paonia, Colorado
Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Fund
December 31, 2023

Water TrashSewer Total

See Notes to the Financial Statements.

42

102



Operating Revenues

Charges for Services $ 1,269,525   $ 756,038      $ 325,403      $ 2,350,966   

Grant Revenue - 137,798 - 137,798

Miscellaneous 42 - - 42

Total Operating Revenues 1,269,567   893,836      325,403      2,488,806   

Operating Expenses

Personnel expenses 375,208      200,601      206,514      782,323      

Contractual service 33,439        - 41,143 74,582        

Professional fees 103,820      54,267        4,952 163,039      

Utilities 27,240        42,672        2,631          72,543        

Repairs and maintenance 104,860      71,164        731             176,755      

Other supplies and expense 96,629        47,380        21,332        165,341      

Insurance claims and expense 29,789        9,974          6,755          46,518        

Depreciation 298,677      124,652      18,207        441,536      

Total Operating Expenses 1,069,662   550,710      302,265      1,922,637   

Net Operating Income 199,905      343,126      23,138        566,169      

Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses)

Interest Income - 34,746 - 34,746

Interest Expense (53,832)       (32,200) - (86,032)

Net Income (Loss) Before Contributed Capital 146,073      345,672      23,138        514,883      

Contributed Capital and Transfers

System Development Fees 100             - - 100             

Total Capital Contributions and Transfers 100             - - 100             

Change in Net Position 146,173      345,672      23,138        514,983      

Net Position, Beginning of year 6,306,734 3,998,767 256,461 10,561,962

Net Position, End of year $ 6,452,907   $ 4,344,439   $ 279,599      $ 11,076,945

Town of Paonia, Colorado
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Proprietary Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

TotalWater TrashSewer

See Notes to the Financial Statements.

43

103



Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Cash Received from Customers $ 1,269,525   $ 756,038      $ 325,403      $ 2,350,966   

Cash Received from Others (31,178)       137,798      (5,374)         101,246      

Cash Paid to Suppliers (476,565)     (415,734)     (127,444)     (1,019,743)  

Cash Paid to Employees (284,118)     (161,549)     (159,949)     (605,616)     

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 477,664      316,553      32,636        826,853      

Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing Activities

System Development Fees 100             - - 100             

Acquisition and Construction of Capital Assets (59,274)       (754,168)     - (813,442)

Debt Principal Payments (176,935)     (51,925)       - (228,860)

Debt Interest Payments (53,832)       (32,200)       - (86,032)

Net Cash Used by Capital and Related Financing Activities (289,941)     (838,293)     - (1,128,234)

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Interest received - 34,746 - 34,746

Net Cash Used by Capital and Related Financing Activities - 34,746 - 34,746

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents 187,723      (486,994)     32,636        (266,635)     

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of year 1,024,820   1,339,098   117,561      2,481,479   

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of year $ 1,212,543   $ 852,104      $ 150,197      $ 2,214,844   

Reconciliation of Net Operating Income to

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:

Net Operating Income $ 199,905      $ 343,126      $ 23,138        $ 566,169      

Adjustments to Reconcile Net Operating Income to

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Depreciation Expense 298,677      124,652      18,207        441,536      

Changes in Assets and Liabilities Related to Operations

   Accounts Receivable (31,220)       (157,866)     (5,374)         (194,460)     

   Inventory 10,599        1,453          - 12,052

   Accounts Payable 215             (2,235)         (1,607)         (3,627)

   Accrued Expenses (512) 7,423 (1,728)         5,183

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities $ 477,664      $ 316,553      $ 32,636        $ 826,853      

TotalTrash

Town of Paonia, Colorado
Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Water Sewer

See Notes to the Financial Statements.

44

104



Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2023 

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The Town of Paonia (the Town) is a statutory municipality with a Major Board of Trustees form of 
government with six trustees and one separately elected mayor serving as elected Town Board 
Trustees (The Town Board) members.  The Town administrator is a hired contact position of the 
Town.   

The Town's financial statements are prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles (GAAP) as applied to government units.  The Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting 
and financial reporting principles.  The more significant of the Town's accounting policies are 
described below. 

Reporting Entity 

In accordance with governmental accounting standards, the Town has considered the possibility 
of inclusion of additional entities in its basic financial statements. 

The definition of the reporting entity is based primarily on financial accountability.  The Town is 
financially accountable for organizations that make up its legal entity.  It is also financially 
accountable for legally separate organizations if the Town officials appoint a voting majority of the 
organization’s governing body and either it is able to impose its will on that organization or there 
is a potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or to impose specific 
financial burdens on, the Town.  The Town may also be financially accountable for governmental 
organizations that are fiscally dependent upon it. 

Based on the application of these criteria, the Town does not include additional organizations in 
its reporting entity. 

Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements 

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement 
of activities) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the Town.  For the most part, 
the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements.  Governmental activities, 
which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately 
from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support. 

The statement of net position reports all financial, capital and debt resources of the Town.  The 
difference between assets, liabilities and deferred inflows of the Town is net position. 

45

105



Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2023 

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements (Continued) 

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of the given 
function or segments are offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that are clearly 
identifiable with a specific function or segment.  Program revenues include 1) charges to 
customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges 
provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to 
meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment.  Taxes and 
other items not properly included among program revenues are reported instead as general 
revenues.  Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and proprietary 
funds.  Major individual governmental funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial 
statements. 

Fund Financial Statements  

Following the government-wide financial statements are separate financial statements for 
governmental funds.  Major individual governmental funds are reported as separate columns in 
the fund financial statements.  The total fund balances for all governmental funds is reconciled to 
total net position for governmental activities as shown on the statement of net position.  The net 
change in fund balance for all governmental funds is reconciled to the total change in net position 
as shown on the statement of activities in the government-wide financial statements.  

Fund Accounting 

The Town uses funds to maintain its financial records during the year.  A fund is defined as a 
fiscal and accounting entity with self-balancing accounts.  Governmental resources are allocated 
to and accounted for individual funds based upon the purposes for which they are to be spent and 
the means by which spending activities are controlled.  The Town has all three categories of 
funds: governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary. 

Governmental Funds 

Governmental funds are those through which most governmental functions of the Town are 
financed.  The acquisition, use, and balances of the Town's expendable financial resources and 
the related liabilities (except those accounted for in the proprietary fund) are accounted for through 
governmental funds.  The measurement focus is on determination of and changes in financial 
position, rather than on net income.   

The following are the Town's governmental major funds: 

The General Fund - used to account for all financial resources except those required to be 
accounted for in another fund and is the general operating fund of the Town. 

The Sales Tax Capital Improvement Fund - accounts for the Town’s additional sales tax that 
is to be used for capital improvements. 

46

106



Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2023 

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Governmental Funds (Continued) 

The following funds are considered nonmajor governmental funds: 

The Conservation Trust Fund - accounts for State of Colorado lottery funds to be used for 
parks and recreation services and capital investments. 

The Street Capital Improvement Fund - accounts for funds committed by the Board of 
Trustees to be used for street construction from Highway Users tax and impact fees. 

The Sidewalk Fund - accounts for the Town’s sidewalk fees that are to be used for sidewalk 
repairs and maintenance. 

Enterprise funds account for operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar to 
private business enterprises, where the intent is that the costs of providing goods or services to 
the general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through user charges. 
Enterprise funds are considered major funds because of community interests in the activities and 
sources of funding supporting these operations. 

The Town reports the following major enterprise fund business-type activities. 

Water, Sewer and Trash Funds - accounts for all operations of the Town’s water, sewer, 
and trash services.  They are primarily financed by user charges. 

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation 

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources 
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund financial 
statements.  Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when the liability 
is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Property taxes are recognized as 
revenues in the year for which they are levied.  Grants and similar items are recognized as 
revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized as 
soon as they are both measurable and available.  Revenues are considered to be available when 
they are collected within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the 
current period.  For this purpose, the Town considers revenues to be available if they are collected 
within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. 

47

107



Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2023 

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation 
(Continued) 

Property taxes, specific ownership taxes, grants, and interest associated with the current fiscal 
period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and have been recognized as revenues of 
the current fiscal period.  All other revenue items are considered to be measurable and available 
only when cash is received by the Town. 

Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. 
However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences, 
are recorded only when payment is due. 

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. 
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and 
delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations.  Operating 
expenses for enterprise funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, 
and depreciation on capital assets.  All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are 
reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses. 

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the Town’s practice to 
use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 

Cash and Investments 

The Town considers all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with a maturity of three months 
or less to be cash equivalents.  State statutes and Town policy authorize the Town to invest in 
obligations of the United States or any agency thereof, time deposit certificates, and repurchase 
agreements.  The Pension Trust Funds are also authorized to invest in corporate common or 
preferred stocks, bonds Pand mortgages, real or personal property, and other evidence of 
indebtedness or ownership (excluding any debt of the Town itself), and individual insurance 
policies. 

Receivables 

The Town uses the allowance method for recognizing the uncollectable delinquent accounts 
receivable.  At December 31, 2023, no allowance has been established, as all amounts are 
considered collectible.  Each October, any utility bills more than 60 days old are certified to the 
County Treasurer for collection with the property taxes to be collected the following year. 

48

108



Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2023 

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Property Taxes 

Property taxes are assessed in one year as a lien on the property, but not collected by 
governmental units until the subsequent year.  In accordance with GAAP, the assessed, but 
uncollected, property taxes for calendar year 2023 have been recorded as receivable and as 
deferred revenue.  Property taxes are billed and collected by Delta County, Colorado and 
distributed to the municipalities and special districts within the county the month after collection. 

Inventories 

Water parts are valued at market values based on current pricing.  

Interfund Receivables and Payables 

Transfers of resources from a fund receiving revenue to the fund through which the resources are 
to be expended are recorded as transfers.  Such transfers are reported as other financing sources 
(uses) in the governmental funds and transfers in (out) in the proprietary funds. 

Transactions between the Town's various funds are accounted for as revenues and expenditures 
or expenses in the funds involved if they are similar to transactions with organizations external to 
the Town government. 

Activity between funds that is representative of borrowing/lending arrangements outstanding at 
the end of the fiscal year is referred to as either "due to/due from other funds." Any residual 
balances outstanding between the governmental activities and business-type activities are 
reported in the government-wide financial statements as "internal balances." 

In the process of aggregating data for the statement of net position and the statement of activities 
some amounts reported on interfund activity and balances in the funds have been eliminated or 
reclassified.  Interfund receivables and payables were eliminated to minimize the "grossing up" 
effect on assets and liabilities within the governmental activity’s column. 

Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources 

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section 
for deferred outflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows 
of resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to future periods and so will 
not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then.  The Town has 
one item qualifying for this category: the collective deferred outflows related to the Town’s net 
pension obligation.  Pension contributions made after the measurement date, and the net 
difference between projected and actual earnings will be recognized as a change of the net 
pension liability or asset in future periods. 

49

109



Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2023 

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources (Continued) 

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section 
for deferred inflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of 
resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to future periods and so will not 
be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.  The Town has two types of 
items that qualify for reporting in this category.  Unavailable revenue from property taxes, reported 
in the governmental balance sheet are deferred and recognized as an inflow from resources in 
the period that the amounts become available.  Collective deferred inflows related to the Town’s 
net pension obligation are reported on the Statement of Net Position and are amortized over the 
average service lives of participants. 

Capital Assets 

Capital assets, which include property, equipment, and infrastructure (e.g., roads, bridges, 
sidewalks and similar items), are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type 
activities columns in the government-wide financial statements.  Capital assets are defined by the 
Town as assets with an initial cost of more than $5,000 and an estimated useful life in excess of 
one year.  Purchased or constructed assets are recorded at historical cost where historical 
records are available or estimated historical costs where no historical records exist.  Donated 
capital assets are recorded at estimated fair value at the date of donation. 

The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that does not add to the value of the asset or 
materially extend the asset's life is not capitalized.  Improvements are capitalized and depreciated 
over the remaining useful lives of the related fixed assets, as applicable. 

Capital assets (excluding land, water rights, construction in progress and capital assets held for 
other government) are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated 
useful lives: 

Water and Sewer Systems 15 - 40 years
Buildings and Improvements 25 - 40 years
Equipment and Vehicles 5 - 10 years
Infrastructure 15 - 40 years

Compensated Absences 

Vacation, sick leave, and compensatory time are accrued as earned.  Accumulated unpaid 
vacation, compensatory time, and vested sick leave amounts are recorded in the government-
wide financial statements by fund.  The Town's personnel policy imposes limits on the maximum 
accrual of accumulated vacation time and sick leave.  Upon termination, accrued unpaid vacation 
and compensatory time will be paid to the employee.  Accrued sick leave has a cash value upon 
termination only if the employee has at least five years of full-time service with the Town at 
termination.  Accrued compensated absences are liquidated by the fund that incurred the liability 
during the employee's employment.  A liability for vested, accrued leave time is reported in the 
governmental funds only if the amounts due at year end have matured. 

50

110



Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2023 

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Pensions 

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability or asset, deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, pension expense, information about the 
fiduciary net position of the Town’s defined benefit pension plan and additions to/deductions from 
the fiduciary net position of the Town’s defined benefit pension plans have been determined using 
the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.  For this 
purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when 
due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.  Investments are reported at fair value. 

Long-Term Obligations 

In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in the fund financial 
statements, long-term debt is reported as a liability in the applicable governmental activities, 
business-type activities, or proprietary fund type statement of net position.  Bond premiums and 
discounts, as well as issuance costs, are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using 
the straight-line method.  Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or 
discount. 

In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and 
discounts, as well as bond issuance costs, during the current period.  The face amount of debt 
issued is reported as other financing sources.  Premiums received on debt issuances are reported 
as other financing sources while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing 
uses.  Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are 
reported as debt service expenditures. 

Net Position 

In the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements, net position is displayed in 
three components as follows: 

Net Investment in Capital Assets - This consists of capital assets, net of accumulated 
depreciation, less the outstanding balances of any bonds, notes, or other borrowings that 
are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvements of those assets. 

Restricted - This consists of a net position legally restricted by outside parties or by law 
through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

Unrestricted - This consists of net position not meeting the definition of "restricted" or 
"invested in capital assets, net of related debt." 

When an expense is incurred for purposes for which restricted and unrestricted net position is 
available, the Town's policy is to apply restricted net position first. 

51

111



Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2023 

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Fund Balance Classification  

The following fund balance classifications describe the relative strength of the spending 
constraints placed on a government's fund balance and purposes for which resources can be 
used: 

Nonspendable fund balance - amounts that are not in a spendable form (such as inventory) 
or are required to be maintained intact. 

Restricted fund balance - amounts constrained to specific purposes stipulated by external 
resource providers (such as grantor, bondholders, and higher levels of government), 
through constitutional provisions, or by enabling legislation.  Restrictions may be changed 
or lifted only with the consent of the resource providers. 

Committed fund balance - amounts constrained to specific purposes stipulated by a 
government itself, determined by formal action by the Board of Trustees to be reported as 
committed, amounts cannot be used for any other purpose unless changed by the Board of 
Trustees. 

Assigned fund balance - amounts the Town intends to use for a specific purpose as 
expressed by management. 

Unassigned fund balance - amounts that are available for any purpose; positive amounts 
are reported only in the general fund. 

The Town Board of Trustees establishes (and modifies or rescinds) fund balance commitments 
by passage of a resolution or ordinance.  Each December the budget is adopted by resolution for 
the coming year.  A fund balance commitment is indicated in the budget by the use of reserves. 
The budget document will also identify the budgeted use of any restricted funds planned in the 
budget. 

When an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund 
balance is available, the Town considers restricted funds to have been spent first.  When an 
expenditure is incurred for which committed, assigned, or unassigned fund balances are 
available, the Town considers amounts to have been spent first out of committed funds, then 
assigned funds, and finally unassigned funds, as needed, unless Town Council has provided 
otherwise in its commitment or assignment actions. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of basic financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
amounts reported in the basic financial statements and the accompanying notes.  Actual results 
could differ from those estimates. 

52

112



Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2023 

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Subsequent Events 

The Town has evaluated subsequent events through August 21, 2024, the date the financial 
statements were available to be issued. 

Note 2: Stewardship, Compliance and Accountability 

Budgets and Budgetary Accounting 

The Town follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial 
statements: 

 In October, the Town staff submits to the Town Council a proposed operating budget for
the fiscal year commencing the following January 1.  The operating budget includes
proposed expenditures and the means of financing them.

 Public hearings are conducted to obtain taxpayer comments.
 Prior to December 15, the budget is legally enacted through passage of an ordinance.
 The Town Administration is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts between

departments within any fund.  However, any revisions that alter the total expenditures of
any fund must be approved by the Town Council.

 Budgets are legally adopted for all funds of the Town.  Budgets for the General and Special
Revenue Funds are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP).  The Budgetary comparison presented for the Enterprise Fund is
presented on a non-GAAP budgetary basis.  Capital outlay and debt payments are
budgeted as expenditures and depreciation is not budgeted.

 Budgeted amounts in the financial statements are as originally adopted or as amended by
the Town Council.  All appropriations lapse at year end.  Colorado governments may not
exceed budgeted appropriations at the fund level.

Note 3: Cash Deposits and Investments 

The Town's investment policy conforms to the investment policy guidelines set forth by the State 
of Colorado.  The Town's investment policy sets the primary objectives of investments activities 
to be safety, liquidity, and yield, in that order.  The policy sets a conservative, "prudent person" 
approach to investment purchases and management of the overall portfolio.  The Town's 
Volunteer Firefighters Pension Trust is managed by the Fire and Police Pension Association of 
Colorado in accordance with State statute. 

53

113



Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2023 

Note 3: Cash Deposits and Investments (Continued) 

At year end, the Town had the following deposits and investments as reported in the financial 
statements: 

Deposits 

Cash and investments are reflected in the statement of net position as follows: 

The Colorado Public Deposit Protection Act (PDPA) requires that all units of local government 
deposit cash in eligible depositories.  The statutes specify eligible depositories for public cash 
deposits, which must be Colorado institutions and must maintain federal insurance (FDIC) on 
deposits held.  Each eligible depository with deposits in excess of the insured levels must pledge 
a collateral pool of defined eligible assets maintained by another institution or held in trust for all 
of its local government depositors as a group with a market value of at least 102% of the uninsured 
deposits.  The State Regulatory Commission for banks and savings and loan associations are 
required by statute to monitor the naming of eligible depositories and reporting of the uninsured 
deposits and assets maintained in the collateral pools. 

As of December 31, 2023, the Town had deposits of $3,184,496.  Depositor's insurance (FDIC) 
covers $250,000 of this amount; the balance is covered by PDPA. 

Investments 

The Town's investment policy lists the authorized investment types as defined by Colorado 
statutes.  Authorized investments include direct obligations of the United States, obligations of 
U.S. government agencies, general or revenue obligations of any state of the United States, any 
territory, or political subdivision of any state, qualified bankers' acceptances, commercial paper, 
certificates of participation, repurchase agreements, qualified local government investment pool, 
money market funds, qualified corporate or bank debt, and certain guaranteed investment 
contracts.  The Town held no such investments at December 31, 2023. 

Colorado revised statutes limit investment maturities to five years or less unless formally approved 
by the Board of Trustees.  Such actions are generally associated with a debt service reserve or 
sinking fund requirements. 

Petty Cash $ 225 
Cash held by County Treasurer 123,871  
Bank deposits 2,709,200   
Certificates of deposit 475,296   
Colotrust 1,884,893     
Total $ 5,193,485     

Cash and Investments $ 3,879,261     
Restricted Cash and Investments 1,314,224     
Total $ 5,193,485     

54

114



Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2023 

Note 3: Cash Deposits and Investments (Continued) 

Investments (Continued) 

State statutes specify investment instruments meeting defined rating, maturity, and concentration 
risk criteria in which local governments may invest, which include the following. 

 Obligations of the United States & certain U.S. government agency securities
 Certain international agency securities
 General obligation and revenue bonds of U.S. local government entities
 Commercial paper
 Local government investment pools
 Written repurchase agreements collateralized by certain authorized securities
 Certain money market funds
 Guaranteed investment contracts

Local Government Investment Pool - At December 31, 2023, the Town had $1,884,893 (fair value) 
invested in COLOTRUST, an investment vehicle established by State statute for local government 
entities in Colorado to pool surplus funds.  The State Securities Commissioner administers and 
enforces the requirements of creating and operating COLOTRUST.  COLOTRUST operates 
similar to money market funds and each share is equal in value to $1.00.  COLOTRUST is rated 
AAAm by Standard and Poor's.  Investments are limited to those allowed by State statutes.  A 
designated custodial bank provides safekeeping and depository services in connection with the 
direct investment and withdrawal functions.  The custodian's internal records identify the 
investments owned by the participating governments. 

The Town had the following investments at December 31, 2023: 

Credit Risk - Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not 
fulfill its obligations.  To minimize credit risk the Town requires that U.S. Agency Securities have 
the highest possible rating.  Colorado statutes establish standards for local government 
investment pools and the Town requires the investment pool to maintain the highest possible 
rating. 

Rating
Colorado Liquid Government
Asset Trust (ColoTrust Plus) No Rating $        1,884,893 $ - $        1,884,893

Certificates of deposit No Rating         475,296 - 475,296
U.S. Treasury Securities $ 2,360,189  $ - $ 2,360,189  

TotalInvestment Type Less than 1 year 1 to 5 years

55

115



Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2023 

Note 3: Cash Deposits and Investments (Continued) 

Investments (Continued) 

Interest Rate Risk - Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect 
the fair value of an investment.  Investments held for longer periods are subject to increased risk 
of adverse interest rate changes.  State statute limits investments in U.S.  Agency Securities to a 
maximum five-year maturity.  The Town seeks to minimize interest rate risk by: 

 Structuring investments to meet ongoing operations, thereby avoiding the need to sell
securities on the open market prior to maturity, and

 Structuring investments to have staggered maturities of less than five years.

Note 4: Capital Assets 

Capital assets activity for the year ended December 31, 2023 is summarized below: 

Governmental Activities Balance Balance
Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated 12/31/2022 Additions Deletions 12/31/2023

 Land and Improvements $ 246,481   $ - $ - $ 246,481  

Total Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated 246,481   -   -   246,481  

Capital Assets  Being Depreciated

Buildings 703,646   -   -   703,646  

Improvements other than Buildings 547,789   37,752  - 585,541 

Infrastructure 3,152,517  -   -   3,152,517 

Equipment 1,042,874  -   -   1,042,874 

 Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated 5,446,826  37,752  - 5,484,578 

Less Accumulated Depreciation for

Buildings (424,138)  (20,169)   - (444,307) 

Improvements other than Buildings (324,784)  (18,693)   - (343,477) 

Infrastructure (985,542)  (92,891)   - (1,078,433) 

Equipment (766,772)  (68,896)   - (835,668) 

 Total Accumulated Depreciation (2,501,236)   (200,649)   - (2,701,885) 

Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated, Net 2,945,590  (162,897)   - 2,782,693 

Government Type Activities, Capital Assets, Net $ 3,192,071  $ (162,897)   $ - $ 3,029,174   

56

116



Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2023 

Note 4: Capital Assets (Continued) 

Capital assets Business-Type activity for the year ended December 31, 2023 is summarized 
below:   

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the Town as follows: 

Note 5: Long-Term Debt 

Governmental Activities 

Following is a summary of long-term debt transactions for the governmental activities for the year 
ended December 31, 2023. 

Governmental Activities
Compensated Absences $ 17,967     $ - $ (9,985)    $ 7,982        $ 798

Total $ 17,967     $ - $ (9,985)    $ 7,982        $ 798      

Due WithinBalance Balance
12/31/2022 Additions Deletions 12/31/2023 One Year

Business Type Activities Balance Balance
Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated 12/31/2022 Additions Deletions 12/31/2023
Land & water rights $ 834,157  $ - $ - $ 834,157  
CIP - 81,787 - 81,787 

Total Capital Assets Not Depreciated 834,157   -   -  915,944  

Capital Assets  Being Depreciated
Distribution systems 4,187,566   -   4,187,566   
Collection system 925,517   754,168   - 1,679,685 
Vehicles and equipment 535,816   -   -   535,816 
Treatment plant 12,175,799   -   -   12,175,799 
Software - 22,514 - 22,514 
 Less Accumulated depreciation (6,911,792)  (441,535) - (7,353,327) 

Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated 10,912,906   335,147  - 11,248,053 

Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated, Net 10,912,906   335,147  - 11,248,053 

Business Type Activities, Capital Assets, Net $ 11,747,063   $ 335,147  $ - $ 12,163,997   

Governmental Activities
General Government $ 25,024
Public Safety 24,583
Public Works 128,465
Culture and Recreation 22,577

Total $ 200,649  

57

117



Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2023 

Note 5: Long-Term Debt (Continued) 

Business-type Activities  

Following is a summary of long-term debt transactions for the governmental activities for the year 
ended December 31, 2023. 

CWRPDA Loan 

The Town has a loan agreement with the Colorado Water Resources and Power Development 
Authority (CWRPDA), which originally enabled the Town to borrow up to $448,200 at 1.75% 
interest annually, with payments of $23,343 per year.  The purpose of the loan was for upgrades 
to the lower water treatment plant.  The project was completed in 2011, and the Town is no longer 
able to draw on the loan agreement.  The Town pledged its net revenue from the operation of the 
water utility for repayment of the loan in the amount of approximately $338,000 through 2029. 
Pledged revenues received during 2023 were $23,343.  The proportion of the pledged revenue 
to total related revenues is not estimable because annual total fees collected fluctuate.  The Town 
is required to provide rates and charges in order to maintain coverage of 110% of the debt service 
due on the governmental agency bond coming due in each calendar year, and to maintain an 
operation and maintenance reserve in an amount equal to three months of operating costs. 

As of December 31, 2023, the Town borrowed $395,969, of which the Town has made principal 
payments of $253,137.  Principal and interest payments for the years following December 31, 
2023 are as follows: 

Year Ended December 31,

2024 $ 21,303 $ 2,040 $ 23,343 
2025 21,677 1,666 23,343 

2026 22,058 1,285 23,343 

2027 22,446 897 23,343 

2028 22,841 503 23,344 
2029 11,572 101 11,673 

$ 121,897            $ 6,492 $ 128,389            

TotalInterestPrincipal

Business-Type Activities
Revenue - refunding bonds $ 1,550,000     $ - $ (50,000)     $ 1,500,000   $ 55,000  
Premium - refunding bonds 42,330  - (1,925) 40,405    -    
Loan-WPA 1,944,668     - (132,275) 1,812,393   139,725    
Premium-WPA 14,936  - (1,211) 13,725    -    
Loan CWRPDA 142,832    - (20,935) 121,897  21,303  
Lease Financing Agreement - 22,514 - 22,514 
Compensated Absences - 7,769 7,769 776   

Total Business-Type Activities $ 3,694,766     $ - $ (206,346)   $ 3,518,703   $ 216,804    

One Year
Balance Balance Due Within
12/31/22 Additions 12/31/23Deletions

58

118



Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2023 

Note 5: Long-Term Debt (Continued) 

Business-type Activities (Continued) 

WPA Loan 

The Town has a Water Power Authority (WPA) loan agreement with CWRPDA for $2,996,494 at 
2.08% interest annually, with twice yearly payments ranging from about $83,000 to $91,000.  The 
purpose of the loan is for improvements and the expansion of the existing water treatment facilities 
and distribution system.  The Town pledged its net revenue from the operation of the water and 
sewer utility for repayment of the loan in the amount of approximately $3,728,185 through 2035. 
Pledge revenues received during 2023 were $191,222.  The proportion of the pledged revenue 
to total related revenues is not estimable because annual total fees collected fluctuate.  The Town 
is required to provide rates and charges in order to maintain coverage of 110% of the debt service 
due on the governmental agency bond coming due in each calendar year, and to maintain an 
operation and maintenance reserve in an amount equal to three months of operating expense, 
excluding depreciation of the water and sewer utility system, as set forth in the annual budget. 

The loan balance includes a premium of $25,431, which is amortized over the life of the loan on 
a straight-line basis.  Yearly amortization is $1,211.  The remaining premium balance is $13,725 
as of December 31, 2023.  At no time should the budget reserve be greater than $1,250,000. 
Principal and interest payments for the years following December 31, 2023 are as follows: 

2020 Revenue Refunding Bonds 

The Town issued $1,650,000 of Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2020A.  The bonds were 
issued on September 28, 2020, with interest payments due April 1 and October 1 of each year 
through April 1, 2044, commencing October 1, 2021.  Principal payments are due April 1 of each 
year commencing April 1, 2021.  The bonds carry an interest rate of 3.0%.  The bond refunding 
resulted in a decrease in required cash flow for debt service of $401,412, which constitutes an 
economic gain on refunding of $226,757.  These bonds were used to refund the RUS Loan 
payable.   

Year Ended December 31,

2024 $ 133,651       13,850 147,501            

2025 135,025       12,800 147,825            

2026 137,088       11,750 148,838            

2027 138,806       10,700 149,506            
2028 174,492       26,517 201,009            

2029-2033 734,345       7,650 741,995            

2034-2035 358,986       7,650 366,636            

$ 1,812,393    $ 90,917 $ 1,903,310         

Principal Interest Total

59

119



Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2023 

Note 5: Long-Term Debt (Continued) 

Business-type Activities (Continued) 

2020 Revenue Refunding Bonds (Continued) 

The bonds do not constitute a lien on any physical property of the Town, but constitute a lien only 
on the net revenues of the water and sewer enterprise funds and all moneys on deposit in the 
Reserve Account.  The Reserve Account is required to be maintained at $100,750. 

The Bonds were issued with a premium of $46,180 which is amortized on a straight-line basis 
through the life of the bonds (24 years) and recognized as interest expense.  Annual amortization 
is $1,925.  Principal and interest payments for the years following December 31, 2023 are as 
follows: 

Line of Credit 

The Town had a $200,000 working-capital line of credit with an interest rate of 1.35% and a 
maturity date of September 2023.  As of December 31, 2023, there was a $0.00 outstanding 
balance on the line of credit. 

Note 6: Employee Retirement Plans 

Deferred Compensation Plan 

All employees are eligible to participate in a deferred compensation plan that was created in 
accordance with the Internal Revenue Code section 457 (the Deferred Compensation Plan).  The 
Deferred Compensation Plan, which is administered by CCOERA, permits participants to defer a 
portion of their salary until future years.  All compensation deferred under the Deferred 
Compensation Plan, all property and rights purchased with those amounts, and all income 
attributable to those amounts, property, or fights are to be held in trust for the exclusive benefit of 
the participants and their beneficiaries.  Compensation deferred under the Deferred 
Compensation Plan is not available to employees until termination, retirement, death, or 
unforeseeable emergency. 

Year Ended December 31,

2024 $ 55,000 $ 45,000 $ 100,000            

2025 55,000 43,350 98,350 

2026 55,000 41,700 96,700 

2027 60,000 40,050 100,050            
2028 60,000 38,250 98,250 

2029-2033 190,000            165,300            355,300            

2034-2038 440,000            121,650            561,650            

2039-2043 250,000            62,250 312,250            

2044 335,000            1,050 336,050            

$ 1,500,000         $ 558,600            $ 2,058,600         

Principal Interest Total

60

120



Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2023 

Note 6: Employee Retirement Plans (Continued) 

Deferred Compensation Plan (Continued) 

Participants may elect to defer any percentage of their annual compensation, provided that the 
total annual contribution does not exceed limitations established by the Internal Revenue Service. 
The Town does not contribute to the Deferred Compensation Plan. 

The individual participants determine investment decisions within the Deferred Compensation 
Plan and, therefore, the Deferred Compensation Plan's investment concentration varies between 
participants. 

CCOERA is also the Trustee of the Deferred Compensation Plan and, accordingly, the Town has 
no liability for losses under the plan.  Consequently, the Deferred Compensation Plan is not part 
of the Town's financial statements. 

FPPA Statewide Defined Benefit Plan 

Plan Description:  The Statewide Defined Benefit Plan (SWDB) is a cost-sharing multiple-
employer defined benefit pension plan.  The plan is administered by the Fire & Police Pension 
Association of Colorado (FPPA).  FPPA issues a publicly available comprehensive annual 
financial report that can be obtained on FPPA's website at http://www.fppaco.org. 

Description of Benefits:  A member is eligible for a normal retirement pension once the member 
has completed twenty-five years of credited service and has attained the age of 55. 

The annual normal retirement benefit is 2 percent of the average of the member's highest three 
years' base salary for each year of credited service up to ten years, plus 2.5 percent for each year 
of service thereafter.  The benefit earned prior to January 1, 2007 for members of affiliated Social 
Security employers will be reduced by the amount of Social Security income payable to the 
member annually.  Effective January 1, 2007, members currently covered under Social Security 
will receive half the benefit when compared to the Statewide Defined Benefit Plan.  Benefits paid 
to retired members are evaluated and may be re-determined every October 1.  The amount of 
any increase is based on the Board's discretion and can range from 0 to the higher of 3 percent 
or the Consumer Price Index. 

A member is eligible for an early retirement at age 50 or after 30 years of service.  The early 
retirement benefit equals the normal retirement benefit reduced on an actuarially equivalent basis. 
Upon termination, an employee may elect to have member contributions, along with 5 percent as 
interest, returned as a lump sum distribution.  Alternatively, a member with at least five years of 
accredited service may leave contributions with the Plan and remain eligible for a retirement 
pension at age 55 equal to 2 percent of the member's average highest three years' base salary 
for each year of credited service up to ten years, plus 2.5 percent for each year of service 
thereafter. 

61

121



Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2023 

Note 6: Employee Retirement Plans (Continued) 

FPPA Statewide Defined Benefit Plan (Continued) 

Contributions:  The Plan sets contribution rates at a level that enables all benefits to be fully 
funded at the retirement date of all members.  Contribution rates for the SWDB plan are set by 
state statute.  Employer contribution rates can only be amended by state statute.  Member 
contribution rates can be amended by state statute or election of the membership. 

Members of the SWDB plan and their employers are contributing at the rate of 8 percent of base 
salary for a total contribution rate of 16 percent through 2014.  In 2014, the members elected to 
increase the member contribution rate to the SWDB plan beginning in 2015.  Member contribution 
rates will increase 0.5 percent annually through 2022 to a total of 12 percent of base salary. 
Employer contributions will remain at 8 percent resulting in a combined contribution rate of 20 
percent in 2023.  

Contributions from members and employers of departments re-entering the system are 
established by resolution and approved by the FPPA Board of Directors.  The re-entry group has 
a combined contribution rate of 20 percent of base salary through 2014.  It is a local decision as 
to whether the member or employer pays the additional 4 percent contribution.  Per the 2014-
member election, the re-entry group will also have their required member contribution rate 
increase 0.5 percent annually beginning in 2015 through 2023 for a total combined member and 
employer contribution rate of 24 percent in 2023. 

The contribution rate for members and employers of affiliated social security employers is 4 
percent of base salary for a total contribution rate of 8 percent through 2014.  Per the 2014 
member election, members of the affiliate social security group will have their required 
contribution rate increase 0.25 percent annually beginning in 2015 through 2023 to a total of 6 
percent of base salary.  Employer contributions will remain at 4 percent resulting in a combined 
contribution rate of 10 percent in 2023. 

The Town’s contributions to the SWDB Plan for the year ended December 31, 2023, were 
$32,996, equal to the required contributions. 

The Town and eligible employees are required to contribute to the SWH Plan at rates established 
by the Town Council.  However, the amount allocated to the defined benefit component is set 
annually by the FPPA Board of Directors, which currently must be at least 8% of base salary for 
the employee and the employer. 

The Town no longer has active participants in the SWH Plan. 

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 

At December 31, 2023, the Town reported a net pension liability (asset) of $((18,205)) 
representing its proportionate share of the net pension asset of the SWDB.   

62

122



Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2023 

Note 6: Employee Retirement Plans (Continued) 

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions (Continued) 

The net pension liability was measured on December 31, 2022, and the total pension liability used 
to calculate the net pension asset was determined by an actuarial valuation at January 1, 2023. 
The Town’s proportion of the net pension asset was based on a projection of the Town’s 
contributions to the plans for the calendar year ended December 31, 2023, relative to the 
projected contributions of all participating employers. 

At December 31, 2023, the Town’s proportion of the SWDB Plan was 0.02710922%, which was 
an increase of 0.002209% from its proportion measured on December 31, 2022.  

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Town recognized pension expense (Benefit) for the 
SWDB plan of $(16,554). 

At December 31, 2023, the Town reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions from the following sources: 

Town contributions to the SWDB plan subsequent to the measurement date were $(45,442) and 
will be recognized as an increase or decrease to the net pension (asset) liability in the subsequent 
fiscal year.  Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions will be recognized as pension expense as follows. 

Statewide Defined Benefit Plan
Differences between expected and actual experience $ 31,724    $ 1,876    
Net difference between projected and actual
earnings on plan investments 43,375    -   

Changes in assumptions and other inputs 18,873    -   
Changes in proportion 1,841      78,104  
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date (22,240)   -   

Total $ 73,573 $ 79,980

Deferred Deferred 
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources

Year Ended December 31, 
2024 $ (2,801)   
2025 3,968    
2026 13,577  
2027 (6,631)   
2028 2,396    
Thereafter 5,324    

Total $ 15,833  

Amount

63

123



Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2023 

Note 6: Employee Retirement Plans (Continued) 

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions (Continued) 

Actuarial Assumptions - The actuarial valuation at January 1, 2023, determined the total pension 
liability using the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included 
in the measurement: 

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Mortality Table for Blue Collar Employees projected 
with Scale BB, using a 55% multiplier for off-duty mortality.  The RP-2014 Mortality Table for Blue 
Collar Employees was used in the projection of post-retirement benefits for members under age 
55. For post-retirement members ages 65 and older, the RP-2014 Mortality Tables for Blue Collar
Healthy Annuitants were used.  For post-retirement members ages 55 through 64, a blend of the
previous tables was used.

The current actuarial methods and assumptions were adopted by the FPPA Board of Directors 
for first use in the actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2016, based upon the actuary’s unchanged 
analysis and recommendations from the 2015 Experience Study. 

Actuarial Method Entry Age Normal
Amortization Method Level % of Payroll, Open
Amortization Period 30 Years
Asset Valuation Method 5-Year Smoothed Fair Value
Long-term Investment Rate of Return* 7.5%
Projected Salary Increases 4.25% - 11.25%
Cost of Living Adjustments (COLA) 0.0%
Includes Inflation at 2.5%

64

124



Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2023 

Note 6: Employee Retirement Plans (Continued) 

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions (Continued) 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a 
building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return 
(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each 
major asset class.  These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return 
by weighing the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and 
by adding expected inflation.  Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset 
class included in the target asset allocation as of December 31, 2023, are summarized in the 
following table: 

Discount Rate - The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.0%.  The 
projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from 
participating employers will be made based on the actuarially determined rates in the FPPA Board 
of Director’s funding policy, which establishes the contractually required rates under State 
statutes.  Based on this assumption, the Plans’ fiduciary net position was projected to be available 
to make all projected future benefit payments to current members.  Therefore, the long-term 
expected rate of return on plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit 
payments to determine the total pension liability.  The discount rate at the prior measurement date 
was 7.5%. 

Sensitivity of the Net Pension (Asset) Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate - The following 
presents the Town’s proportionate share of the net pension (asset) liability calculated using the 
discount rate of 7.0%, as well as the Town’s proportionate share of the net pension (asset) liability 
if it were calculated using a discount that is one percentage point lower (6.0%) or one percentage 
point higher (8.0%) than the current rate, as follows: 

Asset Class
Global Equity 35% 8.93%
Equity Long/Short 6% 7.47%
Private Markets 34% 10.31%
Fixed Income Rates 10% 5.45%
Fixed Income Credit 5% 6.90%
Absolute Return 9% 6.49%
Cash 1% 3.92%

100%

Allocation of Return
Target

Long-Term
Expected Rate

Town's proportionate share of
the SWDB net pension (asset) liability $ 125,505   $ 18,205      $ (70,674)    

1% Increase
(6.0%) (7.0%) (8.0%)

Current 
1% Decrease Discount Rate

65

125



Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2023 

Note 6: Employee Retirement Plans (Continued) 

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions (Continued) 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Detailed information about the Plans’ fiduciary net position 
is available in FPPA’s separately issued financial report, which may be obtained at 
www.fppaco.org. 

Note 7: Public Entity Risk Pool 

The Town is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction 
of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.  For these risks of 
loss, the Town is involved with the Colorado Intergovernmental Risk Sharing Agency (CIRSA), a 
separate and independent governmental and legal entity formed by intergovernmental agreement 
by member municipalities pursuant to the provision of 24-10-115.5, Colorado Revised Statutes 
(1982 Replacement Volume) and Colorado Constitution, Article XIV, Section 18(2). 

The purposes of CIRSA are to provide members defined liability, property, and workers 
compensation coverages and to assist members in preventing and reducing losses and injuries 
to municipal property and to persons or property which might result in claims being made against 
members of CIRSA, their employees and officers. 

It is the intent of the members of CIRSA to create an entity in perpetuity which will administer and 
use funds contributed by the members to defend and indemnify, in accordance with the bylaws, 
any member of CIRSA against stated liability of loss, to the limit of the financial resources of 
CIRSA. 

It is also the intent of the members to have CIRSA provide continuing stability and availability of 
needed coverages at reasonable costs.  All income and assets of CIRSA shall be at all times 
dedicated to the exclusive benefit of its members.  CIRSA is a separate legal entity, and the Town 
does not approve budgets, nor does it have the ability to significantly affect the operations of the 
entity. 

CIRSA's operations are funded by contributions from member governments.  Coverage is 
provided in the amount of $500,000 per claim or occurrence for property damage, $600,000 per 
claim or occurrence for liability, and $150,000 per claim or occurrence for crime.  CIRSA has also 
acquired additional excess coverage from outside sources.  While the Town may be liable for any 
losses in excess of this coverage, the Town does not anticipate losses at December 31, 2023. 
No settlements of claims against the Town in the last three years have exceeded the Town's 
coverage. 

66

126



Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2023 

Note 7: Public Entity Risk Pool (Continued) 

Surpluses or deficits realized by CIRSA for any given year are subject to change for such reasons 
as interest earnings on invested amounts for those years and funds, re-estimation of losses for  
those years and funds, and credits or distributions from surplus for those years and funds.  All  
income and assets of CIRSA shall be at all times dedicated to the exclusive benefit of its 
members.  The board of directors may credit member municipalities' future contributions in the 
event of a surplus.  Although it has never occurred, CIRSA member municipalities are subject to 
a supplemental assessment in the event of a deficiency. 

For 2023, the Town's deductible for property and liability claims per occurrence is $1,000 for each. 
The auto liability deductible and the auto physical damage deductible are both $1,000 per 
occurrence.  

The Town carries no deductible for workers Compensation coverage.  CIRSA's coverage for 
workers' compensation claims are the Colorado statutory limits of $500,000 per occurrence and 
$1,000,000 for employer liability.  

The Town also carries accident medical insurance coverage for volunteers through CIRSA.  This 
provides a medical coverage for a minor injury a volunteer receives when serving the Town in a 
volunteer Town such as a community service worker, volunteer trail work, or volunteer coaching 
for recreation.  Coverage is $15,000 per occurrence with a $25 deductible. 

Note 8: Commitments and Contingencies 

Litigation/Legal Claims 

The Town may be a defendant in lawsuits pertaining to matters which are incidental to performing 
routine governmental and other functions.  Based on the current status of any legal proceedings, 
it is the opinion of management that they will not have a material effect on the Town's financial 
position. 

Federal and State Grants and Financial Sources 

Amounts received or receivable from grantor agencies are subject to audit and adjustment by 
grantor agencies, principally the federal government.  Such audits could lead to reimbursements 
to the grantor agencies.  It is the opinion of management that such reimbursements, if any, will 
not have a material effect on the Town's financial position. 

67

127



Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2023 

Note 8: Commitments and Contingencies (Continued) 

TABOR Amendment 

In November 1992, Colorado voters amended Article X of the Colorado Constitution by adding 
Section 20; commonly known as the Taxpayer's Bill of Rights (TABOR).  TABOR contains 
revenue, spending, tax and debt limitations that apply to the State of Colorado and local 
governments.  TABOR requires, with certain exceptions, advance voter approval for any new tax, 
tax rate increase, mill levy above that for the prior year, extension of any expiring tax, or tax policy 
change directly causing a net tax revenue gain to any local government.  Any revenues earned 
in excess of the fiscal year spending limit must be refunded in the next fiscal year, unless voters 
approve retention of such excess revenue. 

Except for refinancing bonded debt at a lower interest rate or adding new employees to existing 
pension plans, TABOR requires advance voter approval for the creation of any multiple-fiscal year 
debt or other financial obligation unless adequate present cash reserves are pledged irrevocably 
and held for payments in all future fiscal years. 

TABOR also requires local governments to establish an emergency reserve to be used to declare 
emergencies only.  Emergencies, as defined by TABOR, exclude economic conditions, revenue 
shortfalls, or salary or fringe benefit increases.  The reserve is calculated at 3% of fiscal year 
spending.  Fiscal year spending excludes bonded debt service and enterprise spending.  The 
Town has reserved $53,228, which is the approximate required reserve at December 31, 2023. 

The Town's voters approved the following ballot issue on November 6, 2001. 

Excluding ad valorem property taxes and rates, and without creating any new taxes, increasing 
any tax rate, or adding any new taxes of any kind, shall the Town be permitted to collect, retain, 
and spend, for the fiscal year of 2001 and for each and every year thereafter, the full proceeds of 
the Town's taxes, grants and other revenues for expenditure on lawful municipal purposes, 
notwithstanding any State of Colorado restrictions on spending including the restrictions of Article 
X, Section 20 of the Constitution of the State of Colorado, and that these shall each constitute a 
voter approval revenue change. 

The Town's management believes it is in compliance with the financial provisions of TABOR. 
However, TABOR is complex and subject to interpretation.  Many of its provisions, including the 
interpretation of how to calculate fiscal year spending limits, will require judicial interpretation. 

68

128



Required Supplementary Information 

.

69

129



Revenues

Taxes

General property taxes $ 146,913 $ 169,011 $ 22,098           

Specific ownership taxes 23,550 24,006 456

Sales tax - town 599,400 540,123 (59,277)          

Sales tax - county 198,942 423,798 224,856         

Franchise taxes 49,910 110,218 60,308

Cigarette taxes 1,350 1,860 510

Delinquent taxes 15 378 363

Licenses and Permits 69,175 48,285 (20,890)          

Intergovernmental 239,580 142,037 (97,543)          

Charges for Services 88,668          - (88,668)

Grants 553,350 - (553,350)

Investment Income 27,800 165,337 137,537         

Fines and Forfeitures 27,550 10,876 (16,674)          

Miscellaneous 9,010 73,086 64,076           

Total Revenues 2,035,213     1,709,015     (326,198)        

Expenditures

Current

General Government 688,722 629,224 59,498           

Public Safety 731,109 676,742 54,367           

Public Works 395,164 296,187 98,977           

Community Service 194,270 167,662 26,608           

Total Expenditures 2,009,265     1,769,815     239,450         

Excess Revenues Over

      (UNDER) EXPENDITURES(Under) Expenditures 25,948          (60,800)         (86,748)          

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfers Out - (192,000) 192,000         

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Net Change in Fund Balance 25,948          (252,800)       105,252         

Fund Balance, Beginning of year 1,444,252     1,444,252 -

Fund Balance, End of year $ 1,470,200     $ 1,191,452     $ 105,252         

Original Variance

Town of Paonia, Colorado
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

General Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

and Final Positive

Budget Actual (Negative)

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.

70

130



Revenues

Sales tax $ 299,700 $ 285,130 $ (14,570)         

Miscellaneous 32,650 7,650 (25,000)         

Total Revenues 332,350        292,780        (39,570)         

Expenditures

Capital Outlay 614,719 30,194 584,525        

Total Expenditures 614,719        30,194          584,525        

Excess Revenues Over

      (UNDER) EXPENDITURES(Under) Expenditures (282,369)       262,586        (624,095)       

Other Financing Uses

Transfers (out) 346,000        (346,000)       (692,000)       

Net Change in Fund Balance 63,631          (83,414)         (147,045)       

Fund Balance, Beginning of year 641,545        641,545 -

Fund Balance, End of year $ 705,176        $ 558,131        $ (147,045)       

Budget Actual (Negative)

and Final

Variance

Positive

Town of Paonia, Colorado
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Sales Tax Capital Improvement Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Original

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.

71

131



Revenues

Taxes $ 9,250 $ 3,039 $ (6,211)           

Interest income - 10 10

Total Revenues 9,250            3,049            (6,201)           

Expenditures

Parks - 2,000 (2,000)           

Total Expenditures - 2,000 (2,000)           

Excess Revenues Over

      (UNDER) EXPENDITURES(Under) Expenditures 9,250            1,049            (8,201)           

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfers Out - 100 100

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Net Change in Fund Balance 9,250            1,149            (8,101)           

Fund Balance, Beginning of year 17,332          21,581 4,249            

Fund Balance, End of year $ 26,582          $ 22,730          $ (3,852)           

Town of Paonia, Colorado
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Conservation Trust Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

and Final

Budget

Variance

Actual (Negative)

Positive

Original

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.

72

132



Revenues

Highway users tax $ 49,916 $ 97,330 $ 47,414          

Fees 994,161        2,600 (991,561)       

Total Revenues 1,044,077     99,930          (944,147)       

Expenditures

Streets - -

Capital outlay 1,835,153 - 1,835,153

Total Expenditures 1,835,153     - 1,835,153

Excess Revenues Over

      (UNDER) EXPENDITURES(Under) Expenditures (791,076)       99,930          (2,779,300)    

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfers In 538,000        538,000        -

Net Change in Fund Balance (253,076)       637,930        891,006        

Fund Balance, Beginning of year 141,777        300,552 158,775        

Fund Balance, End of year $ (111,299)       $ 938,482 $ 1,049,781     

and Final Positive

Budget Actual (Negative)

Town of Paonia, Colorado

Street Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Original Variance

Budgetary Comparison Schedule

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.

73

133



Town of Paonia, Colorado 
Notes to Required Supplementary Information 

December 31, 2023 

Note 1: Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability 

Budgets 

Budgets are legally adopted for all funds of the Town.  Budgets for the governmental funds are 
adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).  Budgetary 
comparisons for the proprietary fund are presented on a non-GAAP budgetary basis, whereby 
capital outlay and debt principal are budgeted as expenditures.  

The Town follows these procedures to establish the budgetary information reflected in the 
financial statements:  

 Management submits to the Town Board a proposed budget for the fiscal year
commencing the following January 1.  The budget includes proposed expenditures and
the means of financing them.

 Public hearings are conducted to obtain taxpayer comments.
 Prior to December 31, the budget is legally enacted through passage of a resolution.
 Management is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts between departments within any

fund.  However, any revisions that alter the total expenditures of any fund must be
approved by the Town Board.

 All appropriations lapse at year end.

74

134



Supplementary Information 

75

135



Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Unrestricted $ 938,482 $ 22,730 $ 90,708 $ 1,051,920     

Taxes receivable - - 2,636 2,636            

Total Assets $ 938,482       $ 22,730         $ 93,344         $ 1,054,556     

Liabilities

Accounts Payable $ - $ - $ - $ -

Total Liabilities - - - -

Fund Balance

Unassigned 938,482 22,730 93,344 1,054,556     

Total Fund Balance 938,482       22,730         93,344         1,054,556     

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows

of Resources, and Fund Balance $ 938,482       $ 22,730         $ 93,344         $ 1,054,556     

Town of Paonia, Colorado
Balance Sheet

Nonmajor Governmental Funds
December 31, 2023

TotalFund

Street

Conservation 

Trust

Fund

Sidewalk

Fund

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.

76

136



Revenues

Taxes $ 97,330 $ 3,039 $ - $ 100,369        

Licenses 2,600 - 30,126 32,726          

Miscellaneous - 10 - 10

Total Revenues 99,930          3,049            30,126          133,105        

Expenditures

Current

Culture and Recreation - 2,000 - 2,000

Total Expenditures - 2,000 - 2,000

Excess Revenues Over 99,930          1,049            30,126          131,105        

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfers In 538,000 - - 538,000        

Net Change in Fund Balance 637,930        1,049            30,126          669,105        

Fund Balance, Beginning of year 300,552 21,681 63,218          385,451        

Fund Balance, End of year $ 938,482        $ 22,730          $ 93,344          $ 1,054,556     

Street

    Fund TotalFund

Trust

Fund

Sidewalk

Conservation 

Town of Paonia, Colorado
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

Nonmajor Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.

77

137



Revenues

Sidewalk revenue $ 31,068          $ 30,126          $ (942)

Total Revenues 31,068          30,126          (942)

Expenditures

Sidewalk 13,750          - 13,750

Capital Outlay 80,589          - 80,589

Total Expenditures 94,339          - 94,339

Net Change in Fund Balance (63,271)         30,126          93,397          

Fund Balance, Beginning of year 33,042          63,218          30,176          

Fund Balance, End of year $ (30,229)         $ 93,344          $ 123,573        

and Final Positive

Budget Actual (Negative)

Original Variance

Town of Paonia, Colorado
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Sidewalk Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.

78

138



Revenues

Water charges $ 1,344,074     $ 1,184,660     $ (159,414)       

Sales and service 2,000            725 (1,275)           

Water tank 8,100            15,710          7,610            

Standby tap fees 58,955          61,305          2,350            

Penalties 4,525            7,125            2,600            

Rents 1,000 - (1,000)

Grants 1,119,233     - (1,119,233)

Miscellaneous revenue - 142 142

Total Revenue 2,537,887     1,269,667     (1,268,220)    

Expenses

Salaries and wages 284,782        284,118        664

Employee benefits 96,884          76,530          20,354          

John Norris retirement 13,440          14,560          (1,120)           

Supplies 44,641          36,378          8,263            

Legal and engineering 31,000          93,389          (62,389)         

Repairs and maintenance 241,753        104,860        136,893        

Professional fees 13,000          10,431          2,569            

Telephone 4,776            2,170            2,606            

Postage 5,160            3,091            2,069            

Travel and meetings 2,500            1,216            1,284            

Insurance and bonds 28,612          29,789          (1,177)           

Utilities 30,250          27,240          3,010            

Vehicle expense 9,000            6,932            2,068            

Dues and subscriptions 20,670          18,592          2,078            

Shop expense 18,000          9,546 8,454            

Miscellaneous 29,378          33,609 (4,231)           

Fees and permits 10,635          8,312 2,323            

Drinking water revolving funds 23,345          10,222 13,123          

Capital projects 1,393,948     38,711          1,355,237     

Total Expenses 2,301,774     809,696        1,492,078     

Net Operating Income 236,113        459,971        223,858        

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

Debt Service Principal (192,500)       (153,210)       39,290          

Interest Expense 495 (53,832)         (54,327)         

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) (192,005)       (207,042)       (15,037)         

Change in Net Position,

Budgetary Basis $ 44,108          252,929        $ 208,821        

(Continued)

Town of Paonia, Colorado
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Water Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Original

and Final

Budget

Variance

Positive

Actual (Negative)

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.

79

139



Change in Net Position,

Budgetary Basis $ 44,108          $ 252,929        $ 208,821        

Reconciliation to GAAP Basis

Debt Service Principal 153,210        

Capital Outlay 38,711

Depreciation (298,677)       

Change in Net Position, GAAP Basis $ 146,173        

and Final Positive

Budget Actual (Negative)

Original Variance

Town of Paonia, Colorado
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Water Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

(Continued)

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.

80

140



Revenues

Sewer charges $ 769,660 $ 756,038 $ (13,622)         

Grant Revenue - 137,798 137,798        

Total Revenue 769,660        893,836        124,176        

Expenses

Salaries and wages 165,240 161,549 3,691            

Employee benefits 59,418 39,052 20,366          

Supplies 16,074 12,848 3,226            

Legal and engineering 1,000 35,498 (34,498)         

Repairs and maintenance 519,580 71,164 448,416        

Professional fees 5,000 18,769 (13,769)         

Telephone 1,968 1,775 193

Postage 2,700 1,670 1,030            

Travel and meetings 2,500 965 1,535            

Insurance and bonds 11,846 9,974 1,872            

Utilities 39,725 42,672 (2,947)           

Vehicle expense 10,840 6,181 4,659            

Dues and subscriptions 572 5,913 (5,341)           

Shop Expense 4,225 7,029 (2,804)           

Fees and permits 6,495 5,281 1,214            

Gauging station 4,100 4,517 (417)

Capital projects 100,000 125,738        (25,738)         

Miscellaneous 129,311 1,201 128,110        

Total Expenses 1,080,594     551,796        528,798        

Net Operating Income (310,934)       342,040        652,974        

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

Debt Service Principal 76,425          50,000          (26,425)         

Interest Expense (32,200)         (32,200)         -

Interest Income 20,760 34,746 13,986          

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 64,985          52,546          (12,439)         

Budgetary Basis $ (245,949)       394,586        $ 640,535        

Reconciliation to GAAP Basis

Debt Service Principal (50,000)         

Capital Outlay 125,738        

Depreciation (124,652)       

Change in Net Position, GAAP Basis $ 345,672        

Original Variance

Town of Paonia, Colorado
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Sewer Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

(Negative)

Positiveand Final

Budget Actual

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.

81

141



Revenues

Garbage charges $ 332,835 $ 325,403 $ (7,432)           

Total Revenue 332,835        325,403        (7,432)           

Expenses

Salaries and wages 176,250 159,949 16,301          

Employee benefits 55,517 46,565 8,952            

Supplies 2,226 2,308 (82)

Legal and engineering - 2,095 (2,095)           

Repairs and maintenance 375 731 (356)

Professional fees 4,000 2,857 1,143            

Telephone 480 284 196

Postage 1,525 1,015 510

Insurance and bonds 7,481 6,755 726

Utilities 2,727 2,631 96

Vehicle expense 21,434 14,512 6,922            

Shop Expense 1,874 2,250 (376)

Landfill fees 38,220 41,143 (2,923)           

Miscellaneous 20,726 963 19,763          

Total Expenses 332,835        284,058        48,777          

Net Income (Loss) Before

Budgetary Basis $ - 41,345 $ 41,345          

Reconciliation to GAAP Basis

Depreciation (18,207)         

Change in Net Position, GAAP Basis $ 23,138          

and Final Positive

Budget Actual (Negative)

Original Variance

Town of Paonia, Colorado
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Trash Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.

82

142



State Compliance 

83

143



Form Approved
The public report burden for this information collection is estimated to average 380 hours annually.  OMB No. 2125-0032

STATE:
COLORADO
YEAR ENDING (mm/yy):
12/23

This Information From The Records Of: Prepared By:
The Town of Paonia Stefen Wynn, Town Administrator/Treasurer

A. Local B. Local C. Receipts from D. Receipts from
ITEM Motor-Fuel Motor-Vehicle State Highway- Federal Highway

Taxes Taxes User Taxes Administration
1. Total receipts available
2. Minus amount used for collection expenses
3. Minus amount used for nonhighway purposes
4. Minus amount used for mass transit
5. Remainder used for highway purposes

ITEM AMOUNT AMOUNT
A. Receipts from local sources: A. Local highway expenditures:

1. Local highway-user taxes 1. Capital outlay (from page 2) 59,154.47$  
a. Motor Fuel  (from Item I.A.5.) -$  2. Maintenance: 38,156.72$  
b. Motor Vehicle (from Item I.B.5.) -$  3. Road and street services:
c. Total (a.+b.) -$  a. Traffic control operations 17,489.55$  

2. General fund appropriations -$  b. Snow and ice removal 12,734.57$  
3. Other local imposts (from page 2) 18,795.68$  c. Other -$  
4. Miscellaneous local receipts (from page 2) -$  d. Total  (a. through c.) 30,224.12$  
5. Transfers from toll facilities -$  4. General administration & miscellaneous 163,030.29$  
6. Proceeds of sale of bonds and notes: 5. Highway law enforcement and safety -$  

a. Bonds - Original Issues -$  6. Total  (1 through 5) 290,565.60$  
b. Bonds - Refunding Issues -$  B. Debt service on local obligations:
c. Notes -$  1. Bonds:
d. Total (a. + b. + c.) -$  a. Interest -$  

7. Total (1 through 6) 18,795.68$  b. Redemption -$  
B. Private Contributions -$  c. Total (a. + b.) -$  
C. Receipts from State government 2. Notes:

52,746.44$  a. Interest -$  
D. Receipts from Federal Government b. Redemption -$  

-$  c. Total (a. + b.) -$  
E. Total receipts (A.7 + B + C + D) 71,542.12$  3. Total  (1.c + 2.c) -$  

C. Payments to State for highways -$  
D. Payments to toll facilities -$  
E. Total expenditures (A.6 + B.3 + C + D) 290,565.60$  

Opening Debt Amount Issued Redemptions Closing Debt
A. Bonds (Total) -$  

1. Bonds (Refunding Portion) -$  
B. Notes (Total) -$  

A. Beginning Balance B. Total Receipts C. Total Disbursements D. Ending Balance E. Reconciliation
1,069,678.56$             71,542.12$  290,565.60$  850,655.08$  -$  

Notes and Comments:

FORM FHWA-536 (Rev.06/2000)           PREVIOUS EDITIONS OBSOLETE Excel (Next Page)
page 1

LOCAL HIGHWAY FINANCE REPORT

I. DISPOSITION OF HIGHWAY-USER REVENUES AVAILABLE FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT EXPENDITURE

II. RECEIPTS FOR ROAD AND STREET PURPOSES III. EXPENDITURES FOR ROAD AND STREET PURPOSES

ITEM

(from page 2)

(from page 2)

IV. LOCAL HIGHWAY DEBT STATUS
(Show all entries at par)

V. LOCAL ROAD AND STREET FUND BALANCE (RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS ONLY)

84

144



STATE:
COLORADO
YEAR ENDING (mm/yy):
12/23

AMOUNT AMOUNT
A.3.  Other local imposts: A.4.  Miscellaneous local receipts:
a. Property Taxes and Assesments -$  a. Interest on investments -$  
b. Other local imposts: b. Traffic Fines & Penalties -$  
1. Sales Taxes 18,795.68$ c. Parking Garage Fees -$  
2. Infrastructure & Impact Fees -$  d. Parking Meter Fees -$  
3. Liens -$  e. Sale of Surplus Property -$  
4. Licenses -$  f. Charges for Services -$  
5. Specific Ownership &/or Other -$  g. Other Misc. Receipts -$  
6. Total (1. through 5.) 18,795.68$ h. Other -$  

c. Total (a. + b.) 18,795.68$ i. Total (a. through h.) -$  

AMOUNT AMOUNT
C. Receipts from State Government D. Receipts from Federal Government

1. Highway-user taxes (from Item I.C.5.) 52,746.44$ 1. FHWA (from Item I.D.5.) -$  
2. State general funds 2. Other Federal agencies:
3. Other State funds: a. Forest Service -$  

a. State bond proceeds b. FEMA -$  
b. Project Match -$  c. HUD -$  
c. Motor Vehicle Registrations -$  d. Federal Transit Administration -$  
d. DOLA Grant -$  e. U.S. Corps of Engineers -$  
e. Other -$  f. Other Federal ARPA -$  
f. Total (a. through e.) -$  g. Total (a. through f.) -$  

4. Total (1. + 2. + 3.f) 52,746.44$ 3. Total (1. + 2.g) -$  

ON NATIONAL OFF NATIONAL
HIGHWAY HIGHWAY TOTAL
SYSTEM SYSTEM

(a) (b) (c)
A.1.  Capital outlay:

a. Right-Of-Way Costs -$  -$  -$  
b. Engineering Costs -$  59,154.47$ 59,154.47$
c. Construction:

(1).  New Facilities -$  -$  -$  
(2).  Capacity Improvements -$  -$  -$  
(3).  System Preservation -$  -$  -$  
(4).  System Enhancement And Operation -$  -$  -$  
(5).  Total Construction (1)+(2)+(3)+(4) -$  -$  -$  

d. Total Capital Outlay (Lines 1.a. + 1.b. + 1.c.4) -$  59,154.47$ 59,154.47$

Notes and Comments:

FORM FHWA-536
page 2

LOCAL HIGHWAY FINANCE REPORT

II. RECEIPTS FOR ROAD AND STREET PURPOSES - DETAIL

ITEM ITEM

(Carry forward to page 1) (Carry forward to page 1) 

ITEMITEM

(Carry forward to page 1) (Carry forward to page 1) 

III. EXPENDITURES FOR ROAD AND STREET PURPOSES - DETAIL

(Carry forward to page 1) 

85

145



TOWN OF PAONIA
BOARD OF TRUSTEES MEETING
STAFF REPORT

Agenda Item #4 Elsewhere Studios Donation Request through
The Learning Council

Stefen Wynn, Town Administrator/Treasurer

9.20.2024

Elsewhere Studios, a for profit corporation, installed 'The Art Wall' at the Southern
Alley on Third Street between Main and Grand Avenues. The art wall project was a
collaboration between Elsewhere Studios, The Learning Council, the North Fork Valley
Creative Coalition, and over 100 volunteers. The Learning Council has collaborated
with a small group of residents called, "Friends of the Wall" who are committed to
seeing the art wall repaired, completed and preserved through ongoing maintenance
activities. They're requesting $3,000 and have started a capital campaign to raise
monies for the proposed project. The Town of Paonia has historically given funding to
non-profit organizations that provide services for different residents throughout the
community. As staff, an immediate issue that needs to be addressed is that the
donation will go towards improving a private business' building, which will undoubtedly
increase its value. While the artwork on the wall is a service for the community, it is not
formally a dedicated public space. Staff are unaware of Town funding going towards
other murals throughout Town on private buildings, while they may have received
certain public agency funds, staff have found no evidence that they were funded by a
donation from the Town. Any decision to donate towards the project is not something
that Staff can approve without Board of Trustees' consideration.

If the Board were to approve an amount towards the artwork, it
would need to be budgeted in the 2025 Budget.

Staff have no recommendation.

Attachment A: Elsewhere Studios Donation Request through the
Learning Council
Attachment B: Elsewhere Studios, LLC
Attachment C: Save the Wall Campaign Flyer

146



147



148



149



150



151



Skip to content  |  About Secretary Griswold  |  Español 

 
For this Record...
Filing history and
documents

Trade names

Get a certificate of
good standing

File a form

Subscribe to email
notification

Unsubscribe from
email notification

Subscribe to text
notification

Unsubscribe from
text notification

 
Business Home

Business
Information

Business Search

 
FAQs, Glossary
and Information

Summary

Details

Name Elsewhere Studios

Status Good Standing Formation date 09/15/2010

ID number 20101513035 Form Limited Liability Company

Periodic report month September Jurisdiction Colorado

Principal office street address 107 3rd St, Paonia, CO 81428, United States

Principal office mailing address 107 3rd St, Paonia, CO 81428, United States

Registered Agent

Name Willow Mannan

Street address 16505 Farmers Mine Rd, Paonia, CO 81428, United States

Mailing address 16505 Farmers Mine Rd, Paonia, CO 81428, United States

Filing history and documents

Trade names

Get a certificate of good standing

Get certified copies of documents

File a form

Set up secure business filing

Subscribe to email notification

Unsubscribe from email notification

Subscribe to text notification

Unsubscribe from text notification

Back

Terms & conditions | Accessibility statement | Browser compatibility

9/20/24, 2:07 PM Colorado Secretary of State - Summary

https://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/BusinessEntityDetail.do?quitButtonDestination=BusinessEntityResults&nameTyp=ENT&masterFileId=20101513035&e… 1/1

152

https://www.coloradosos.gov/
https://www.coloradosos.gov/
https://www.coloradosos.gov/pubs/info_center/biography.html
https://www.coloradosos.gov/pubs/spanish/spanishHome.html
https://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/BusinessEntityHistory.do?quitButtonDestination=BusinessEntityDetail&pi1=1&masterFileId=20101513035&entityId2=20101513035&srchTyp=ENTITY
https://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/BusinessEntityHistory.do?quitButtonDestination=BusinessEntityDetail&pi1=1&masterFileId=20101513035&entityId2=20101513035&srchTyp=ENTITY
https://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/TradenameOwnerResults.do?quitButtonDestination=BusinessEntityDetail&masterFileId=20101513035&nameTyp=ENT
https://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/BuildCertificate.do
https://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/BuildCertificate.do
https://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/AvailableTransactions.do?quitButtonDestination=BusinessEntityDetail&nameTyp=ENT&masterFileId=20101513035&entityId2=20101513035&srchTyp=ENTITY
https://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/businessEntityDetailSubscribeNotification.do?quitButtonDestination=BusinessEntityDetail&masterFileId=20101513035&entityEmailSubject=SUBSCRIBE+TO+TOPIC+%3C20101513035%3E%3CALL%3E
https://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/businessEntityDetailSubscribeNotification.do?quitButtonDestination=BusinessEntityDetail&masterFileId=20101513035&entityEmailSubject=SUBSCRIBE+TO+TOPIC+%3C20101513035%3E%3CALL%3E
https://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/businessEntityDetailUnsubscribeNotification.do?quitButtonDestination=BusinessEntityDetail&masterFileId=20101513035&entityEmailSubject=SUBSCRIBE+TO+TOPIC+%3C20101513035%3E%3CALL%3E
https://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/businessEntityDetailUnsubscribeNotification.do?quitButtonDestination=BusinessEntityDetail&masterFileId=20101513035&entityEmailSubject=SUBSCRIBE+TO+TOPIC+%3C20101513035%3E%3CALL%3E
https://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/businessEntityDetailSubscribeTextNotification.do?quitButtonDestination=BusinessEntityDetail&masterFileId=20101513035&entityEmailSubject=SUBSCRIBE+TO+TOPIC+%3C20101513035%3E%3CALL%3E
https://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/businessEntityDetailSubscribeTextNotification.do?quitButtonDestination=BusinessEntityDetail&masterFileId=20101513035&entityEmailSubject=SUBSCRIBE+TO+TOPIC+%3C20101513035%3E%3CALL%3E
https://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/businessEntityDetailUnsubscribeTextNotification.do?quitButtonDestination=BusinessEntityDetail&masterFileId=20101513035&entityEmailSubject=SUBSCRIBE+TO+TOPIC+%3C20101513035%3E%3CALL%3E
https://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/businessEntityDetailUnsubscribeTextNotification.do?quitButtonDestination=BusinessEntityDetail&masterFileId=20101513035&entityEmailSubject=SUBSCRIBE+TO+TOPIC+%3C20101513035%3E%3CALL%3E
https://www.coloradosos.gov/pubs/business/main.html
https://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/BusinessFunctions.do
https://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/BusinessFunctions.do
https://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/BusinessEntityCriteriaExt.do?resetTransTyp=Y
https://www.coloradosos.gov/pubs/business/faq_information.html
https://www.coloradosos.gov/pubs/business/faq_information.html
https://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/BusinessEntityHistory.do?quitButtonDestination=BusinessEntityDetail&pi1=1&nameTyp=ENT&masterFileId=20101513035&entityId2=20101513035&srchTyp=ENTITY
https://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/TradenameOwnerResults.do?quitButtonDestination=BusinessEntityDetail&masterFileId=20101513035&nameTyp=ENT
https://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/BuildCertificate.do
https://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/CertificationCopiesSelect.do?quitButtonDestination=BusinessEntityResults&nameTyp=ENT&masterFileId=20101513035&entityId2=20101513035&srchTyp=ENTITY
https://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/AvailableTransactions.do?quitButtonDestination=BusinessEntityDetail&nameTyp=ENT&masterFileId=20101513035&entityId2=20101513035&srchTyp=ENTITY
https://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/accountSetup.do?masterFileId=20101513035
https://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/businessEntityDetailSubscribeNotification.do?quitButtonDestination=BusinessEntityDetail&masterFileId=20101513035&entityEmailSubject=SUBSCRIBE+TO+TOPIC+%3C20101513035%3E%3CALL%3E
https://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/businessEntityDetailUnsubscribeNotification.do?quitButtonDestination=BusinessEntityDetail&masterFileId=20101513035&entityEmailSubject=SUBSCRIBE+TO+TOPIC+%3C20101513035%3E%3CALL%3E
https://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/businessEntityDetailSubscribeTextNotification.do?quitButtonDestination=BusinessEntityDetail&masterFileId=20101513035&entityEmailSubject=SUBSCRIBE+TO+TOPIC+%3C20101513035%3E%3CALL%3E
https://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/businessEntityDetailUnsubscribeTextNotification.do?quitButtonDestination=BusinessEntityDetail&masterFileId=20101513035&entityEmailSubject=SUBSCRIBE+TO+TOPIC+%3C20101513035%3E%3CALL%3E
https://www.coloradosos.gov/pubs/info_center/terms.html
https://coloradosos.gov/pubs/info_center/accessibility.html
https://www.coloradosos.gov/pubs/info_center/compatibility.html


153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



167



168



169



170



171



172



173



174



175



176



177



178



Public Safety Committee Report on OHV’s in Town Limits 
Trustee Hunter & Trustee Czech 

 
 
The items discussed in our meeting that we as a committee would like to see included in 
the Ordinance: 
- Revise 8-5-20 (a) (2) No off-highway vehicle which has only three wheels shall be allowed 
under this Article.  Furthermore, any tracked vehicles under this Article shall have rubber 
tracks. 
- Add to 8-5-20 (a) (5) No person shall operate an off-highway vehicle on a road, roadway, 
or alley of the Town while carrying any person or riding in any position that may interfere 
with the operation or control of an off-highway vehicle or the view of the operator. 
- Add a section for Required Safety Equipment: 
   At least one lighted headlamp and tail lamp 
   Braking system 
   Muffler (96 db limit at idle) and spark arrester 
   DOT or SNELL certified helmet for minors 
   Eye protection (unless vehicle is a UTV with full windshield) 
- Add a section similar to Town of Rangely 10.14.050 (1.) and Town of Meeker 10.5.105 (a) 
Notice of accident 
- Add a section similar to Town of Rangely 10.14.051 and Town of Meeker 10.5.106 Limit of 
Liability 

 

179


	Top
	Minutes
	20240820 SpecMeetMin
	20240827 RegMeetMin
	20240910 RegMeetMin
	20240917 SpecMeetMin

	Renewals
	SEP 2024-13 Picklefest
	SEP 2024-14 Paonia Players

	Disbursements
	20240920 Disbursements

	Departmental Scorecard
	Setpember 2024 Dept. Scorecard

	Board Appointment to Vacant Trustee Seat
	Vacancy Applicaton Heck
	Staff Report for Board Appointment

	Consideration of Approval of Letter of Support for the Wilder Bunch - Ben Graves
	Memo to Town of Paonia Sept 24
	Paonia Letter of Support_24

	Audit
	FY-2023 ACFR_f

	Agenda Item #4 Elsewhere Studios Donation Request through The Learning Council
	AGENDA STAFF REPORT #4_f
	Attachment A: Elsewhere Studios Donation Request through The Learning Council
	Attachment B Elsewhere Studios LLC
	Attachment C Save the Wall Campaign Flyer

	Consideration of Approval of Water Tank Land Purchase
	Water Tank Land Purchase

	Public Safety Committee Report
	Public Safety Committee Report on OHV

	Bottom

